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Safe Harbor Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995:  This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains
forward-looking statements made pursuant to the lsafbor provisions of the Private Securities latign Reform Act of 1995 under
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as aneelndnd Section 21E of the Securities ExchangefAt®34, as amended. Forward-looking
statements include statements with respect to eliefb, plans, objectives, goals, expectationscgations, assumptions, estimates, intentions
and future performance, and involve known and umkmdsks, uncertainties and other factors, whicly lma beyond our control, and which
may cause our actual results, performance or aehients to be materially different from future résuberformance or achievements expre
or implied by such forward-looking statements. gltements other than statements of historicaldfi@cstatements that could be forward-

looking statements. You can identify these forwlmimking statements through our use of words sucimay," "will," "can," "anticipate,"
"assume," "should," "indicate," "would," "believé¢ontemplate,” "expect,” "seek," "estimate," "doog," "plan," "point to," "project,"
"predict,” "could,"” "intend," "target," "potentialind other similar words and expressions of theréut

There are a number of important factors ¢tbald cause the actual results to differ matigriabm those expressed in any forward-looking
statement made by us. These factors include, butatrlimited to:

. our ability to successfully complete research anther development, including animal, preclinicatlalinical studies, and, if
we obtain regulatory approval, commercializatiominflopepimut (also referred to as CDX-110), gletabaumab vedotin (also
referred to as CDX-011), and other drug candidatesthe growth of the markets for those drug caatdil

. our ability to raise sufficient capital to fund atlinical studies and to meet our long-term ligtyidieeds, on terms acceptable to
us, or at all. If we are unable to raise the funelsessary to meet our long-term liquidity needsmag have to delay or
discontinue the development of one or more prograiissontinue or delay on-going or anticipatedichhtrials, license out
programs earlier than expected, raise funds atfignt discount or on other unfavorable termstill, or sell all or part of our
business;

. our ability to manage multiple clinical trials farvariety of drug candidates at different stagedesklopment, including ACT I
and ReACT for rindopepimut and METRIC for glembatumab vedotin;

. the cost, timing, scope and results of ongoingtgaled efficacy trials of rindopepimut, glembaturrabmedotin, and other
preclinical and clinical testing;

. our ability to fund and complete the developmamd, if we obtain regulatory approval, to commadize rindopepimut in North
America ourselves;

. our ability to negotiate strategic partnershipsewhappropriate, for our programs, which may ineltiddopepimut outside of
North America, glembatumumab vedotin and varlilurtabo referred to as CDX-1127);

. our ability to develop technological capabilitiés;luding identification of novel and clinically iportant targets, exploiting our
existing technology platforms to develop new pradiandidates and expand our focus to broader nmaftebur existing
targeted immunotherapeutics;

. our ability to adapt our proprietary antibody-tasgktechnology, or APC Targeting Technology™, teedep new, safe and
effective therapeutics for oncology and infectidisease indications;




. the availability, cost, delivery and quality ofrittal and commercial grade materials produced lyyowaun manufacturing facility
or supplied by contract manufacturers, supplietsartners, who may be the sole source of supply;

. the availability, cost, delivery and quality ofrdlial management services provided by our clinieaéarch organization partne

. the timing, cost and uncertainty of obtainingukatory approvals for our drug candidates;

. our ability to develop and commercialize produafobe competitors that are superior to the altéraatdeveloped by such
competitors;

. our ability to protect our intellectual propertghits and our ability to avoid intellectual propéitigation, which can be costly

and divert management time and attention; and

. the factors listed under "Risk Factors" in tAimual Report on Form 10-K.

All forward-looking statements are exprgsglalified in their entirety by this cautionarytioe. You are cautioned not to place undue
reliance on any forward-looking statements, whisbak only as of the date of this report or the datbe document incorporated by reference
into this report. We have no obligation, and exslsedisclaim any obligation, to update, revise orrect any of the forwartboking statement:
whether as a result of new information, future ¢ésem otherwise. We have expressed our expectati@hiefs and projections in good faith ¢
we believe they have a reasonable basis. Howewecanwnot assure you that our expectations, bargisojections will result or be achievec
accomplished.




PART |
ltem 1. BUSINESS

Overview

Celldex Therapeutics, Inc., which we re€eas "Celldex," "we," "us," "our" or the "Compahig a biopharmaceutical company focused
on the development and commercialization of severalunotherapy technologies for the treatment otea and other difficult-to-treat
diseases. Our drug candidates are derived frornadtset of complementary technologies which hageability to utilize the human immune
system and enable the creation of therapeutic agére are using these technologies to developteddsmmunotherapeutics comprised of
antibodies, adjuvants and monotherapies and antidng conjugates that treat cancers and otheasésethat induce undesirable activity by
the body's own proteins or cells.

Our lead drug candidates include rindopepialso referred to as CDX-110) and glembatumuweatotin (also referred to as CDX-011).
Rindopepimut is a targeted immunotherapeutic ifvatpl Phase 3 study for the treatment of fronélgiioblastoma and a Phase 2 study for thi
treatment of recurrent glioblastoma. Glembatumurredotin is a targeted antibody-drug conjugate riarelomized study for the treatment of
triple negative breast cancer designed to obtairlarated approval. We also have a number of eatlge drug candidates in clinical
development, including varlilumab (also referre$oCDX-1127), a fully human therapeutic monoclardlbody for cancer indications, CDX-
301, an immune cell mobilizing agent and dendaélt growth factor and CDX-401, a targeted immunotherapeutic aimed at anfigesentin:
cells, or APC, for cancer indications. Our drugdidates address market opportunities for which alete current therapies are inadequate o
non-existent.

We are building a fully integrated, commakstage biopharmaceutical company that develoypoitant therapies for patients with unmet
medical needs. Our program assets provide us hatistrategic options to either retain full econongbts to our innovative therapies or seek
favorable economic terms through advantageous coomh@artnerships. This approach allows us to méze the overall value of our
technology and product portfolio while best ensgtine expeditious development of each individuabpct.

The following table includes the prograimattwe currently believe are significant to ouribass:

Product (generic) Indication/Field Partner Status
CLINICAL
Rindopepimu Front-line glioblastom: — Phase
Glembatumumab vedot Metastatic breast cancer and melanc — Phase 2|
Rindopepimu Recurrent glioblastom — Phase :
Varlilumab Lymphoma/leukemia and solid tumc — Phase :
CDX-301 Cancer, autoimmune disease and trans| — Phase :
CDX-1401 Multiple solid tumors — Phase :
PRECLINICAL
CDX-014 Ovarian and renal canc — Preclinical

Our future success depends upon many fdtariuding our ability, and that of any licensessl collaborators that we may have, to
successfully develop, obtain regulatory approvabitd commercialize our drug candidates. We hadenbacommercial revenues from sale
our drug candidates and we have had a history efadipg losses. It is possible that we may notlile # successfully develop, obtain
regulatory approval for or commercialize our dragdidates, and we are subject to a number of tiigltsyou should be aware of before
investing in us. These risks are described motg iinl'ltem 1A. Risk Factors."
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We are incorporated in Delaware. Our welisilocated attp://www.celldex.conOn our website, investors can obtain, free of chaag
copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, QuarterlypRrts on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8rd, @ther reports filed or furnished
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchakgeof 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonabligatale after we file such material
electronically with, or furnish it to, the Secuesi and Exchange Commission, or SEC. None of tlerm#tion posted on our website is
incorporated by reference into this Annual Report.

Clinical Development Programs
Rindopepimu

Rindopepimut is an immunotherapeutic thegets the tumor-specific molecule epidermal grdfatior receptor variant 111, or EGFRUVIII.
EGFRuvIIl is a mutated form of the epidermal grovdhtor receptor, or EGFR, that is only expressechimcer cells and not in normal tissue
can directly contribute to cancer cell growth. EGHRis expressed in approximately 30% of gliobtasta multiforme, or GBM, tumors, the
most common and aggressive form of brain cancexddfiepimut is composed of the EGFRVIII peptidedihko a carrier protein called
Keyhole Limpet Hemocyanin, or KLH, and administetedether with the adjuvant GM-CSF. The Food andgDkdministration, or FDA, and
the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, have botintgrd orphan drug designation for rindopepimuttiertreatment of EGFRVIII
expressing GBM. The FDA has also granted Fast Tdasignation.

The Phase 2a study of rindopepimut refetweats ACTIVATE was led by collaborating investiget at the Brain Center at Duke
Comprehensive Cancer Center in Durham, North Gaaind at M.D. Anderson Cancer Center in Houstera$ and enrolled 18 evaluable
GBM patients. An extension of the Phase 2a stuffyned to as ACT Il evaluated 22 additional GBMigats treated in combination with the
current standard of care, maintenance temozoloroidéMZ, at the same two institutions.

The Phase 2b study of rindopepimut refetoeals ACT 11l combined rindopepimut with standafctare, TMZ, in patients with newly
diagnosed GBM. The ACT Il study provided for a tivagkenter, non-randomized dataset for rindopepim@5 patients at over 30 sites
throughout the United States.

In November 2013, we announced the foud-fare-year survival data from the 105 patientsodlad in the three Phase 2 rindopepimut
clinical studies (ACTIVATE, ACT Il and ACT IIl) irEGFRuvllI-positive GBM. Across these three Phastudiss of rindopepimut, survival
data remains consistent and suggests a continuintyal benefit in comparison to independent contiatasets (see chart below) at the media
and at all other time points evaluated.

Phase 2 Frontline Long-term Overall Survival Assesaents

Median, Years 2-year 3-year 4-year 5-year

(95% ClI) rate rate rate rate
Phase 2 rindopepimut studies (n=1 2118, 2.) 51% 3C% 18% 14%
Matched historical control (n=17)( 1.3(0.9, 1)) 6% 6% 0% 0%

Q) Patients treated at M.D. Anderson contemporaneciasiyCTIVATE, matched for major eligibility requinents,
including EGFRvlI-positive GBM, gross total resection and no disgasgression through chemoradiation treatme

The pooled overall long-term survival réswontinue to be consistent with the ACT Ill Phastudy (18% for 4-years and 14% for 5-
years).




In December 2011, we initiated ACT 1V, aqial, randomized, double-blind, controlled Phastugly of rindopepimut in patients with
surgically resected, EGFRuvIlI-positive GBM. Patiate randomized after the completion of surgedystandard chemoradiation treatment.
The treatment regimen includes a rindopepimut prinphase post-radiation followed by an adjuvant TiphZse and a rindopepimut
maintenance therapy phase. Patients are treatiédigpfise progression or intolerance to therapye grimary objective of the study is to
determine whether rindopepimut plus adjuvant GM-@G8proves the overall survival of patients with mgwdiagnosed EGFRvIII-positive
GBM after Gross Total Resection, or GTR, when camegao treatment with TMZ and a control injectidrika.H. KLH is a component of
rindopepimut and was selected due to its abilitgyenerate a similar injection site reaction to thtzgerved with rindopepimut. ACT 1V is
enrolling patients at over 200 centers worldwidesttruit approximately 374 patients with GTR toitheluded in the primary analysis. Basec
current projections, we anticipate completion afoiment in mid-2014.

In December 2011, we also initiated ReA&Phase 2 study of rindopepimut in combination Witfastin® in patients with recurrent
EGFRuvIlI-positive GBM. ReACT was initially planned to enrajpproximately 95 patients in a first or secondpet of GBM following receij
of standard therapy at approximately 25 sites adfus United States. In August 2013, we annourfee@ddition of an expansion cohort of
approximately 75 patients to better characterieepititential activity of rindopepimut in this reftary patient population. This decision was
based on early evidence of anti-tumor activity|uding stable disease, tumor shrinkage and invastigreported response. As amended, the
ReACT study will now enroll approximately 170 patie across three groups. Approximately 70 patieshis have yet to receive Avastin will
be randomized to receive either rindopepimut andstin or a control injection of KLH and Avastinarblinded fashion. Another 100 patients,
including the expansion cohort of 75 patients, @herefractory to Avastin having received Avastireither the frontline or recurrent setting
with subsequent progression will receive rindopegipius Avastin in a single treatment arm. Studgpaints include 6 month progression free
survival rate, objective response rate, or ORRrall/survival and safety and tolerability.

In November 2013, we reported interim dedan our ongoing Phase 2 ReACT study. Rindopepiphug Avastin was very well tolerated
(dosing up to 13+ months) and the results demaestiaromising signs of clinical activity in advadageatient populations, including evidence
of anti-tumor activity (tumor shrinkage, objectirgsponse and stable disease). Strong immune respornelated with improved outcome. In
Avastin-naive patients treated with both rindopegiend Avastin, a strong survival trend has alsnlseen to date versus the control group
(see chart below).

Interim ReACT Overall Survival and Progression-free Survival in Avastin-Naive Recurrent GBM

Rindopepimut & Control & Avastin

Avastin (n=20) (n=20)
Overall survival 12.0 months 7.9 months Hazard ratio = .43
(0.13, 1.44); p=0.1
Progression-free survival 3.7 months 2.0 months Hazard ratio = .74

(0.34, 1.61); p=0.4

In Avastin-refractory patients treated wiibith rindopepimut and Avastin, a median progresfiee survival, or PFS, of 1.9 months anc
overall survival, or OS, of 5.6 months was observdw® median overall survival of 5.6 months is matethy in these heavily pre-treated,
refractory EGFRvIII-positive patients. A review thie literature assessing survival in recurrentapasi who are Avastin-experienced across
eight independent studies suggests a weighted-geasrtavival of 3.6 months (range of 2.6 to 5.8 rhehtn all-comers. It is important to note
that these eight studies do not necessarily meetttict definition of refractory applied in the R€T study and that these studies included
EGFRuvllI-negative patients who tend to perform éetProgression-free survival
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results in this refractory population may be mavesistent with the profile of an immunotherapy ddate where progressidnee survival doe
not always correlate directly with an overall sualibenefit.

Enrollment in ReACT is expected to be castgd in late 2014 with data anticipated by year-20it#.
Glembatumumab Vedotin

Glembatumumab vedotin is an antibody-droigjugate, or ADC, that consists of a fully-humannmdonal antibody, CR011, linked to a
potent cell-killing drug, monomethyl-auristatin &, MMAE. The CR011 antibody specifically targetgapprotein NMB, referred to as
gpNMB, that is over-expressed in a variety of cas@ecluding breast cancer and melanoma. The ARBnogy, comprised of MMAE and a
stable linker system for attaching it to CRO11, ieensed from Seattle Genetics, Inc. and is tineesas that used in the marketed product
Adcetris®. The ADC is designed to be stable indlomdstream. Following intravenous administratiglembatumumab vedotin targets and
binds to gpNMB and upon internalization into thegtted cell, glembatumumab vedotin is designeelEase MMAE from CRO11 to produce
a cell-killing effect. The FDA has granted Fastckaesignation to glembatumumab vedotin for thattrent of advanced, refractory/resistant
gpNMB-expressing breast cancer.

Treatment of Breast Cancer: The Phase 1/2 study of glembatumumab vedotimirdgtered intravenously once every three weeks
evaluated patients with locally advanced or metzstaeast cancer who had received prior therapsd{em of seven prior regimens). The study
began with a bridging phase to confirm the maxintalarated dose, or MTD, and then expanded intoas®R open-label, multi-center study.
The study confirmed the safety of glembatumumalotiadit the pre-defined maximum dose level (1.88kapgin 6 patients. An additional 28
patients were enrolled in an expanded Phase 2 tfibora total of 34 treated patients at 1.88 mgtkg Phase 2 dose) to evaluate the PFS rat
at 12 weeks. The 1.88 mg/kg dose was well toleramtdlais patient population with the most commonrexde events of rash, alopecia, and
fatigue. The primary activity endpoint, which callfor at least 5 of 25 (20%) patients in the Ptastudy portion to be progression-free at
12 weeks, was met as 9 of 26 (35%) evaluable gatieere progression-free at 12 weeks.

For all patients treated at the maximumedesel, tumor shrinkage was seen in 62% (16/2@)raedian PFS was 9.1 weeks. A subset of
10 patients had "triple negative disease," a mggeessive breast cancer subtype that carries arisiglf relapse and reduced survival as well
as limited therapeutic options due to lack of oeepression of HER2/neu, estrogen and progestesmaptors. In these patients, 78% (7/9) ha
some tumor shrinkage, 12-week PFS rate was 709%)(7hd median PFS was 17.9 weeks. Tumor sampulesdrsubset of patients across all
dose groups were analyzed for gpNMB expression.tiiimer samples from most patients showed evidehsta@mal and/or tumor cell
expression of gpNMB.

In December 2012, we announced final resuitm the EMERGE study, a randomized, multi-ceRtesise 2b study of glembatumumab
vedotin in 122 patients with heavily pre-treatetlyanced, gpNMB positive breast cancer. Patientg wardomized (2:1) to receive either
glembatumumab vedotin or single-agent Investigatohoice, or IC, chemotherapy. Patients randontizedceive IC were allowed to cross
over to receive glembatumumab vedotin followingedise progression. Activity endpoints included respaate, PFS and OS. The final res
as shown below, suggested that glembatumumab weiddtices significant response rates comparedrterly available therapies in patient
subsets with advanced, refractory breast canceéhsgpNMB over-expression (expression in greaten t26 of tumor cells) and in patients
with triple negative breast cancer. The OS and &fRfaitients treated with glembatumumab vedotin alss observed to be greatest in patients
with triple negative breast cancer who also ovgrress gpNMB and all patients with gpNMB over-expies.
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EMERGE: Overall Response Rate and Disease Controldba

Triple Negative

and gpNMB
gpNMB Over-Expression Over-Expression
glembatumumab glembatumumab
vedotin IC vedotin IC
(n=25) (n=8) (n=12) (n=4)
Respons: 32% 13% 33% 0%
Disease Control Ra: 64% 38% 75% 25%

Responses per RECIST 1.1; IC = Investigator's Ghaitembatumumab vedotin arm includes 15 patiehts evossed over to
receive glembatumumab vedotin treatment after @sgjpn on IC. Analysis of best response excludiésnpgawho discontinued
from study without evaluable p-baseline radiographic imaging (n=15 for glembatunalmvedotin arm; n=5 for IC arm

EMERGE: Progression Free Survival (PFS) and OveralBurvival (OS) Data

Triple Negative

gpNMB and gpNMB
Over-Expression Over-Expression
glembatumumab glembatumumab
vedotin IC vedotin IC
Median PFS (month: 27 1.t 3.C 1kt
p=0.14 p=0.008
Median OS (months 10.C 5.7 10.C 5.k
p=0.18 p=0.003

When cross over patients are removed, median @3tients with gpNMB over-expression is 10.0 mofdhglembatumumab
vedotin vs 5.2 months for IC (p=0.05) and medianii®i@iple negative patients with gpNMB over-exies is 10.0 months for
glembatumumab vedotin vs 5.2 months for IC (p=0.(

In December 2013, we initiated METRIC, ademized, controlled study of glembatumumab vedotipatients with triple negative breast
cancer that over-express gpNMB designed to obtairlarated approval. METRIC will be conducted ipraximately 100 sites, primarily
across the United States with additional sitesandtla and Australia and will enroll approximated{ datients.

Treatment of Metastatic Melanoma: The Phase 1/2 open-label, muakinter, dose escalation study evaluated the saddtyability anc
pharmacokinetics of glembatumumab vedotin in 11iepes with un-resectable Stage IIl or Stage IVanelma who had failed no more than
one prior line of cytotoxic therapy. The MTD wagdeatenined to be 1.88 mg/kg administered intravenoaste every three weeks. The study
achieved its primary activity objective with an ORRhe Phase 2 cohort of 15% (5/34). Median PFS 3v@ months. Glembatumumab ved:
was generally well tolerated, with the most frequesatment-related adverse events being rashufathair loss, pruritus, diarrhea and
neuropathy. In the subset of patients with tumopsies, high levels of tumor expression of gpNMPBegred to correlate with favorable
outcome. In the seven patients whose tumors weredfto express high amounts of gpNMB, and who wrerged at the maximum tolerated
doses across all dosing schedules, median PFS.@asofths. The development of rash, which may bedated with the presence of gpNI
in the skin also seemed to correlate with greafs.P

The Company is currently exploring condugtadditional clinical studies in indications knotenexpress gpNMB. Phase 2 studies in
melanoma and squamous cell lung cancer are expcteitiate in the second half of 2014.
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Varlilumab

Varlilumab is a human monoclonal antibolgtttargets CD27, a potentially important targetifienunotherapy of various cancers. We
have entered into license agreements with the Wsityeof Southampton, UK for intellectual propersgtated to uses of anti-CD27 antibodies
and with Medarex (now a subsidiary of the Bristoyévs Squibb Company) for access to the UltiMabrietdgy to develop and commercialize
human antibodies to CD27. In July 2013, the UnB&ates Patent and Trademark Office issued a paté¢né University of Southampton, that
we have exclusive license to under our licenseeageat, which broadly supports varlilumab. The paiteciudes 18 claims covering various
methods of treating cancer using agonistic anti4nu@D27 antibodies and relates, among other thaigestly to our CD27 antibody program
and therapeutic uses of varlilumab.

CD27 acts downstream from CD40 and mayidesa novel way to regulate the immune responsB27Gs a co-stimulatory molecule on
T cells and is over-expressed in certain lymphoamasleukemias. varlilumab is an agonist antibodsigieed to have two potential therapeutic
mechanisms. Varlilumab has been shown to activametine cells that can target and eliminate cancerellssin tumor-bearing mice and to
directly kill or inhibit the growth of CD27 exprdag lymphomas and leukemiasvitro andin vivo. Both mechanisms have been seen even &
low doses in appropriate preclinical models.

In November 2013, we announced data fronoagoing open label, dose-escalating Phase 1 stindgrlilumab in patients with selected
malignant solid tumors or hematologic cancers dtipie clinical sites in the United States. The 84 study is designed to test five escalatin
doses of varlilumab to determine a Phase 2 dosiffitrer development based on safety, tolerabifibtential activity and immunogenicity. T
results suggest a favorable safety profile witreminlence of immune related toxicities. Clear biadaagtivity and promising signs of clinical
activity were demonstrated in an advanced, refraqiatient population including a complete respdngdodgkin disease, two additional
patients with significant tumor shrinkage and eightients with stable disease or better (PFS rah8ed to 14+ months). No maximum
tolerated dose was reached to date and immune oniogitdata in patients confirmed varlilumab's metsa of action. Expansion cohorts hi
been enrolling in metastatic melanoma and renhteetinoma and are planned in hematologic indicestiwith initial data anticipated in mid-
2014. We intend to initiate new studies of varliglimin combination with various agents in 2014.

CDX-301

CDX-301 is a FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3aligl, or FIt3L, stem cell mobilizer and dendritidl ggowth factor. We licensed CDX01 from
Amgen Inc. in March 2009. CDX-301 is a potent hespatetic cytokine that stimulates the expansion d@iffédrentiation of hematopoietic
progenitor and stem cells. CDX-301 has demonstratenique capacity to increase the number of ctingd dendritic cells in both laboratory
and clinical studies. In addition, CDX-301 has shampressive results in models of cancer, infectidiseases and inflammatory/autoimmune
diseases. We believe CDX-301 may hold significguastunity for synergistic development in combibativith other proprietary molecules in
our portfolio.




In February 2013, we announced final resiuim our dose-escalating Phase 1 study of CDXH#3@D healthy subjects in collaboration
with Rockefeller University. The Phase 1 study ea&dd seven different dosing regimens of CDX-30determine the appropriate dose for
further development based on safety, tolerabidityd biological activity. The data from the studyr@veonsistent with previous clinical
experience and demonstrated that CDX-301 was wigiated and can effectively mobilize hematopoistém cell populations in healthy
volunteers. In December 2013, we announced data drpreclinical combination study of CDX-301and Mbi#® (Plerixafor injection,
formerly AMD3100) demonstrating that the combinataf these agents significantly increases hemagtipatem cell mobilization in mice.
The data demonstrate a novel potent cell mobibrategimen combining CDX-301 and Mozobil®hich may have significant potential for |
in autologous and allogeneic hematopoietic stettregisplantation. Based on the safety profile tredclinical and preclinical data to date, we
plan to initiate a pilot clinical study of CDX-3@s a single-agent and in combination with Mozabthie transplant setting in the first half of
2014.

CDX-1401

CDX-1401, developed from our APC Targefireghnology, is a fusion protein consisting of dyflluman monoclonal antibody with
specificity for the dendritic cell receptor, DECB0inked to the NY-ESO-1 tumor antigen. In humad¥;ESO-1 has been detected in 20 -
30% of all melanoma, lung, esophageal, liver, gastrostate, ovarian and bladder cancers, thugsepting a broad opportunity. This proc
is intended to selectively deliver the NY-ESGntigen to dendritic cells for generating rokimgnune responses against cancer cells expre
NY-ESO-1. We are developing CDX-1401 for the treatneémalignant melanoma and a variety of solid tusn@hich express the proprietary
cancer antigen NY-ESO-1, which we licensed fromlLthdwig Institute for Cancer Research in 2006. Bn@al studies have shown that CDX-
1401 is effective for activation of human T celbpenses against NY-ESO-1.

The Phase 1 study evaluated three diffatesés of CDX-1401 in combination with toll-likeceptor agonists poly-ICLC or Hiltonol™
and/or R848 or resiquimod. In total, the study #edo45 patients with advanced malignancies thdtgragressed after any available curative
and/or salvage therapies. 60% of patients hadwoefl NY-ESO expression in archived tumor samplétddn patients maintained stable
disease for up to 13.4 months with a median oforths. Treatment was well-tolerated and there werdose limiting toxicities. Humoral
responses were elicited in both NY-ESO-1 positive aegative patients. NY-ESO-1-specific T cell mses were absent or low at baseline,
but increased post-vaccination in 53% of evalughl&ents, including both CD4 and/or CD8 T cell @sges. Robust immune responses were
observed with CDX-1401 with resiquimod and Poly {Calone and in combination. The study has ideuwtifi@vell-tolerated and immunogenic
regimen to take forward into the future studies. &k planning a collaborative Phase 2 study of ClI281 in combination with CDX-301 in
malignant melanoma. This study will be conductedh®yCancer Immunotherapy Trials Network under@pesative research and developn
agreement, or CRADA, with the Cancer Therapy Euv@dnaProgram of the National Cancer Institute.

CDX-1135

CDX-1135 is a molecule that inhibits a pErthe human immune system called the complemgestés. The complement system is a
series of proteins that are important initiatorshaf body's acute inflammatory response againetdes infection and injury. Excessive
complement activation also plays a role in somsiptmt inflammatory conditions. CDX-1135 is a $déuform of naturally occurring
Complement Receptor 1 that has been shown to trthibiactivation of the complement cascade in ahmwalels and in human clinical trials.

Dense Deposit Disease, or DDD, is a ratedmvastating disease that is caused by uncordradigvation of the alternative pathway of
complement and leads to progressive kidney dammage i




children. There is currently no treatment for patsewith DDD and about half progress to end-stagalrdisease within ten years. Because
DDD recurs in virtually all patients who receivé&idney transplant, transplantation is often notadohe option for these patients.

In July 2013, we initiated a pilot study@DX-1135 in patients with DDD. Enroliment in the pikitidy has been extremely difficult dut
the overall rareness of patients with DDD (3B in the U.S.) further compounded by the neezhtoll patients at a very specific point in tt
disease course. The study sought to enroll patipatsicularly children, with enough kidney detestion to be able to demonstrate clinical
benefit/improvement but not so much disease butiigtthe kidneys were beyond salvaging. While weehzeen tracking a number of patients
for potential enroliment, some patients progressedjuickly and others never progressed at allddte, only one patient has been enrolled.
While this patient demonstrated initial evidencelafical improvement, the effect was not sustaingtk results from this one patient
combined with our experience using this agent é(ndbmpassionate use setting have not providedotheusive results necessary for a feasible
approval path in this disease. Due to these ctgagnwve have decided to close the study in DDDfatgs resources on our growing immuno-
oncology pipeline at this time.

Preclinical Programs
CDX-014

CDX-014 is a fully-human monoclonal ADC tltargets TIM-1, a molecule that is highly expresea renal and ovarian cancers with
minimal expression in normal tissues. The antibisdinked to MMAE using Seattle Genetics' propnigteechnology. The ADC is designed to
be stable in the bloodstream, but to release MMpA&nLinternalization into TIM-1-expressing tumorlsgetesulting in a targeted cell-killing
effect. CDX-014 has shown potent activity in preidal models of ovarian and renal cancer. We hawvglacted preclinical proof-of-concept
studies to optimize the drug candidate and planaaufacture CDX-014 at our Fall River facility i024 prior to initiating IND-enabling
toxicology studies.

Development Strategy
Immunotherapy Platforr

We believe there is untapped potentialimiunotherapy that can be captured through the cigimbination and/or sequence of therape
agents. Immunotherapy approaches have encountifiedlties when following standard drug developméehhe mechanisms of action are
complex, activity is generally not dependent orhkigt tolerated dose and patient response is higilgtble. Our understanding of the immune
system, cancer's effect on immune mediated meahanand the impact of conventional therapies ornirtileune system provides a new
rationale for combining therapies that may leadigmificant clinical responses.

Our intent is to leverage this knowledgd #re availability of good, tested products thaymat be sufficiently effective to be
commercialized as a monotherapy, but which we belisay be very effective in combination approactrs. goal is to design and develop
targeted products that maximize the efficacy of imtherapy regimens through combinations of therpagents in significant and growing
markets. We establish governmental and corportiémeds to fund development when appropriate atehthto commercialize our products
either through our own direct selling efforts a; products which we cannot develop ourselves titido commercialization, through corpoti
partners. This approach allows us to maximize tregal value of our technology and product portelivhile best ensuring the expeditious
development of each individual product.

Factors that may significantly harm our coencial success, and ultimately the market priceusfcommon stock, include but are not
limited to, announcements of technological innawadi or new commercial products by our competitdisglosure of unsuccessful results of
clinical testing or




regulatory proceedings and governmental approadigrse developments in patent or other proprietghys, public concern about the safety
of products developed by us and general econondgeraarket conditions. See "ltem 1A. Risk Factors."

Partnerships

We may enter into co-development and cororakzation partnerships for any of our programsevehappropriate, including rindopepimut
for commercialization outside of North America, glgatumumab vedotin and varlilumab. In the pasthese entered into collaborative
partnership agreements with pharmaceutical and otirepanies and organizations that provided fireranid other resources, including
capabilities in research, development, manufaaguiamd sales and marketing, to support our researddevelopment programs and may €
into more of them in the future.

Partnership agreements may terminate withenefit to us if the underlying products are fadity developed. If we fail to meet our
obligations under these agreements, they couldnatmand we might need to enter into relationshiils other collaborators and to spend
additional time, money, and other valuable resaincéhe process. We cannot predict whether odatootators will continue their
development efforts or, if they do, whether théiois will achieve success. Many of our collaboratface the same kinds of risks and
uncertainties in their business that we face. Aayler setback to a partner will, at a minimum, gdélee commercialization of any affected
products, and may ultimately prevent it. Moreowy partner could breach its agreement with ugh@raise not use best efforts to promote
our products. A partner may choose to pursue atemtechnologies or products that compete withtechnologies or products. In either c:
if a partner failed to successfully develop onewf products, we would need to find another part@err ability to do so would depend upon
our legal right to do so at the time and whethergtoduct remained commercially viable.

TopoTarget A/S (TopoTarget)

Under our agreement with TopoTarget, wddoeceive up to $6.0 million in either potentianemercial milestone payments related to
future net sales of Belinostat or 10% of any sw@nige income received by TopoTarget. We have nodiahand operational responsibility for
the clinical development of Belinostat under oureggnent with TopoTarget. In February 2010, Topo&tegtered into a co-development and
commercialization agreement for Belinostat with &pen Pharmaceuticals, Inc. In February 2010 ardsey 2014, we received $3.0 millii
and $1.0 million from TopoTarget, respectively. fithare $2.0 million in potential payments remainimgler our agreement with TopoTarget.

Research Collaboration and License Agreements

We have entered into license agreementseblgave have received licenses or options to lieeeshnology, specified patents and/or
patent applications. These license and collabaragreements generally provide for royalty paymentsal to specified percentages of proc
sales, annual license maintenance fees, continatent prosecution costs and potential future maifesspayments to third parties upon the
achievement of certain development, regulatory@etdimmercial milestones.

Medarex, Inc., a subsidiary of Bris-Myers Squibb (Medarex)

We and Medarex have entered into an asgghand license agreement, as amended, that psofadéhe assignment of certain patent
other intellectual property rights and a licenseddain Medarex technology related to the CompaAPC Targeting Technology™ and an
anti-mannose receptor product. Under the termBeofigreement, we may be required to pay royahi#ise lowsingle digits on any net prodi
sale of a Licensed Royalty-Bearing Product or Aiéinnose




Product to Medarex until the later of (i) the egpion of the last to expire applicable patent andhe tenth anniversary of the first commercial
sale of such licensed product.

We and Medarex have also entered intoeareb and commercialization agreement, as ametitidyrovides us with certain rights to
obtain exclusive commercial licenses to proprietapnoclonal antibodies raised against certain anigitilizing the Medarex UltiMADb
technology platform for generating antibodies ubgcember 2015. Under the terms of the agreemeninay be required to pay milestones of
up to $7.0 million upon obtaining first approvat fmmmercial sale in a first indication of a protlaontaining a licensed antibody and royalty
payments in the low-to-mid single digits on any metduct sales to Medarex with respect to the agreent of any products containing such
licensed antibodies until the later of (i) the eafion of the last to expire applicable patent éidhe tenth anniversary of the first commercial
sale of such licensed product. In September 20&06xercised an option under our agreement, whevelicensed from Medarex access to
UltiMab technology to develop and commercialize lannantibodies to CD27, including varlilumab.

Rockefeller University (Rockefelle

In November 2005, we and Rockefeller emténéo a license agreement for the exclusive woidéwights to human DEC-205 receptor,
with the right to sublicense the technology. Tleerise grant is exclusive except that Rockefellgr usg and permit other nonprofit
organizations to use the human DEC-205 receptanpaights for educational and research purposesmal be required to pay milestones of
up to $3.9 million upon obtaining first approvat fmommercial sale in a first indication of a protitargeting the licensed receptor and royalty
payments in the low-to-mid single digits on any pietduct sales to Rockefeller with respect to dgwelent and commercialization of the
human DEC-205 receptor.

Duke University Brain Tumor Cancer Center (Du

In September 2006, we and Duke enteredaitense agreement that gave us access andmreddaiethe clinical data generated by Duke
and its collaborators in order for us to generatecwn filing with the FDA relating to rindopepimi/e may be required to pay milestones of
up to $0.7 million upon obtaining first approvat fmommercial sale in a first indication and roygdgyments in the low-single digits on any net
product sales to Duke with respect to developmedtcmmercialization of rindopepimut.

Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research (Ludw

In October 2006, we and Ludwig entered amaagreement for the nonexclusive rights to aetancer tumor targets for use in
combination with our APC Targeting Technology. Waynbe required to pay milestones of up to $1.0iomilupon obtaining first approval for
commercial sale in a first indication and royalgyments in the low-single digits on any net prodisdés to Ludwig with respect to
development and commercialization of the technolaggnsed from Ludwig.

Alteris Therapeutics, Inc. (Alteri:

In October 2005, we completed the acquoisitif the assets of Alteris, including the EGFRwhiblecule. We may be required to pay
Alteris up to $5.0 million upon obtaining the figproval for commercial sale of a product contagriE GFRVIII, including rindopepimut.

University of Southampton, UK (Southampton)

In November 2008, we entered into a liceaggeement with Southampton to develop human afitsdowards CD27, a potentially
important target for immunotherapy of various caac#/e may be required to pay milestones of upt@imately $1.4 million upon
obtaining first approval for
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commercial sale in a first indication and royalgyments in the low-single digits on any net prodiadés to Southampton with respect to
development and commercialization of varlilumab.

Amgen Inc. (Amget

In March 2009, we entered into a licenseament with Amgen to acquire the exclusive right€ DX-301 and CD40 ligand, or CD40L.
CDX-301 and CD40L are immune modulating molecuhes increase the numbers and activity of immunis tleht control immune responses.
We may be required to pay milestones of up to $iilllon upon obtaining first approval for commercsale in a first indication and royalty
payments in the low-single digits on any net pradades to Amgen with respect to development amaheercialization of the technology
licensed from Amgen, including CDX-301.

Amgen Fremont (formerly Abgen

In connection with our acquisition of CuerGCorporation in 2009, we assumed the licenseeaggrt between CuraGen and Amgen
Fremont (successor in-interest to Abgenix) to dgwéllly-human monoclonal antibody therapeutics. In May 2@@9amendment to the licel
agreement was entered into related to CuraGenlgsixe rights to develop and commercialize glemimatmab vedotin, CD>X314 and 10 oth:
licensed antigens. Under the amendment, CuraGeAagen Fremont agreed to modify the terms of thristing cross-license of antigens
whereby our amended license is fully paid-up anélig-free.

Seattle Genetics, Inc. (Seattle Genetics)

In connection with our acquisition of CueG we assumed the license agreement between Guear@eSeattle Genetics whereby
CuraGen acquired the rights to proprietary ADC textbgy, with the right to sublicense, for use withproprietary antibodies for the potential
treatment of cancer. Under the terms of the agraeme have the responsibility of using commergiadlasonable efforts to develop,
commercialize and market such treatment. In fugthee of these responsibilities, technical assistéimen Seattle Genetics is available to us a
necessary. In February 2014, we paid $2.5 milliomilestones to Seattle Genetics as a result df8ERIC initiation. We may be required to
pay milestones of up to $5.0 million upon obtainfingt approval for commercial sale in a first iodiion and royalty payments in the mid-
single digits on any net product sales to Seatirdiics with respect to development and commezaiitin of the ADC technology, including
glembatumumab vedotin and CDX-014. The term ofalpeeement varies country to country and may be tingtilater of the expiration of the
last relevant patent or the ¥0anniversary of the first commercial sale. The agrent allows Celldex to terminate with prior writteotice,
with both parties being able to terminate the age# for an uncured material breach or insolveridh® other party.

Competition

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical imisiare intensely competitive and subject to rapid significant technological change. Many
of the products that we are attempting to devetap@mmercialize will be competing with existin@thpies. In addition, a number of
companies are pursuing the development of pharniaatuthat target the same diseases and condifiatsve are targeting. We face
competition from pharmaceutical and biotechnologmpanies both in the United States and abroadc@upetitors may utilize discovery
technologies and techniques or partner with coliafoos in order to develop products more rapidlgurcessfully than us or our collaborators
are able to do. Many of our competitors, partidyliEarge pharmaceutical companies, have substhngetater financial, technical and human
resources than we do. In addition, academic irigtitg, government agencies and other public anafariorganizations conducting research
may seek patent protection with respect to potiyttampetitive products or technologies and maalelish exclusive collaborative or
licensing relationships with our competitors.
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We face intense competition in our develeptractivities. We face competition from many comipa in the United States and abroad,
including a number of large pharmaceutical compariiams specialized in the development and prddnaif vaccines, adjuvants and vaccine
and immunotherapeutic delivery systems and majimeussities and research institutions. The compegitd which we are aware that have
initiated a Phase 3 study or have obtained maretpproval for a potentially competitive drug toddpepimut for treatment of glioblastoma
and/or glembatumumab vedotin for treatment of breascer include Arbor Pharmaceutics, Inc., Astr&ta PLC, Bayer, Celgene
Corporation, Eisai Inc., Eli Lilly and Company, Mgdne AG, Northwest Biotherapeutics, Inc., Pfizes.] and Roche. Many other companies
are developing or commercializing products in ateas we have targeted for product development.&ohthese products use therapeutic
approaches that may compete directly with our dargdidates. Most of our competitors possess suirtgmreater financial, technical and
human resources than we possess. In addition, ofasyr competitors have significantly greater eigce than we have in conducting
preclinical and nonclinical testing and human claitrials of drug candidates, scaling up manuféguoperations and obtaining regulatory
approvals of drugs and manufacturing facilitiescéingly, our competitors may succeed in obtainggulatory approval for drugs more
rapidly than we do. If we obtain regulatory appioaad launch commercial sales of our drug candgjate also will compete with respect to
manufacturing efficiency and sales and marketimgabdities, areas in which we currently have lirdiexperience.

We also face competition from pharmaceutca biotechnology companies, academic institstigovernment agencies and private
research organizations in recruiting and retaimiigdly qualified scientific personnel and consulsaand in the development and acquisition o
technologies. Moreover, technology controlled hiyctiparties that may be advantageous to our busimey be acquired or licensed by our
competitors, thereby preventing us from obtaineghhology on commercially reasonable terms, iflat\ée will also compete for the services
of third parties that may have already developeadcguired internal biotechnology capabilities odm@ommercial arrangements with other
biopharmaceutical companies to target the diseas@ghich we have focused both in the U.S. and detsf the U.S.

Our competitive position will also depergbua our ability to attract and retain qualified gmnel, obtain patent protection or otherwise
develop proprietary products or processes and seiificient capital resources for the often leggihriod between technological conception
and commercial sales. We will require substantalital resources to complete development of sonadl of our products, obtain the necess
regulatory approvals and successfully manufactandenaarket our products. In order to secure capsdurces, we anticipate having to sell
additional capital stock, which would dilute exmgtistockholders. We may also attempt to obtain$uhdbugh research grants and agreement
with commercial collaborators. However, these tygieiindings are uncertain because they are alitoeetion of the organizations and
companies that control the funds. As a result, vag nmot receive any funds from grants or collaborei Alternatively, we may borrow funds
from commercial lenders, likely at high interedes which would increase the risk of any investniems.

Manufacturing

We have limited experience in commerciahafacturing. We rely on contract manufacturing migations, or CMOSs, to manufacture
drug substance and drug product for our f#ege clinical studies of rindopepimut and glembmatmab vedotin as well as for future commel
supplies. We also rely on CMOs for filling, packagi storage and shipping of drug product. In ofdeus to establish our own commercial
manufacturing facility, we would require substahsidditional funds and would need to hire and resignificant additional personnel and
comply with the extensive current Good Manufactyfiractices, or cGMP, regulations applicable tdhsuéacility. The commercial
manufacturing facility would also need to be liceth$or the production of our drug candidates byRBé&\. For our most advanced programs,
we are working with CMOs under established manufaug
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arrangements that comply with the FDA's requirementd other regulatory standards, although theme @ssurance that the manufacturing
will be successful.

We currently use rindopepimut drug prodhet was manufactured by Pfizer and Jubilant HelliStier, in the ACT IV and ReACT
clinical studies. In 2013, we established a refeiop with SAFC, a division of the Sigma Aldrich oration, to manufacture rindopepimut
late stage development and commercial supply. IWeoreBiosyn and Ambiopharm for supplying suitafleantities of cGMP starting
materials for the manufacture of rindopepimut. \ié® aely on Sanofi to supply suitable quantitiesofmmercial quality GM-CSF which is co-
administered with rindopepimut. Any manufacturiagudres or delays by our rindopepimut contract nfiacturers or suppliers of critical
materials could cause delays in the ACT IV and RéAQidies and/or the commercial launch of rindopeypi

To date, we have utilized contract manufact organizations for the manufacture of clinital supplies of glembatumumab vedotin. In
2013, we established a relationship with Lonza,td@anufacture the CR-011 antibody and PiramaltHeale UK Ltd. to conjugate the CR-
011 antibody and stable linker with the MMAE toxile rely on SAFC for sourcing of suitable quansittd veMMAE. Any manufacturing
failures or delays by our glembatumumab vedotirtremt manufacturers or suppliers of materials caaldse delays in the METRIC study
and/or the commercial launch of glembatumumab vedot

We have established our own cGMP manufaagdacility in Fall River, Massachusetts, to pradiclinical materials for our current and
planned Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials. OluRRger manufacturing facility has up to 1000L keactor capacity and is able to manufactur
in compliance with FDA regulations, allowing usdistribute potential products to clinical sitegtie US for early clinical trials. We
manufacture clinical materials of varlilumab, CDXéll, and CDX-301 in our Fall River facility for oaurrent and planned Phase 1 and
Phase 2 clinical trials. The products are filled packaged at CMOs. Any manufacturing failuresanpliance issues at contract
manufacturers could cause delays in our Phase Plaask 2 clinical studies.

The manufacturing processes for our druglickates and immunotherapeutic delivery systentigeitnown technologies. We believe that
the products we currently have under developmembeascaled up to permit manufacture in commedgiahtities. However, there can be no
assurance that we will not encounter difficultiescaling up the manufacturing processes.

While we believe that there is currentl§fisient capacity worldwide for the production afiopotential products through contract
manufacturers, establishing long-term relationshijtk contract manufacturers and securing multgoerces for the necessary quantities of
clinical and commercial materials required can loballenge. Qualifying the initial source of clialand ultimately commercial material is a
time consuming and expensive process due to theyhiggulated nature of the pharmaceutical/biofedustry. These costs are hopefully
mitigated in the economies of scale realized in m@ntial manufacture and product sale. The keyadiffy in qualifying more than one source
for each product is the duplicated time and expémsi@ing so without the potential to mitigate the®sts if the secondary source is never
utilized.

Use of third party manufacturers limits aontrol over and ability to monitor the manufaaigrprocess. As a result, we may not be ak
detect a variety of problems that may arise and faeg additional costs in the process of interfgeiith and monitoring the progress of our
contract manufacturers. If third party manufactsifail to meet our manufacturing needs in an aed#etmanner, we would face delays and
additional costs while we develop internal manufeing capabilities or find alternative third parhanufacturers. It may not be possible to t
multiple third party manufacturers ready to supywith needed material at all or without incurrsignificant costs.
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Marketing

We have retained, and in the future intengktain, marketing rights to some of our drugdidates and immunotherapeutic delivery
systems in selected geographic areas and for gmkaitlications. We may seek marketing and distidiouagreements and/or co-promotion
agreements for the distribution of our productthiese geographic areas and for these indicatiorshélfeve that these arrangements could
enable us to generate greater financial return thight be obtained from early stage licensing avithboration agreements for these products.

We currently have limited marketing ancesataff and limited experience relating to marigeind distribution of commercial products.
We plan to continue to expand our marketing staf2014 with a focus on commercial planning efféotsrindopepimut and glembatumumab
vedotin. We plan to fund and complete the develagiraad, if we obtain regulatory approval, to comeredize rindopepimut in North America
ourselves. If we obtain regulatory approval, wd i required to recruit an experienced marketimg) sales staff, develop a supporting
distribution capability and incur significant addital expenditures. There can be no assurancevehaiill be able to establish a successful
marketing and sales force.

For some of our drug candidates, we mapshdo enter into strategic partnerships to develelh market and distribute our products.
Under the terms of future partnership agreemergsnay rely on the efforts of our collaboratorstfoe distribution, sale and marketing of our
products. There can be no assurance that our oodiedrs will develop and market our drug candidatesrporating our technologies, or, if
marketed, that such efforts will be successful. ftilere of our collaborators to successfully maneducts would harm our business. Any
delay in the marketing or distribution of our protk) whether it results from problems with intercapabilities or with a collaborative
relationship, could harm the value of an investniemnts.

Patents, Licenses and Proprietary Rights

In general, our intellectual property stmt is to protect our technology by filing patepplcations and obtaining patent rights covering
our own technology, both in the United States anfbieign countries that we consider importantuo lousiness. In addition, we have acquirec
and will seek to acquire as needed or desiredusix@ rights of others through assignment or liesloscomplement our portfolio of patent
rights. We also rely on trade secrets, unpatemesvikhow and technological expertise and innovatiiodevelop and maintain our competitive
position.

Patents

The successful development and marketimyaducts by us will depend in part on our abitdycreate and maintain intellectual property,
including patent rights. We are the owner or exgluticensee to proprietary patent positions indheas of vaccine technologies, antibody
technologies and complement inhibitor technologifhdugh we continue to pursue patent protectioroforproducts, no assurance can be
given that any pending application will issue gmtent, that any issued patent will have a scopievtil be of commercial benefit, or that we
will be able to successfully enforce our patentifpms against infringers. We routinely review owtent portfolio and adjust our strategies for
prosecution and maintenance of individual casesrdany to a number of factors including progranofties, stage of development, and paten
term.

We own or license rights under more thab @@nted patents and national and regional paggiications in the U.S. and in major
international territories covering inventions relgtto our business. The key patents and paterticafipns owned by us or licensed to us that
we consider important to our business include tilewing (the indicated and estimated patent exgages do not
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include any possible Patent Term Extensions or eupgntary Protection Certificates, if these magéeured in due course):

. We have licensed rights from Duke University unaelissued European patent, a patent applicatitheit).S. and patents and
patent applications in other major internationaliteries relating to uses of rindopepimut. If andere issued and maintained to
full term in a form which covers commercial useaiofiopepimut, the filings could potentially provigatent protection for the
relevant use in the relevant territories to 202@. &0 have patent applications in the U.S. andmiaiernational territories
relating to methods of manufacture and formulatbrindopepimut, which, if issued in a form whicbvers manufacture and/or
formulation of rindopepimut and maintained to figlfim in due course, would have estimated paterityedptes in 2030.

. Our patent portfolio for glembatumumab vedotin irds an issued patent in Europe and pending pabeiitations in the U.S.
and Japan. If and where issued and maintainedlteefm in due course, these would have estimaggdnt expiry dates in 2025.
In addition, patent rights relating to the toxirdasonjugation technology used in glembatumumab thed@ave been licensed
from Seattle Genetics. The patent rights from &e@tenetics include issued patents and pendingcapiphs in Australia,
Canada, Europe, the U.S. and Japan which inclushpasition of matter claims relating to the toxirdaronjugation technology.
If maintained to full term in due course, the m&mattle Genetics patent rights would have estimaageht expiry dates ranging
from 2023 in Europe to 2026 in the U.S.

. We have licensed rights from the University of $@aumpton under issued U.S. and European patentsrated pending patent
applications in Japan and Canada relating to ttentddogy used in varlilumab. If and where issued araintained to full term i
due course, these would have estimated patentyecaies in 2027. We have filed further patent aapions in the U.S. and
major international territories which, if issueddamaintained to full term in due course, would hastmated patent expiry da
in 2031.

. Patents for the technology used in CDX-301 haveetirexpiration dates that range from 2016 in tlagomEuropean territories
to 2020 in the US.

. We have issued U.S. patents relating to the tedigyalsed in CDX-1401 which have estimated patepirgxates in at least
2028 (not including increases of term due to Pafentn Adjustment). We have a corresponding issugdfean patent and
pending patent applications in other internatidaesgitories relating to the technology used in CD#01 which, if and where
issued and maintained to full term in due coursmyld/have estimated patent expiry dates in 2028.

. Our patent portfolio for CDX-014 includes rightsdem an issued U.S. patent and further pending papmiications in the U.S.,
Europe and Japan. If issued and maintained taefuth in due course, these filings would have egtchaatent expiry dates in at
least 2024 (not including increases of term dulatent Term Adjustment in the U.S.). In additioatemt rights relating to toxin
and conjugation technology have been licensed featitle Genetics. The patent rights from SeattleeGes include issued
patents and pending patent applications in Austr@lanada, Europe, the U.S. and Japan which incluhgosition of matter
claims relating to the toxin and conjugation tedbgg. If maintained to full term in due course, thain Seattle Genetics patent
rights would have estimated patent expiry dategiranfrom 2023 in Europe to 2026 in the U.S.

There can be no assurance that patentcafiplis owned by or licensed to us will result iarged patents or that, if granted, the resultant
patents will afford protection against competitaith similar technology. It is also possible thiaitd parties may obtain patents or other
proprietary rights that may be necessary or ugefuk. In cases where third parties are first t@im a particular
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product or technology, it is possible that thoseigs will obtain patents that will be sufficientbyoad to prevent us from using important
technology or from further developing or commetizialy important drug candidates and immunotherapeystems. If licenses from third
parties are necessary but cannot be obtained, cosiaiimation of the covered products might be dethgr prevented. Even if these licenses
can be obtained, they would probably require ysatpongoing royalties and other costs, which ctadubstantial.

Although a patent has a statutory presuwnpif validity in the United States, the issuanta patent is not conclusive as to validity or as
to the enforceable scope of the patent claims.vBkidity or enforceability of a patent after itsimnce by the Patent and Trademark Office ca
be challenged in litigation. As a business thaswssubstantial amount of intellectual property fage a heightened risk of intellectual prop:
litigation. If the outcome of the litigation is aehse to the owner of the patent, third parties thap be able to use the invention covered by th
patent without authorization or payment. There lsamo assurance that our issued patents or amytpatghsequently issued to or licensed by
us will not be successfully challenged in the fatun addition, there can be no assurance thagpatents will not be infringed or that the
coverage of our patents will not be successfullyided by competitors through design innovation.

We are aware that others, including unitiessand companies, have filed patent applicatammshave been granted patents in the Unitec
States and other countries which claim subjectenatitentially useful or necessary to the commézeition of our products. The ultimate
scope and validity of existing or future patentschthave been or may be granted to third partied the availability and cost of acquiring
rights in those patents necessary to the manufgatise or sale of our products presently canndebermined by us.

Third parties may have or may obtain validl enforceable patents or proprietary rightsdbatd block us from developing products us
our technology, including:

. certain patents and applications in the UnitedeStahd Europe owned by Sanofi-Aventis, which refagntibody-antigen
conjugates and methods of their use for elicitingnamune response against the antigen;

. certain patents and applications in the UnitedeStand foreign countries covering particular amsgend antigenic fragments
targeted by our current drug candidates, inclu@i-1401;

. certain patents and pending applications reledquhrticular receptors and other molecules omdgn cells and macrophages
that may be useful for generating monoclonal aulis®and can be employed in our APC Targeting Telcgy;

. two United States patents and related foreign peatemd applications covering methods of diagnoglimmas by detecting the
presence of the EGFRUVIII (tumor specific spliceiaat) protein;

. a United States patent relating to certain us€3MfCSF;

. a United States patent owned by Genentech, Iratjimg to the production of recombinant antibodiekost cells;

. a United States patent owned by GlaxoSmithKfiteerelated to methods of culturing cells undetaiarconditions; and

. certain patents held by third parties relatimgmtibody expression in particular types of hediisc

In addition to the patents referred tohie previous paragraphs, there may be other pgbetitations and issued patents belonging to
competitors that may require us to alter our drargdidates and immunotherapeutic delivery systemslipensing fees or cease some of our
activities. If our drug candidates conflict withtpats that have been or may be granted to compsgtito
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universities or others, the patent owners couldglegal action against us claiming damages arkirsgé enjoin manufacturing and
marketing of the patented products. If any of theséns is successful, in addition to any potéiiaaility for damages, we could be required
to obtain a license in order to continue to manuwfi@cor market the affected products. There camdbassurance that we would prevail in any
such action or that any license required undersaig third party patent would be made availablaareptable terms or at all. We believe that
there may be significant litigation in the bioteclogy industry regarding patent and other intellatproperty rights. If we become involved in
that litigation, we could consume substantial reses.

Licenses

We have entered into several significargnise agreements relating to technologies thdteang developed by us. In general, these
institutions have granted us an exclusive worldwiciense (with right to sublicense) to make, use sell products embodying the licensed
technology, subject to the reservation by the Boermof a non-exclusive right to use the techno®die non-commercial research purposes.
Generally, the term of each license is throughetkg@ration of the last of the patents issued watpect to the technologies covered by the
license. We have generally agreed to use reasoa#bl¢s to develop and commercialize licensed potsland to achieve specified milestones
and pay license fees, milestone payments and reg&lased on the net sales of the licensed produttspay a percentage of sublicense
income. If we breach our obligations, the licerisas the right to terminate the license, and, inesoases, convert the license to a panhusive
license. Generally, we control and are responsdsl¢éhe cost of defending the patent rights oftéehnologies that we license.

Proprietary Rights

We also rely on unpatented technology arsetrets and confidential information, and no r@sse can be given that others will not
independently develop substantially equivalentrimfation and techniques or otherwise gain accesart&now-how and information, or that
we can meaningfully protect our rights in such uepted technology, trade secrets and informatioa.r¥guire each of our employees,
consultants and advisors to execute a confidetytiagjreement at the commencement of an employnmerttrsulting relationship with us. The
agreements generally provide that all inventionscedved by the individual in the course of employinar in providing services to us and all
confidential information developed by, or made knaw, the individual during the term of the relatship shall be the exclusive property of us
and shall be kept confidential and not disclosettital parties except in limited specified circuarates. There can be no assurance, however
that these agreements will provide meaningful potide for our information in the event of unauthmd use or disclosure of such confidential
information.

Government Regulation

Our activities and products are signifibanégulated by a number of governmental entitiesluding the FDA in the United States and by
comparable authorities in other countries. Thestiesmregulate, among other things, the manufactigsting, safety, effectiveness, labeling,
documentation, advertising and sale of our prodWes must obtain regulatory approval for a prodnctll of these areas before we can
commercialize the product. Product developmentiwithis regulatory framework takes a number of gemard involves the expenditure of
substantial resources. Many products that initiafipear promising ultimately do not reach the miabkeause they are found to be unsafe or
ineffective when tested. Our inability to commeligiaa product would impair our ability to earndte revenues.
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FDA Approval Proces

In the United States, immunotherapeuticshfonan use are subject to FDA approval as "bickiginder the Public Health Service Act or
as "drugs" under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmeti The steps required before a new productbeatommercialized include: preclinical
studies in animals, clinical trials in humans téetimine safety and efficacy and FDA approval ofgtheduct for commercial sale.

Data obtained at any stage of testing seesptible to varying interpretations, which coutday, limit or prevent regulatory approval.
Moreover, during the regulatory process, new onged drug approval policies may cause unanticipaédalys or rejection of our product. We
may not obtain necessary regulatory approvals wikieasonable period of time, if at all, or avidédiays or other problems in testing our
products. Moreover, even if we received regulaapggroval for a product, the approval may requiretiitions on use, which could restrict the
size of the potential market for the product.

The FDA provides that human clinical triaiay begin thirty (30) days after receipt and revgd an IND application, unless the FDA
requests additional information or changes to thdysprotocol within that period. An IND must beosisored and filed for each of our
proposed products. Authorization to conduct a céihtrial in no way assures that the FDA will ultitely approve the product. Clinical trials
generally conducted in three sequential phasesAhase 1 trial, the product is given to a smatilmer of healthy volunteers to test for safety
(adverse effects). Phase 2 trials are conductedliomted group of the target patient populaticafesy, optimal dosage and efficacy are stuc
A Phase 3 trial is performed in a large patientytaipon, generally over a wide geographic areartwipe evidence for the safety and efficacy
of the product. The FDA has ongoing oversight alkthese trials and can order a temporary or peemdiscontinuation if warranted. Such
an action could materially harm us. Clinical triate critical to the success of our products beitsaibject to unforeseen and uncontrollable
delay, including delay in enrollment of patientsiyAdelay in clinical trials could delay our commiatization of a product.

A product's safety and effectiveness in dirécal trial is not necessarily indicative of isafety and effectiveness in another clinical.tria
Moreover, we may not discover all potential probdenith a product even after completing clinicahlgion it. Some of our products and
technologies have undergone only preclinical tgsts a result, we do not know whether they are safeffective for humans. Also, regulat
authorities may decide, contrary to our findingpgtta product is unsafe or not as effective inalaige as its clinical trial results indicated. s'hi
could prevent the product's widespread use, redgsikithdrawal from the market or expose us tbility.

The results of the clinical trials, nondial testing, and all supporting manufacturing datasubmitted to the FDA for approval. A
Biologics License Application (BLA) is submittedrfa biologic product; a New Drug Application (NDA)r a drug product. The interval
between IND filing and BLA/NDA filing is usually deast several years due to the length of thecdlrtrials, and the BLA/NDA review
process can take over a year. During this timd-Ih& may request further testing or additional sial may turn down the application. Even
with approval, the FDA frequently requires post-keding safety studies (known as Phase 4 trialbptperformed.

The FDA requires that the manufacturinglitgahat produces a licensed product meet spedifitandards, undergo an inspection and
obtain an establishment license prior to commeroaiketing. Subsequent discovery of previously wmkmproblems with a product or its
manufacturing process may result in restrictionshenproduct or the manufacturer, including withverbof the product from the market.
Failure to comply with the applicable regulatorgugements can result in fines, suspensions oflaggny approvals, product recalls, operating
restrictions and criminal prosecution.
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Expedited Review and Approy

The FDA has various programs, includingaliterough therapy, fast track, priority review, awatelerated approval, that are intended to
expedite or simplify the process for reviewing prot, and/or provide for approval on the basisunfagate endpoints. Generally, products
may be eligible for these programs are those faoge or life-threatening conditions, those witke thotential to address unmet medical needs,
and those that offer meaningful benefits over égstreatments, however, these programs do nottafie standards for approval. These
expedited review programs apply to the combinatibthe product and the specific indication for whitis being studied. As a condition of
approval, the FDA may require that a sponsor afoact receiving accelerated approval perform pastketing clinical trials.

Orphan Drug

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may gramphan drug designation to products intendedetatta rare disease or condition, which is
generally a disease or condition that affects fewvan 200,000 individuals in the United Statesnore than 200,000 individuals in the United
States and for which there is no reasonable exji@tténat the cost of developing and making avadéaiy the United States a product for this
type of disease or condition will be recovered freghes in the United States for that product.pgf@uct that has orphan drug designation
subsequently receives the first FDA approval ferdisease for which it has such designation, tbdymt is entitled to orphan product
exclusivity, which means that the FDA may not apprany other applications to market the same pitddu¢he same indication, except in
very limited circumstances, for seven years.

Post Approva

Once an approval is granted, the FDA mahdvaw the approval if compliance with regulatotgrglards is not maintained or if problems
occur after the product reaches the market. Afipraval, some types of changes to the approveduptpsuch as adding new indications,
manufacturing changes and additional labeling cdaimne subject to further FDA review and approkahddition, the FDA may require testing
and surveillance programs to monitor the effea@mroved products that have been commercializetitrenFDA has the power to prevent or
limit further marketing of a product based on tesults of these post-marketing programs.

Foreign Regulatior

In addition to regulations in the Unitectss, we will be subject to a variety of foreiggukations governing clinical trials, manufacture,
and commercial sales and distribution of our preglud/hether or not we obtain FDA approval for aduct, we must obtain approval of a
product by the comparable regulatory authoritiefoogign countries before we can commence clirtitalls or marketing of the product in thi
countries. The approval process varies from couotgountry and the time may be longer or shottantthat required for FDA approval.
Approval by the FDA does not ensure approval byrégilatory bodies of other countries.

Under the European Union regulatory systeenwill submit most of our marketing authorizatigpplications under the centralized
procedure. The centralized procedure is compulimrgnedicines produced by biotechnology, or aretfiertreatment of cancer, or officially
designated as 'orphan medicines', provides fogtaet of a single marketing authorization thatasd/for all European Union member states.
As in the United States, we may apply for desigmatif our products as orphan drug for the treatroéatspecific indication in the European
Union before the application for marketing authatian is made. Orphan drugs in Europe enjoy econamil marketing benefits, including a
10-year market exclusivity period for the approvsdication, but not for the same product, unlesstlaer applicant can show that its product is
safer, more effective or otherwise clinically supeto the orphan-designated product.
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Our collaborators are also subject to ithe above-described regulations in connectioih wie commercialization of products utilizing
our technology.

Other Regulatory Processes

We are subject to a variety of financiaaltbsure and securities trading regulations aséigpcompany in the U.S., including laws relat
to the oversight activities of the SEC and the la&tinns of the NASDAQ Global Market, on which olwases are traded. We are also subject t
regulation under other federal laws and regulatinder state and local laws, including laws relatmgccupational safety, laboratory practices
environmental regulations, and hazardous subsizotteol.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, we employed 12pleyees (120 full-time, 2 part-time and 7 interris),of whom have Ph.D. and/or M.D.
degrees. Of these employees, 106 were engagedlireotly support research and development aawitiVe believe that our employee
relations are good. We believe that our future sssavill depend in large part on our ability toatt and retain experienced and skilled
employees.

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should consider carefully these risttdas together with all of the information includedincorporated by reference in this Annual
Report in addition to our financial statements #relnotes to our financial statements. This sedtioludes forward-looking statements.

The following is a discussion of the rigictors that we believe are material to us at tinis.tThese risks and uncertainties are not the onl
ones facing us and there may be additional mattatsve are unaware of or that we currently considenaterial. All of these could adversely
affect our business, results of operations, fir@remndition and cash flows.

Risks Related to our Business
We currently have no product revenue and will need to raise capital to operate our business.

To date, we have generated no product tevand cannot predict when and if we will genepateluct revenue. We had an accumulated
deficit of $345.7 million as of December 31, 20Watil, and unless, we complete clinical trials dather development, and receive approval
from the FDA and other regulatory authorities, dor product candidates, we cannot sell our drugsadh not have product revenue. We
expect to spend substantial funds to continuedkearch, development and testing of our produatsaife in the preclinical and clinical testing
stages of development and to prepare to commereiplioducts in anticipation of FDA approval. Theref for the foreseeable future, we will
have to fund all of our operations and developnegpenditures from cash on hand, equity or debtfiiras, licensing fees and grants.
Additional financing will be required to meet oanl term liquidity needs. If we do not succeedadiising additional funds on acceptable terms
we might not be able to complete planned precliraoa clinical trials or obtain approval of any guzt candidates from the FDA and other
regulatory authorities. In addition, we could becél to discontinue product development, reduderego sales and marketing efforts, forego
attractive business opportunities or curtail operst Any additional sources of financing couldatwe the issuance of our equity securities,
which would have a dilutive effect on our stockrerkl No assurance can be given that additionatéing will be available to us when needed
on acceptable terms, or at all.

We cannot be certain that we will achievswustain profitability in the future. Failure totaeve profitability could diminish our ability to
sustain operations, pay dividends on our commarkstubtain additional required funds and make neglpayments on our present or future
indebtedness.
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We expect to incur future losses and we may never become profitable.

We have incurred operating losses of $&iilHon, $58.1 million and $43.4 million during 2812012 and 2011, respectively, and expect
to incur an operating loss in 2014. We believe tparating losses will continue in and beyond 26&dause we are planning to incur
significant costs associated with the clinical depment, manufacturing of commercial supply andding a commercial organization to
prepare for the potential launch of rindopepimut glembatumumab vedotin. In addition, we are plagno incur significant costs in the
clinical development of varlilumab, CDX-301 and CEX01. Our net losses have had and will continugate an adverse effect on, among
other things, our stockholders' equity, total ass@d working capital. We expect that losses Wilitiate from quarter to quarter and year to
year, and that such fluctuations may be substaitialcannot predict when we will become profitalifiat all.

Our long term success depends heavily on our ability to fund and complete the research and development activities for and to commercialize
our program assets, including our lead drug candidates, rindopepimut and glembatumumab vedotin.

We are building a commercial organizatiomiow us the strategic option to retain the éainmercial benefits of our program assets «
seek favorable economic terms through advantagemusnercial partnerships. We plan to commercializel®@ad drug candidate rindopepimut
ourselves in North America. We may enter into ceedlegoment and commercialization partnerships fgr@rour programs where appropriate,
including rindopepimut for commercialization ouwsidf North America, glembatumumab vedotin and ltarlab. We must allocate a
significant portion of our time, personnel and fin&l resources to the development of rindopepiamat glembatumumab vedotin. We initiated
ACT IV, our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial of rindepimut, in December 2011. We anticipate ACT I\¢ost over $70 million during its
duration. We initiated METRIC, a randomized, coh#ma study of glembatumumab vedotin designed taiokdaccelerated approval, in
December 2013. The study is expected to includi® 40 sites and will enroll approximately 300 pats. We anticipate METRIC to cost o
$30 million during its duration.

Our management team lacks significant égpee in completing Phase 3 clinical trials anehirig a drug through commercialization. If
we face delays, difficulties or unanticipated castsompleting the development of rindopepimut lengbatumumab vedotin, we will need
substantial additional financing. Further, evewéf complete the development of rindopepimut or glalmmumab vedotin and gain marketing
approvals from the FDA and comparable foreign ratguy authorities in a timely manner, we cannostye that rindopepimut or
glembatumumab vedotin will be commercially succalssfthe pharmaceutical market. If the resultglofical trials, the anticipated or actual
timing of marketing approvals, or the market acaapé of rindopepimut or glembatumumab vedotinpgraved, do not meet the expectations
of investors or public market analysts, the mapkite of our common stock would likely decline.

We will need additional capital to fund our operations, including the development, manufacture and potential commercialization of our drug
candidates. If we do not have or cannot raise additional capital when needed, we may be unable to develop and ultimately commercialize our
drug candidates successfully.

We expect to incur significant costs asdeeelop our drug candidates. In particular, thetinamg development and commercialization of
rindopepimut, glembatumumab vedotin and our otheg d¢andidates requires additional capital beyamdcarrent resources. As of
December 31, 2013, we had cash, cash equivaledtarketable securities of $303.0 million. We meletfurther steps to raise additional
capital to fund our long-term liquidity needs. Quaipital raising activities may include, but may hetlimited to, one or more of the following:

. licensing of drug candidates with existing owrllaborative partners;
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. possible business combinations;
. issuance of debt; or

. issuance of common stock or other securities viiaf® placements or public offerings.

While we may continue to seek capital tigfpa number of means, there can be no assurartcdtitional financing will be available on
acceptable terms, if at all, and our negotiatingjitian in capital-raising efforts may worsen asséirig resources are used. There is also no
assurance that we will be able to enter into furtodlaborative relationships. Additional equitpdincing may be dilutive to our stockholders;
debt financing, if available, may involve signifidacash payment obligations and covenants thaiagesur ability to operate as a business; ant
licensing or strategic collaborations may resultdpalties or other terms which reduce our econgmotential from products under
development. If we are unable to raise the fundessary to meet our long-term liquidity needs, veg imave to delay or discontinue the
development of one or more programs, discontinusdet@y on-going or anticipated clinical trials ditse out programs earlier than expected,
raise funds at significant discount or on otherawnfable terms, if at all, or sell all or part efrdusiness.

We may be unable to manage multiple late stage clinical trialsfor a variety of product candidates simultaneously.

As our current clinical trials progress, may need to manage multiple late stage clini¢alstsimultaneously in order to continue
developing all of our current products. Our managietinteam does not have significant experience impbeting late stage clinical trials and the
management of late stage clinical trials is momaglex and time consuming than early stage trigypidally, early stage trials involve several
hundred patients in no more than 10-30 clinica@ssit ate stage (Phase 3) trials may involve ugversl thousand patients in up to several
hundred clinical sites and may require facilitieséveral countries. Therefore, the project managénequired to supervise and control such
an extensive program is substantially larger tratyestage programs. As the need for these ressisaet known until some months before
the trials begin, it is necessary to recruit langenbers of experienced and talented individualg geickly. If the labor market does not allow
this team to be recruited quickly, the sponsoacetl with a decision to delay the program or tiaits it with inadequate management
resources. This may result in recruitment of inappate patients, inadequate monitoring of clinicakstigators and inappropriate handling of
data or data analysis. Consequently it is possitaleconclusions of efficacy or safety may not beeptable to permit filing of a BLA or NDA
for any one of the above reasons or a combinafi@eweral.

Werely on third partiesto plan, conduct and monitor our clinical tests, and their failure to perform as required would interfere with our
product devel opment.

We rely on third parties to conduct a digaint portion of our clinical development actiesi. These activities include clinical patient
recruitment and observation, clinical trial moniigy, clinical data management and analysis, saf@gitoring and project management. We
conduct project management and medical and safetytaning in-house for some of our programs ang osl third parties for the remainder of
our clinical development activities.

The significant third parties who we cuthgmely on for clinical development activities inde Novella Clinical, a Quintiles company, for
our ACT IV study and PPD Development, LLC for ouEWVRIC study. If Novella or PPD Development is uratdl perform in a quality and
timely manner, and at a feasible cost, ACT IV or MHEC will face delays. Further, if any of theserthparties fails to perform as we expect or
if their work fails to meet regulatory standardsy testing could be delayed, cancelled or rendereffiective.
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We may enter into collaboration agreements for the licensing, development and ultimate commercialization of some of our drug candidates
including, where appropriate, for our lead drug candidates. In such cases, we will depend greatly on our third-party collaboratorsto license,
develop and commercialize such drug candidates, and they may not meet our expectations.

We may enter into co-development and cororakzation partnerships for certain products, urdthg rindopepimut for commercialization
outside of North America, glembatumumab vedotin eadilumab. The process of identifying collaboratand negotiating collaboration
agreements for the licensing, development and aténsommercialization of some of our drug candislatey cause delays and increased c
We may not be able to enter into collaboration agrents on terms favorable to us. Furthermore sditi®se agreements may give substantie
responsibility over our drug candidates to theatmdrator. Some collaborators may be unable or lingifo devote sufficient resources to
develop our drug candidates as their agreementgireedhey often face business risks similar taspand this could interfere with their efforts.
Also, collaborators may choose to devote theirueses to products that compete with ours. If aatmirator does not successfully develop any
one of our products, we will need to find anotheltaborator to do so. The success of our search f@w collaborator will depend on our legal
right to do so at the time and whether the prodeictains commercially viable.

If we enter into collaboration agreemewnisdne or more of our lead drug candidates, theesscof such drug candidates will depend in
great part upon our and our collaborators' sudcegggomoting them as superior to other treatmeieradtives. We believe that our drug
candidates can be proven to offer disease preveatid treatment with notable advantages over druggms of patient compliance and
effectiveness. However, there can be no assuraiateve will be able to prove these advantagesairtiie advantages will be sufficient to
support the successful commercialization of ougdrandidates.

We may face delays, difficulties or unanticipated costs in establishing sales, distribution and manufacturing capabilities for our
commercially ready products.

We are in the process of building a commaéarganization which we believe will provide u#thwthe strategic options to either retain full
economic rights to our drug candidates or seekréble economic terms through advantageous comnheanignerships. As a result, we may
have full responsibility for commercialization dfeise products if and when they are approved fer ¥4 currently lack the marketing, sales
and distribution capabilities that we will needctnry out this strategy. To market any of our peidwirectly, we must develop a substantial
marketing and sales force with technical expedisgé a supporting distribution capability. We haittéel expertise in this area, and we may not
succeed. We may find it necessary to enter insdegiic partnerships on uncertain but potentialliauorable terms to sell, market and distrit
our products when they are approved for sale.

Some of our products are difficult to maaatéire, especially in large quantities, and we hteyet developed commercial scale
manufacturing processes for any of our productsd@/aot currently plan to develop internal manufaag capabilities to produce any of our
products at commercial scale if they are approeeddle. To the extent that we choose to marketsidbute these products ourselves, this
strategy will make us dependent on other companipsoduce our products in adequate quantitiespmpliance with regulatory requiremer
and at a competitive cost. We may not find thirdipa capable of meeting those manufacturing needs.

Our drug candidates are subject to extensive regulatory scrutiny.

All of our drug candidates are at variotagyes of development and commercialization andaotivities and drug candidates are
significantly regulated by a number of governmeetities,
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including the FDA in the United States and by corapbe authorities in other countries. These estitegulate, among other things, the
manufacture, testing, safety, effectiveness, labeliocumentation, advertising and sale of drugsdang candidates. We or our partners must
obtain regulatory approval for a drug candidatelirof these areas before we can commercializelithg candidate. Product development
within this regulatory framework takes a numbeyeérs and involves the expenditure of substarg@duirces. This process typically requires
extensive preclinical and clinical testing, whichyrtake longer or cost more than we anticipate,raag prove unsuccessful due to numerous
factors. Many drug candidates that initially appgermising ultimately do not reach the market beeahey are found to be unsafe or
ineffective when tested. Companies in the pharntamaubiotechnology and immunotherapeutic drugustdes have suffered significant
setbacks in advanced clinical trials, even afteaioling promising results in earlier trials. Oualnility to commercialize a drug candidate wc
impair our ability to earn future revenues.

If our products do not pass required tests for safety and effectiveness, we will not be able to derive commercial revenue from them.

In order to succeed, we will need to dedeenmercial revenue from the products we have udeeelopment. The FDA has not approved
our lead drug candidates, rindopepimut or glembataab vedotin, or any of our other products for $aldate. Our drug candidates are in
various stages of preclinical and clinical testiRgeclinical tests are performed at an early stdgeproduct's development and provide
information about a product's safety and effectdgsnon laboratory animals. Preclinical tests csinyi@ars. If a product passes its preclinical
tests satisfactorily, and we determine that furtterelopment is warranted, we would file an IND laggtion for the product with the FDA, and
if the FDA gives its approval we would begin Phasdinical tests. Phase 1 testing generally laste/éen 6 and 24 months. If Phase 1 test
results are satisfactory and the FDA gives its apglr we can begin Phase 2 clinical tests. Phaestidg generally lasts between 6 and
36 months. If Phase 2 test results are satisfaetodythe FDA gives its approval, we can begin PBasigotal studies. Phase 3 studies gene
last between 12 and 48 months. Once clinical tgssitompleted and a new drug application is filétdh the FDA, it may take more than a'y
to receive FDA approval.

In all cases we must show that a pharma@ydroduct is both safe and effective beforeRB&\, or drug approval agencies of other
countries where we intend to sell the product, aplprove it for sale. Our research and testingnarag must comply with drug approval
requirements both in the United States and in atbantries, since we are developing our lead prisdwith the intention to, or could later
decide to, commercialize them both in the U.S. almbad. A product may fail for safety or effectiesn at any stage of the testing process. A
major risk we face is the possibility that noneoaf products under development will come throughtésting process to final approval for s
with the result that we cannot derive any comméreigenue from them after investing significant amis of capital in multiple stages of
preclinical and clinical testing.

Product testing is critical to the success of our products but subject to delay or cancellation if we have difficulty enrolling patients.

As our portfolio of potential products mevieom preclinical testing to clinical testing, atineén through progressively larger and more
complex clinical trials, we will need to enroll arcreasing number of patients with the appropridigracteristics. At times we have
experienced difficulty enrolling patients and weynexperience more difficulty as the scale of oumichl testing program increases. The fac
that affect our ability to enroll patients are lelsguncontrollable and include principally the @dling:

. the nature of the clinical test;

. the size of the patient population;
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. patients' willingness to receive a placebo or éfsctive treatment on the control arm of a clihgtady;
. the distance between patients and clinical tes$;sénd

. the eligibility criteria for the trial.
If we cannot enroll patients as needed,cogts may increase or we may be forced to delégroinate testing for a product.
We may have delaysin completing our clinical trials and we may not complete them at all.

We have not completed the clinical triade@ssary to obtain FDA approval to market rindopespi glembatumumab vedotin or any of our
other products in development. We initiated a PlBastidy of rindopepimut in December 2011 and dystiesigned for accelerated approval
for glembatumumab vedotin in December 2013 but ameenot initiated Phase 3 studies for any of obeioproducts in development. Our
management lacks significant experience in compiefihase 3 trials and bringing a drug through coroiaéation. Our rindopepimut Phasi
trial, glembatumumab vedotin accelerated apprawalysand clinical trials for other products in diamment may be delayed or terminated as
result of many factors, including the following:

. difficulty in enrolling patients in our clinicdtials;

. patients failing to complete clinical trials dieedissatisfaction with the treatment, side eBauntother reasons;

. failure by regulators to authorize us to commenckrécal trial;

. suspension or termination by regulators of clinteglearch for many reasons, including concernstaiadient safety or failure

our contract manufacturers to comply with cGMP iegquents;

. delays or failure to obtain clinical supply for qumoducts necessary to conduct clinical trials fimontract manufacturers,
including commercial grade clinical supply for drinase 3 clinical trials;

. treatment candidates demonstrating a lack @faf§ during clinical trials;

. inability to continue to fund clinical trials ¢o find a partner to fund the clinical trials;

. competition with ongoing clinical trials and schuling conflicts with participating clinicians; @én
. delays in completing data collection and analysisfinical trials.

Any delay or failure to complete clinicabts and obtain FDA approval for our drug candédatould have a material adverse effect or
cost to develop and commercialize, and our alidityenerate revenue from, a particular drug canelida

Any delay in obtaining regulatory approval would have an adverse impact on our ability to earn future revenues.

It is possible that none of the drug caatid that we develop will obtain the regulatoryrappls necessary for us to begin
commercializing them. The time required to obtaFand other approvals is unpredictable but oftem ke years following the
commencement of clinical trials, depending uponrthiire of the drug candidate. Any analysis wequarfof data from clinical activities is
subject to confirmation and interpretation by regoity authorities, which could delay, limit or pesx regulatory approval. Any delay or failure
in obtaining required approvals could have a matadverse effect on our ability to generate reesrftrom the particular drug candidate
including, but not limited
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to, loss of patent term during the approval perfeutthermore, if we, or our partners, do not retaehmarket with our products before our
competitors offer products for the same or similses, or if we, or our partners, are not effedtivenarketing our products, our revenues from
product sales, if any, will be reduced.

We face intense competition in our develeptractivities. We face competition from many comipa in the United States and abroad,
including a number of large pharmaceutical compariiams specialized in the development and prddnatf vaccines, adjuvants and vaccine
and immunotherapeutic delivery systems and majiveusities and research institutions. The competitd which we are aware that have
initiated a Phase 3 study or have obtained maretpproval for a potentially competitive drug toddpepimut for treatment of glioblastoma
and/or glembatumumab vedotin for treatment of lreascer include Arbor Pharmaceutics, Inc., Astr&ta PLC, Bayer, Celgene
Corporation, Eisai Inc., Eli Lilly and Company, Mgdne AG, Northwest Biotherapeutics, Inc., Pfizes.] and Roche. Most of our competitors
have substantially greater resources, more extemsigerience in conducting preclinical studies eirdcal testing and obtaining regulatory
approvals for their products, greater operatingeeigmce, greater research and development and timarloapabilities and greater production
capabilities than those of ours. These companighisiicceed in obtaining regulatory approval fanpetitive products more rapidly than we
can for our products, especially if we experienog delay in obtaining required regulatory approvals

Failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements would adversely impact our operations.

Even after receiving regulatory approvail; products would be subject to extensive regwatequirements, and our failure to comply
with applicable regulatory requirements will adwdysmpact our operations. In the United States,RBA requires that the manufacturing
facility that produces a product meet specifiethdtads, undergo an inspection and obtain an esitaiint license prior to commercial
marketing. Subsequent discovery of previously umkmproblems with a product or its manufacturingge®s may result in restrictions on the
product or the manufacturer, including withdrawiihe product from the market. Failure to complyhathe applicable regulatory requireme
can result in fines, suspensions of regulatory @aygds, product recalls, operating restrictions arichinal prosecution.

We depend greatly on the intellectual capabilities and experience of our key executives and scientists and the loss of any of them could affect
our ability to develop our products.

The loss of Anthony S. Marucci, our Presidend Chief Executive Officer, or other key mensbefrour staff, including Avery W. Catlin,
our Chief Financial Officer, Dr. Thomas Davis, @hief Medical Officer, Dr. Tibor Keler, our Chietintific Officer or Dr. Ronald Pepin, ¢
Chief Business Officer, could harm us. We entenéd émployment agreements with Messrs. MaruccijiG®avis, Keler and Pepin although
an employment agreement as a practical mattermiuteguarantee retention of an employee. We alserdepn our scientific and clinical
collaborators and advisors, all of whom have oetsidmmitments that may limit their availabilityas. In addition, we believe that our future
success will depend in large part upon our abiéitattract and retain highly skilled scientific, magerial and marketing personnel, particularly
as we expand our activities in clinical trials, tegulatory approval process and sales and manwiiagt \We routinely enter into consulting
agreements with our scientific and clinical colledtors and advisors, key opinion leaders and hefdsademic departments in the ordinary
course of our business. We also enter into contahetgreements with physicians and institutions vdwouit patients into our clinical trials on
our behalf in the ordinary course of our businé&swithstanding these arrangements, we face s@amficompetition for this type of personnel
from other companies, research and academic itistig) government entities and other organizatigvs.cannot predict our success in hiring
or retaining the personnel we require for contingemivth.
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We rely on contract manufacturers over whom we have limited control. Should the cost, delivery and quality of clinical and commercial
grade materials supplied by contract manufacturersvary to our disadvantage, our business operations could suffer significant harm.

We have limited experience in commerciahafacturing. We rely on contract manufacturing migations, or CMOs, to manufacture
drug substance and drug product for our f#ege clinical studies of rindopepimut and glembmatmab vedotin as well as for future commel
supplies. We also rely on CMOs for filling, packagi storage and shipping of drug product. In ofdeus to establish our own commercial
manufacturing facility, we would require substahsidditional funds and would need to hire and resignificant additional personnel and
comply with the extensive cGMP regulations appliedab such a facility. The commercial manufacturiagility would also need to be licens
for the production of our drug candidates by theAFBor our most advanced programs, we are workiitly @MOs under established
manufacturing arrangements that comply with the BDAquirements and other regulatory standardswdh there is no assurance that the
manufacturing will be successful.

We currently use rindopepimut drug prodhet was manufactured by Pfizer and Jubilant HelliStier, in the ACT IV and ReACT
clinical studies. In 2013, we established a refeiop with SAFC, a division of the Sigma Aldrich oration, to manufacture rindopepimut
late stage development and commercial supply. IWeoreBiosyn and Ambiopharm for supplying suitafleantities of cGMP starting
materials for the manufacture of rindopepimut. Ws® aely on Sanofi to supply suitable quantitiezofmmercial quality GM-CSF which is co-
administered with rindopepimut. Any manufacturiagudres or delays by our rindopepimut contract nfiactuirers or suppliers of critical
materials could cause delays in the ACT IV and RéAQidies and/or the commercial launch of rindopeypi

To date, we have utilized contract manuwfiaicy organizations for the manufacture of clinicé! supplies of glembatumumab vedotin. In
2013, we established a relationship with Lonza,td@anufacture the CR-011 antibody and PiramaltHeale UK Ltd. to conjugate the CR-
011 antibody and stable linker with the MMAE toxie rely on SAFC for sourcing of suitable quansited veMMAE. Any manufacturing
failures or delays by our glembatumumab vedotirtreah manufacturers or suppliers of materials caaldse delays in the METRIC study
and/or the commercial launch of glembatumumab vedot

We have established our own cGMP manufarguacility in Fall River, Massachusetts, to prediclinical materials for our current and
planned Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials. OluRRger manufacturing facility has up to 1000L keactor capacity and is able to manufactur
in compliance with FDA and EMEA regulations, allagius to distribute potential products to clinisis in both the US and EU for early
clinical trials. We manufacture clinical materialsvarlilumab, CDX-1401, and CDX-301 in our FallM8r facility for our current and planned
Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials. The produetfileed and packaged at CMOs. Any manufacturimifufes or compliance issues at contract
manufacturers could cause delays in our Phase Phask 2 clinical studies.

The manufacturing processes for our druglickates and immunotherapeutic delivery systentigeitnown technologies. We believe that
the products we currently have under developmembeascaled up to permit manufacture in commedgiahtities. However, there can be no
assurance that we will not encounter difficultiescaling up the manufacturing processes.

Our leading drug candidates require speeidimanufacturing capabilities and processes. W face difficulty in securing commitments
from U.S. and foreign contract manufacturers asg¢hmanufacturers could be unwilling or unable maunodate our needs. Relying on
foreign manufacturers involves peculiar and inceelassks, including the risk relating to the ditfity foreign manufacturers may face in
complying with cGMP requirements as a result ofjlaage barriers, lack of
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familiarity with cGMP or the FDA regulatory processother causes, economic or political instabilityr affecting the home countries of our
foreign manufacturers, shipping delays, potentianges in foreign regulatory laws governing thesaf our product supplies, fluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates and the imposdiaapplication of trade restrictions.

There can be no assurances that contrautfangturers will be able to meet our timetable esglirements. Further, contract manufactt
must operate in compliance with cGMP and failurddcso could result in, among other things, theugison of product supplies. As noted
above, non-U.S. contract manufacturers may faceiapehallenges in complying with cGMP requiremeatisd although we are not currently
dependent on non-U.S. collaborators or contractufi@aturers, we may choose or be required to relgamU.S. sources in the future as we
seek to develop stable supplies of increasing diembf materials for ongoing clinical trials @frber scale. Our dependence upon third partie
for the manufacture of our products may adverstctour profit margins and our ability to develapd deliver products on a timely and
competitive basis.

Other factors could affect the demand for and sales of any products that we may commercialize in the future.

In general, other factors that could aftbetdemand for and sales and profitability of products include, but are not limited to:

. the timing of regulatory approval, if any, ofrapetitive products;

. our or any other of our partners' pricing demisi, as applicable, including a decision to inceemrsdecrease the price of a
product, and the pricing decisions of our compegito

. government and third-party payer reimbursementcaverage decisions that affect the utilization wf products and competing
products;

. negative safety or efficacy data from new clistudies conducted either in the U.S. or intéomally by any party could cause

the sales of our products to decrease or a pradim recalled;

. the degree of patent protection afforded oudpots by patents granted to or licensed by us srtddoutcome of litigation
involving our or any of our licensor's patents;

. the outcome of litigation involving patents of atlt®mpanies concerning our products or processat®deto production and
formulation of those products or uses of those pcts]

. the increasing use and development of alterthati@pies;
. the rate of market penetration by competing potst and
. the termination of, or change in, existing agaments with our partners.

Any of these factors could have a matexiblerse effect on the sales of any products thahaygecommercialize in the future.

We face therisk of product liability claims, which could exceed our insurance coverage, and produce recalls, each of which could deplete
our cash resources.

As a participant in the pharmaceuticalfdébnology and immunotherapeutic drug industriesave exposed to the risk of product liabi
claims alleging that use of our drug candidatesedwan injury or harm. These claims can ariseyapamt in the development, testing,
manufacture, marketing or sale of our drug candsland may be made directly by patients involvedimcal trials of our products, by
consumers or healthcare providers or by individuaiganizations or companies selling our produeteduct liability claims can be expensive
to defend, even if the drug or drug candidate didatctually cause the alleged injury or harm.
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Insurance covering product liability clailmscomes increasingly expensive as a drug candigayes through the development pipeline tc
commercialization. Under our license agreementsamgaequired to maintain clinical trial liabilitgsurance coverage up to $15 million.
However, there can be no assurance that such mmicverage is or will continue to be adequatgvailable to us at a cost acceptable to
at all. We may choose or find it necessary undeicoliaborative agreements to increase our ins@raogerage in the future. We may not be
able to secure greater or broader product liakiisurance coverage on acceptable terms or atmablocosts when needed. Any liability for
damages resulting from a product liability claimultbexceed the amount of our coverage, require pay a substantial monetary award from
our own cash resources and have a material adefes on our business, financial condition andiltssof operations. Moreover, a product
recall, if required, could generate substantialatieg publicity about our products and businessiahibit or prevent commercialization of
other products and drug candidates.

In addition, some of our licensing and othgreements with third parties require or miglguiee us to maintain product liability insuran
If we cannot maintain acceptable amounts of covemygcommercially reasonable terms in accordanttethe terms set forth in these
agreements, the corresponding agreements wouldbpecs to termination, which could have a matea@erse impact on our operations.

Our reliance on third parties requires us to share our trade secrets, which increases the possibility that a competitor will discover them.

Because we rely on third parties to developproducts, we must share trade secrets with.thiée seek to protect our proprietary
technology in part by entering into confidentialitgreements and, if applicable, material trangfee@ments, collaborative research agreen
consulting agreements or other similar agreemeittsaur collaborators, advisors, employees and witensts prior to beginning research or
disclosing proprietary information. These agreemdypically restrict the ability of our collaborasp advisors, employees and consultants to
publish data potentially relating to our trade séxrOur academic collaborators typically havetsdb publish data, provided that we are
notified in advance and may delay publication fepacified time in order to secure our intellecpralperty rights arising from the
collaboration. In other cases, publication rights @ontrolled exclusively by us, although in sorases we may share these rights with other
parties. We also conduct joint research and devedmp programs which may require us to share tradeets under the terms of research and
development partnership or similar agreements. iBeepr efforts to protect our trade secrets, ampgetitors may discover our trade secrets,
either through breach of these agreements, indepéni@évelopment or publication of information irdikg our trade secrets in cases where w
do not have proprietary or otherwise protectedtsigtt the time of publication. A competitor's digery of our trade secrets would impair our
competitive position.

We may not be able to successfully integrate newly-acquired technology with our existing technology or to modify our technologiesto create
new immunotherapeutic drugs

As part of our acquisition of technologgets from entities such as Amgen, we have acqaitedss to Fms-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand,
or FIt3L, which may improve the immunogenicity aframmunotherapeutic drugs. If we are able to irdegythese licensed assets with our
immunotherapy technologies, we believe these asskigive our immunotherapeutic drugs a competitadvantage. However, if we are
unable to successfully integrate licensed assetsther technologies which we have acquired or a@uire in the future, with our existing
technologies and potential products currently umdsielopment, we may be unable to realize any tefnai our acquisition of these assets
other technologies which we have acquired or mayiae in the future and may face the loss of ouegtment of financial resources and time
in the integration process.
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We believe that our immunotherapy technglpgrtfolio may offer opportunities to develop imnatherapeutic drugs that treat a variet
oncology, inflammatory and infectious diseasesthyiidating a patient's immune system against thlisease organisms. If our immunother
technology portfolio cannot be used to create éffeémmunotherapeutic drugs against a varietyiséase organisms, we may lose all or
portions of our investment in development effoaisriew drug candidates.

We license technology from other companiesto develop products, and those companies could influence research and development or restrict
our use of it.

Companies that license technologies thaswe use in our research and development progreaggequire us to achieve milestones or
devote minimum amounts of resources to developymtsdusing those technologies. They may also reaqisito make significant royalty and
milestone payments, including a percentage of ablicensing income, as well as payments to reimdbthiem for patent costs. The number
variety of our research and development programsime us to establish priorities and to allocateilable resources among competing
programs. From time to time we may choose to slowrdor cease our efforts on particular products Hoing so we fail to fully perform our
obligations under a license, the licensor can teaei the licenses or permit our competitors totis¢echnology. Moreover, we may lose our
right to market and sell any products based ori¢kased technology.

We have many competitorsin our field and they may devel op technologies that make ours obsolete.

Biotechnology, pharmaceuticals and theripgare rapidly evolving fields in which scientifand technological developments are
expected to continue at a rapid pace. We have mamypetitors in the U.S. and abroad. The competabrghich we are aware that have
initiated a Phase 3 study or have obtained maretpproval for a potentially competitive drug toddpepimut for treatment of glioblastoma
and/or glembatumumab vedotin for treatment of lreascer include Arbor Pharmaceutics, Inc., Astreta PLC, Bayer, Celgene
Corporation, Eisai Inc., Eli Lilly and Company, Mgdne AG, Northwest Biotherapeutics, Inc., Pfizes.] and Roche. Our success depends
upon our ability to develop and maintain a compatiposition in the product categories and techgiel® on which we focus. Many of our
competitors have greater capabilities, experiemckfimancial resources than we do. Competitiomtierise and is expected to increase as new
products enter the market and new technologiesmbe@vailable. Our competitors may:

. develop technologies and products that are reffeetive than ours, making ours obsolete or otimrwoncompetitive;

. obtain regulatory approval for products more rapit effectively than us; and
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. obtain patent protection or other intellectual gndyp rights that would block our ability to developmpetitive products.

We rely on patents, patent applications and other intellectual property protections to protect our technology and trade secrets; which are
expensive and may not provide sufficient protection.

Our success depends in part on our aldigbtain and maintain patent protection for ted¢bgies that we use. Biotechnology patents
involve complex legal, scientific and factual quess and are highly uncertain. To date, there isarsistent policy regarding the breadth of
claims allowed in biotechnology patents, partidylam regard to patents for technologies for humaas like those we use in our business. We
cannot predict whether the patents we seek willeisf they do issue, a competitor may challengentland limit their scope. Moreover, our
patents may not afford effective protection agadmshpetitors with similar technology. A successfinallenge to any one of our patents could
result in a third party's ability to use the teclogy covered by the patent. We also face the hak dthers will infringe, avoid or circumvent ¢
patents. Technology that we license from othessiigect to similar risks and this could harm odulitgtto use that technology. If we, or a
company that licenses technology to us, were reofitht creator of an invention that we use, owr athe underlying product or technology
will face restrictions, including elimination.

If we must defend against suits broughiragais or prosecute suits against others involintgjlectual property rights, we will incur
substantial costs. In addition to any potentidliligy for significant monetary damages, a decisigainst us may require us to obtain licens
patents or other intellectual property rights dfests on potentially unfavorable terms. If thoseriises from third parties are necessary but we
cannot acquire them, we would attempt to designraddhe relevant technology, which would cause énigievelopment costs and delays, and
may ultimately prove impracticable.

Our business requires usto use hazardous materials, which increases our exposure to dangerous and costly accidents.

Our research and development activitiesliresrthe use of hazardous chemicals, biologicabnes and radioactive compounds. Althot
we believe that our safety procedures for handling disposing of hazardous materials comply wighsttandards prescribed by applicable |
and regulations, we cannot completely eliminaterigieof accidental contamination or injury frometie materials. In the event of an accident,
an injured party will likely sue us for any resaoffidamages with potentially significant liabilifjhe ongoing cost of complying with
environmental laws and regulations is significamd enay increase in the future.

Health care reform and restrictions on reimbursement may limit our returns on potential products.

Because our strategy ultimately dependthertommercial success of our products, we assameng other things, that end users of our
products will be able to pay for them. In the Udif&tates and other countries, in most cases, tlneneoof sales of products like those we are
developing depends on the availability of reimbuorsat from third-party payors, including nationahtik care agencies, private health
insurance plans and health maintenance organizafigrird-party payors increasingly challenge theqw charged for medical products and
services. Accordingly, if we succeed in bringinggucts to market, and reimbursement is not availabis insufficient, we could be prevented
from successfully commercializing our potential gwots.

The health care industry in the United &atnd in Europe is undergoing fundamental chaagesresult of political, economic and
regulatory influences. Reforms proposed from timérhe include mandated basic health care benefitgyols on health care spending, the
establishment of governmental controls over thé ebtherapies, creation of large medical servimed products
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purchasing groups and fundamental changes to tithleare delivery system. We anticipate ongoiniene and assessment of health care
delivery systems and methods of payment in theddrfitates and other countries. We cannot predietheh any particular reform initiatives
will result or, if adopted, what their impact onwal be. However, we expect that adoption of aeform proposed will impair our ability to
market products at acceptable prices and that taier concerning future government regulation @figsumer healthcare purchasing and
insurance may result in difficulties for drug dey@inent companies, like us, in raising capital.

Changesin laws affecting the health care industry could adversely affect our business.

In the U.S., there have been numerous padp@onsidered at the federal and state levetfdom the health care industry and its cost,
it is likely that federal and state legislaturesd &ealth agencies will continue to focus on heedtie reform in the future. While additional
health care reform may increase the number of pati®ho have insurance coverage for our produatsay also include cost containment
measures that adversely affect reimbursement fopmducts. Congress has also considered legisladichange the Medicare reimbursement
system for outpatient drugs, increase the amourghaftes that manufacturers pay for coverage af dinegs by Medicaid programs and
facilitate the importation of lower-cost prescriptidrugs that are marketed outside the U.S. Soatessare also considering legislation that
would control the prices of drugs, and state Mddipgograms are increasingly requesting manufaciurepay supplemental rebates and
requiring prior authorization by the state progfamuse of any drug for which supplemental rebaresnot being paid. Managed care
organizations continue to seek price discounts imnshme cases, to impose restrictions on the egeecof particular drugs. Government efforts
to reduce Medicaid expenses may lead to increasedfumanaged care organizations by Medicaid pragirahis may result in managed care
organizations influencing prescription decisionsddarger segment of the population and a cormedipg constraint on prices and
reimbursement for our products.

We and our collaborators and partners apénaa highly regulated industry. As a result, gavnental actions may adversely affect our
business, operations or financial condition, inoigd

. new laws, regulations or judicial decisionsnew interpretations of existing laws, regulationslecisions, related to health care
availability, method of delivery and payment fomhhb care products and services;

. changes in the FDA and foreign regulatory apprpvatesses that may delay or prevent the approvatwfproducts and result
in lost market opportunity;

. changes in FDA and foreign regulations that mayiregadditional safety monitoring, labeling changestrictions on product
distribution or use, or other measures after th@duction of our products to market, which couldrease our costs of doing
business, adversely affect the future permitted o$@pproved products, or otherwise adverselycaffe market for our

products;
. new laws, regulations and judicial decisions affegpricing or marketing practices; and
. changes in the tax laws relating to our operations.

The enactment in the U.S. of health caferme, possible legislation which could ease the&yeot competing follow-on biologics in the
marketplace, new legislation or implementationxaéting statutory provisions on importation of lowenst competing drugs from other
jurisdictions, and legislation on comparative efffeaness research are examples of previously ethactg possible future changes in laws
could adversely affect our business. In additibe,Food and Drug Administration Amendments Act@d2included new authorization for the
FDA to require post-market safety monitoring, alavith an expanded clinical trials registry and idal trials results database, and
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expanded authority for the FDA to impose civil mtamg penalties on companies that fail to meet aedammitments.

If physicians, patients and third-party payors do not accept any future drugs that we may develop, we may be unable to generate significant
revenue, if any.

Even if our drug candidates as well asdnog candidates that we may develop or acquirkéarfuture obtain regulatory approval, they
may not gain market acceptance among physiciatisnggaand health care payors. Physicians may etegdb recommend these drugs for a
variety of reasons including:

. timing of market introduction of competitive dyss

. lower demonstrated clinical safety and efficaoynpared to other drugs;
. lack of cost-effectiveness;

. lack of availability of reimbursement from thigérty payors;

. convenience and ease of administration;

. prevalence and severity of adverse side effects;

. other potential advantages of alternative treatmethods; and

. ineffective marketing and distribution support.

If any drugs that we are developing faibtthieve market acceptance, we would not be algenerate sufficient revenue from product
sales to maintain or grow our business.

Risks Related to our Capital Stock
Our history of losses and uncertainty of future profitability make our common stock a highly speculative investment.

We have had no commercial revenue to date sales of our drug candidates. We had an aceatetlitieficit of $345.7 million as of
December 31, 2013. We expect to spend substaatidsfto continue the research and developmemdestiour products candidates.

In anticipation of FDA approval of thes@gucts, we will need to make substantial investsmémestablish sales, marketing, quality
control, regulatory compliance capabilities and omrcial manufacturing alliances. These investmefitsncrease if and when any of these
products receive FDA approval. We cannot predigt Qaickly our lead products will progress througle tegulatory approval process. As a
result, we may continue to lose money for sevegatsy.

We cannot be certain that we will achievsuwstain profitability in the future. Failure tohaeve profitability could diminish our ability to
sustain operations, pay dividends on our commarkstubtain additional required funds and make neglpayments on our present or future
indebtedness.

Our share price has been and could remain volatile.

The market price of our common stock hasohically experienced and may continue to expegesignificant volatility. From January
2013 through December 2013, the market price oftoarmon stock has fluctuated from a high of $3%8&¢dshare in the fourth quarter of
2013, to a low of $6.81 per share in the first tpranf 2013. Our progress in developing and comiakzing our products, the impact of
government regulations on our products and induiteypotential sale of a large volume of our comrstock by stockholders, our quarterly
operating results, changes in general conditiotiséreconomy or the financial markets and otheeligments affecting us or our

33




competitors could cause the market price of ourrnomstock to fluctuate substantially with signifitanarket losses. If our stockholders sell e
substantial number of shares of common stock, éslpeif those sales are made during a short pevitiiime, those sales could adversely af
the market price of our common stock and could imgar ability to raise capital. In addition, incent years, the stock market has experience
significant price and volume fluctuations. Thisatility has affected the market prices of secwsitesued by many companies for reasons
unrelated to their operating performance and magmsetly affect the price of our common stock. Idiidn, we could be subject to a securi
class action litigation as a result of volatilitythe price of our stock, which could result in stalntial costs and diversion of management's
attention and resources and could harm our stdck,dvusiness, prospects, results of operationgiaadcial condition.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards will be subject to limitation and, under certain circumstances, may be eliminated.

Utilization of our net operating loss amgearch and development credit carryforwards maubgect to substantial annual limitation due
to ownership change limitations that have occupediously or that could occur in the future praddoy Section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, or Section 382, as well as similatesprovisions. In general, an ownership changdefined by Section 382, results from
transactions increasing the ownership of certazmediolders or public groups in the stock of a capon by more than 50 percentage points
over a three-year period.

In October 2007, June 2009 and in Decerb@®, we experienced a change in ownership asetkby Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code. Historically, we have raised caglitalugh the issuance of capital stock on severasions which, combined with
shareholders' subsequent disposition of those shiaas resulted in three changes of control, érefby Section 382. As a result of the
ownership change in October 2007, utilization of Bederal net operating loss carryforwards is stitigean annual limitation. Any unused
annual limitation may be carried over to later yeand the amount of the limitation may, underaiartircumstances, be subject to adjustmen
if the fair value of the our net assets are deteeahito be below or in excess of the tax basis cif sissets at the time of the ownership change.
and such unrealized loss or gain is recognizechduhe fiveyear period after the ownership change. Subseaqemtrship changes, as defir
in Section 382, could further limit the amount et wperating loss carryforwards and research anelolement credits that can be utilized
annually to offset future taxable income.

We have not undertaken a study to assesthethan ownership change or multiple ownershimgba has occurred for (i) AVANT or
CuraGen prior to our acquisitions, (ii) the Compamthe state level, (iii) the Company since Octd¥ 2, or (iv) research and development
credits. If, based on such a study, we were toraiéte that there has been an ownership changeyaimaa since its formation, utilization of r
operating loss or tax credit carryforwards wouldshbject to an annual limitation under Section 382.

Refer to Note 15, "Income Taxes," in theampanying notes to the consolidated financiakstents for additional discussion on income
taxes.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
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ltem 2. PROPERTIES

As of December 31, 2013, our significamtsied properties are described below.

Approximate

Property Location Square Feet Use Lease Expiration Date
Hampton, New Jerse 33,40( Headquarters, Office and Laboratc  April 2019(1)
Needham, Massachuse 35,20( Office and Laborator April 2017(2)

Fall River, Massachusetl 23,40( Manufacturing Facility December 2017z
Branford, Connectict 6,60C Office January 2018(4

Q) Lease includes two renewal options of fivergezach.
(2) Lease includes one renewal option of five years.

3) Lease includes two renewal options of five yeachehease also includes provision for early terridamain December
2015 upon prior notice of one year.

4 Lease includes one renewal option of five yearsiskaalso includes provision for early terminatiagthv2 months notici
Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We are not currently a party to any matéeigal proceedings.
Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART Il

tem 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock currently trades on theddg Global Market (NASDAQ) under the symbol "CLDXhe following table sets forth f
the periods indicated the high and low sale prpmrsshare for our common stock, as reported by NASD

Fiscal Period High Low
Year Ended December 31, 201
First Quartel $ 566 $ 2.6t
Second Quarte 5.32 3.8¢
Third Quartel 6.62 4.4¢€
Fourth Quarte 7.2C 5.0z
Year Ended December 31, 201
First Quarte! $ 124¢ $ 6.81
Second Quarte 16.4¢ 10.7:
Third Quartel 37.9¢ 16.0(
Fourth Quarte 38.8¢ 20.8¢

As of February 19, 2014, there were appnately 412 shareholders of record of our commockston February 19, 2014 the closing
price of our common stock, as reported by NASDA@Qs\827.48 per share. We have not paid any dividenasir common stock since our
inception and do not intend to pay any dividendh&foreseeable future.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information@sDecember 31, 2013 regarding shares of our camstack that may be issued under our
existing equity compensation plans, including cd®& Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the "2008 Bland our 2004 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (the "2004 ESPP Plan").

Equity Compensation Plan Information
Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities Weighted Average future issuance under equity
to be issued upon exercise exercise price of compensation plan
of outstanding options outstanding options (excluding securities
and rights(1) and rights referenced in column (a))
Equity compensation
plans approved by
security holders(2 5,770,54(3)$ 8.17 2,267,061(4)

Q) Does not include any Restricted Stock as sheles are already reflected in our outstandingesha

(2) Consists of the 2008 Plan, 2004 ESPP Pland&eResearch's 2005 Equity Incentive Plan and Gens 2007 Stock
Plan.

3 Does not include purchase rights accruing unde2@® ESPP Plan because the purchase price (amdotigethe numbe
of shares to be purchased) will not be determingi the end of the purchase period.

(4) Includes shares available for future issuance utideP008 Plan and the 2004 ESPP F
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CELLDEX THEAPEUTICS, INC., NASDAQ MARKET INDEX—U.S. AND
PEER GROUP INDICES

The graph below compares the cumulatived gibckholder return on the common stock for theqal from December 31, 2008 through
December 31, 2013, with the cumulative return pINASDAQ Market Index—U.S. Companies, (ii)) NASDAG#&maceutical Index,
(iii) NASDAQ US Benchmark TR Index, and (iv) NASDARBharmaceutical (Subsector) Index. As a resultalfamnge in the total return data
made available to us through our vendor provider performance graphs going forward will be usioghparable indices provided by
NASDAQ OMX Global Indexes. Specifically, we will @ashe NASDAQ US Benchmark TR Index going forwarstéad of the NASDAC(
Stock Market (U.S.) Index and the NASDAQ Pharmaical{Subsector) Index instead of the NASDAQ Phamadical Stock Index. The
comparison assumes investment of $100 on Decendb@088 in our common stock and in each of thecesland, in each case, assumes
reinvestment of all dividends. The points on thapgrare as of December 31 of the year indicated.

Dollars
2350
£300 >
2250 =
$200 -
I E— ;
$150 e — ——— /
550 = + —_———
& 1 1 f + i
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
== Cilldex Tharapeubics, Inc.
—l— Nasdagq Siock Markit (U.5.) Indéx
—ir— Nasdagq Pharmaceutical Stock [ndix
Nasdag US Benchmark TR Indox
—iS— Masdag Pharmacoutical (Subsoechor) Indas
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
Celldex Therapeutics, Inc $10C $ 59 $ 52 $§ 33 $ 85 $ 30¢
NASDAQ Stock Market (U.S.) Inde $ 10C $ 144 $ 17C $ 171 $ 20z $ 282
NASDAQ Pharmaceutical Stock Ind $ 10C $ 11z $ 122 $ 13C $ 17 $ 28¢
NASDAQ US Benchmark TR Inde $ 10C $ 12¢ $ 152 $ 152 $ 177 $ 237

NASDAQ Pharmaceutical (Subsector) Inc ~ $ 10C $ 11¢ $ 12z $ 142 $ 164 $ 227
ltem 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated finahciata are derived from our financial statemehit& consolidated statement of operations dat
for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 antl 20d the consolidated balance sheet data as eifler 31, 2013 and 2012 have been
derived from our audited consolidated financiatestzents included elsewhere in this Annual Repoff@m 10-K. This data should be read in
conjunction with our audited consolidated finanai@tements and related notes which are includeniviblere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, and "Management's Discussion and AnglgsFinancial Condition and Results of Operatidnsfuded in Item 7 below.
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On October 1, 2009, our acquisition of Ga became effective. The CuraGen acquisition weswated for using the acquisition
method of accounting and was treated as our atiguigif CuraGen. Accordingly, the financial infortitan presented below for periods priot
October 1, 2009 reflects the financial position #meresults of operations of us alone, and foioperfrom October 1, 2009 forward the
combined financial position and combined resultepdrations of us and CuraGen.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
REVENUE:
Product Development and Licensin

Agreements $ 16C $ 14€ $ 11C $ 40,187 $ 5,66
Contracts and Gran 1,617 281 36 22( 1,80z
Product Royaltie 2,33¢ 10,77¢ 9,11¢ 6,38¢ 7,71¢€

Total Revenur 4,111 11,20: 9,26¢ 46,79: 15,18(
OPERATING EXPENSE
Research and Developme 67,40: 47,39¢ 32,43¢ 27,65( 26,16¢
Royalty 2,33¢ 10,77¢ 9,11¢ 12,07" 8,391
Other Operating Expen: 15,81¢ 11,10¢ 11,10¢ 13,52 17,46¢

Total Operating Expens 85,55! 69,27¢ 52,66« 53,24 52,03(
Operating Los: (81,447 (58,077 (43,399 (6,455  (36,85()
Investment and Other Income, M 81¢ 53C 39¢€ 5,25¢ 24¢
Interest Expens (927) (1,576 (1,79¢€) (1,337) (452)

Net Loss Before Income Tax (81,55() (59,129 (44,799 (2,539 (37,059

Income Tax Benefi — — — 52¢

Net Loss $ (81,550 $ (59,127 $ (44,799 $ (2,539 $ (36,52
Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per

Common Shar $ (102)$ (102 $ (115 $ (0.0 $ (1.89)
Shares Used in Calculating Basic a

Diluted Net Loss Per Common

Share 79,77, 57,71 39,50: 31,86¢ 19,82:

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA
(In thousands)

December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Working Capital $ 28483 $ 67,42¢ $ 40,38 $ 42,73¢ $ 69,56¢
Total Asset: 347,09! 125,54: 97,99 109,94: 140,36
Long Term Liabilities 6,95( 12,08: 14,97 14,48( 52,19(
Accumulated Defici (345,679 (264,129 (205,00 (160,20) (157,679
Total Stockholders' Equit 319,79 95,77 68,72: 75,25¢ 73,767
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
OVERVIEW

We are a biopharmaceutical company foceseithe development and commercialization of severaiunotherapy technologies for the
treatment of cancer and other difficult-to-treatadises. Our drug candidates are derived from @ lseiaof complementary technologies which
have the ability to utilize the human immune systerd enable the creation of therapeutic agentsaM/@sing these technologies to develop
targeted immunotherapeutics comprised of antibodigjsivants and monotherapies and antibody-drugigates that prevent or treat cancer
and other diseases that modify undesirable actbitthe body's own proteins or cells.

Our lead drug candidates include rindopepifalso referred to as CDX-110) and glembatumuweaiotin (also referred to as CDX-011).
Rindopepimut is a targeted immunotherapeutic ifvatpl Phase 3 study for the treatment of fronélgiioblastoma and a Phase 2 study for thi
treatment of recurrent glioblastoma. Glembatumurredotin is a targeted antibody-drug conjugate riarmlomized study for the treatment of
triple negative breast cancer designed to obtaielaated approval . We also have a number ofeeatiage drug candidates in clinical
development, including varlilumab (also referrecagoCDX-1127), a fully human therapeutic monoclaralbody for cancer indications, CDX-
301, an immune cell mobilizing agent and denda&lt growth factor and CDX-401, a targeted immunotherapeutic aimed at anfigesentin:
cells, or APC, for cancer indications. Our drugdidates address market opportunities for which aleete current therapies are inadequate o
non-existent.

We are building a fully integrated, commakstage biopharmaceutical company that develogoitant therapies for patients with unmet
medical needs. Our program assets provide us hatistrategic options to either retain full econongbts to our innovative therapies or seek
favorable economic terms through advantageous caomh@artnerships. This approach allows us to méze the overall value of our
technology and product portfolio while best ensgtine expeditious development of each individuabpct.

The following table includes the prograimattwe currently believe are significant to ouribass:

Product (generic) Indication/Field Partner Status
CLINICAL
Rindopepimu Frontline glioblastome —  Phase:
Glembatumumab vedot Metastatic breast cancer and melant — Phase 2|
Rindopepimu Recurrent glioblastom —  Phase:
Varlilumab Lymphoma/leukemia and solid tumc —  Phase:
CDX-301 Cancer, autoimmune disease and trans| —  Phase:
CDX-1401 Multiple solid tumors —  Phase:
PRECLINICAL
CDX-014 Ovarian and renal canc —  Preclinical

The expenditures that will be necessamgxecute our business plan are subject to numermestainties. Completion of clinical trials
take several years or more, and the length of tjereerally varies substantially according to thesfygpmplexity, novelty and intended use of a
product candidate. It is not unusual for the chihidevelopment of these types of product candidatesch take five years or more, and for
development costs to exceed $100 million for eacklyct
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candidate. Our estimates that clinical trials &f type we generally conduct are typically completedr the following timelines:

Estimated

Completion
Clinical Phase Period
Phase : 1-2 Years
Phase : 1-5 Years
Phase ! 1-5 Years

The duration and the cost of clinical sialay vary significantly over the life of a project a result of differences arising during the
clinical trial protocol, including, among otherketfollowing:

. the number of patients that ultimately participatéhe trial;

. the duration of patient follow-up that seems apgete in view of results;
. the number of clinical sites included in the trjals

. the length of time required to enroll suitable eatisubjects; and

. the efficacy and safety profile of the produahdidate.

We test potential product candidates in ewgus preclinical studies for safety, toxicologylammunogenicity. We may then conduct
multiple clinical trials for each product candidafes we obtain results from trials, we may electliscontinue or delay clinical trials for certain
product candidates in order to focus our resouscasiore promising product candidates.

An element of our business strategy isuspe the research and development of a broadportif product candidates. This is intended
to allow us to diversify the risks associated vathr research and development expenditures. Asuét,re& believe our future capital
requirements and our future financial success arsubstantially dependent on any one product caeli To the extent we are unable to
maintain a broad range of product candidates, epeddence on the success of one or a few produdidedes increases.

Regulatory approval is required before we market our product candidates as therapeutdupts. In order to proceed to subsequent
clinical trial stages and to ultimately achieveutadory approval, the regulatory agency must catelinat our clinical data is safe and effect
Historically, the results from preclinical testingd early clinical trials (through Phase 2) hawermmhot been predictive of results obtained in
later clinical trials. A number of new drugs andlbgics have shown promising results in early chhirials, but subsequently failed to
establish sufficient safety and efficacy data taobnecessary regulatory approvals.

Furthermore, our business strategy inclilde®ption of entering into collaborative arrangens with third parties to complete the
development and commercialization of our productidates. In the event that third parties take dverclinical trial process for one of our
product candidates, the estimated completion datddrargely be under control of that third paryhrer than us. We cannot forecast with any
degree of certainty which proprietary productgnf, will be subject to future collaborative arrantgents, in whole or in part, and how such
arrangements would affect our development plarapital requirements. Our programs may also befrefit subsidies, grants, contracts or
government or agency-sponsored studies that cedlace our development costs.

As a result of the uncertainties discussgalve, among others, it is difficult to accuratetgimate the duration and completion costs of ou
research and development projects or when, if @ret to what extent we will receive cash inflonanfirthe commercialization and sale of a
product. Our inability to complete our research dadelopment projects in a timely manner or odufaito enter into collaborative
agreements, when appropriate, could significamityease our capital requirements and
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could adversely impact our liquidity. These undettas could force us to seek additional, extesuairces of financing from time to time in
order to continue with our business strategy. @ability to raise additional capital, or to do soterms reasonably acceptable to us, would
jeopardize the future success of our busir

During the past five years through Decen8igr2013, we incurred an aggregate of $201.1anilin research and development expenses
The following table indicates the amount incurreddach of our significant research programs anotleer identified research and
development activities during the years ended Déeer@1, 2013, 2012 and 2011. The amounts disclioséx following table reflect direct
research and development costs, license fees atmbeiith the underlying technology and an allarabf indirect research and development
costs to each program.

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
(In thousands)

Rindopepimu $ 38,14¢ $ 25,00¢ $ 8,36¢
Glembatumumab
vedotin 11,28¢ 6,32¢ 4,915
Varlilumab 9,37¢ 4,02( 5,96¢
CDX-301 53z 1,48 1,11z
CDX-1401 61z 1,03z 2,464
CDX-014 937 1,071 481
CDX-1135 1,40¢ 7,10¢ 5,52¢
Other Program 5,10¢ 1,35¢ 3,61(
Total R&D Expenst $ 67,40. $ 47,39¢ $ 32,43¢

Clinical Development Programs
Rindopepimu

Rindopepimut is an immunotherapeutic thegéts the tumor-specific molecule epidermal grdfattior receptor variant I, or EGFRUVIII.
EGFRuVIII is a mutated form of the epidermal grovabtor receptor, or EGFR, that is only expressechimcer cells and not in normal tissue
can directly contribute to cancer cell growth. EGHRs expressed in approximately 30% of gliobtasta multiforme, or GBM, tumors, the
most common and aggressive form of brain cancerddiepimut is composed of the EGFRVIII peptidedihko a carrier protein called
Keyhole Limpet Hemocyanin, or KLH, and administetedether with the adjuvant GM-CSF. The Food andgDkdministration, or FDA, and
the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, have bo#ntegd orphan drug designation for rindopepimuttiertreatment of EGFRVIII
expressing GBM. The FDA has also granted Fast Tdaskgnation.

The Phase 2a study of rindopepimut refetweas ACTIVATE was led by collaborating investiga at the Brain Center at Duke
Comprehensive Cancer Center in Durham, North Gaaind at M.D. Anderson Cancer Center in Houstera$ and enrolled 18 evaluable
GBM patients. An extension of the Phase 2a stuffyned to as ACT Il evaluated 22 additional GBMigats treated in combination with the
current standard of care, maintenance temozoloridéMZ, at the same two institutions.

The Phase 2b study of rindopepimut refetoeas ACT 11l combined rindopepimut with standafctare, TMZ, in patients with newly
diagnosed GBM. The ACT Il study provided for a tivgkenter, non-randomized dataset for rindopepim@5 patients at over 30 sites
throughout the United States.

In November 2013, we announced the foud-fare-year survival data from the 105 patientsofiad in the three Phase 2 rindopepimut
clinical studies (ACTIVATE, ACT Il and ACT 1ll) in
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EGFRuvllI-positive GBM. Across these three Phaseudies of rindopepimut, survival data remains cstesit and suggests a continuing
survival benefit in comparison to independent aaordatasets (see chart below) at the median aalll @her time points evaluated.

Phase 2 Frontline Long-term Overall Survival Assesaents

Median, Years 2-year 3-year 4-year 5-year
(95% CI) rate rate rate rate
Phase 2 rindopepimut studies (n=1 21(18,2.) 51% 30% 18% 14%
Matched historical control (n=17)( 1.3(0.9, 1.) 6% 6% 0% 0%

Q) Patients treated at M.D. Anderson contemporanecwasiCTIVATE, matched for major eligibility requinents,
including EGFRvlI-positive GBM, gross total resection and no disgasgression through chemoradiation treatme

The pooled overall long-term survival réswontinue to be consistent with the ACT Il Phasstudy (18% for 4-years and 14% for 5-
years).

In December 2011, we initiated ACT 1V, aqial, randomized, double-blind, controlled Phastugly of rindopepimut in patients with
surgically resected, EGFRuvIlI-positive GBM. Patieate randomized after the completion of surgedystandard chemoradiation treatment.
The treatment regimen includes a rindopepimut prinphase post-radiation followed by an adjuvant TiphZse and a rindopepimut
maintenance therapy phase. Patients are treatiédigpfise progression or intolerance to therapye grimary objective of the study is to
determine whether rindopepimut plus adjuvant GM-@8proves the overall survival of patients with mgwdiagnosed EGFRvIII-positive
GBM after Gross Total Resection, or GTR, when camegao treatment with TMZ and a control injectidrika.H. KLH is a component of
rindopepimut and was selected due to its abilitgyenerate a similar injection site reaction to thtzgerved with rindopepimut. ACT 1V is
enrolling patients at over 200 centers worldwidesttruit approximately 374 patients with GTR toitheluded in the primary analysis. Basec
current projections, we anticipate completion afoiment in mid-2014.

In December 2011, we also initiated ReA&Phase 2 study of rindopepimut in combination Witastin® in patients with recurrent
EGFRuvIlI-positive GBM. ReACT was initially planned to enrajpproximately 95 patients in a first or secondpet of GBM following receij
of standard therapy at approximately 25 sites adfwes United States. In August 2013, we annourfoe@ddition of an expansion cohort of
approximately 75 patients to better characterieepititential activity of rindopepimut in this reftary patient population. This decision was
based on early evidence of anti-tumor activity|uding stable disease, tumor shrinkage and invastigreported response. As amended, the
ReACT study will now enroll approximately 170 patie across three groups. Approximately 70 patieshis have yet to receive Avastin will
be randomized to receive either rindopepimut andstin or a control injection of KLH and Avastinarblinded fashion. Another 100 patients,
including the expansion cohort of 75 patients, @herefractory to Avastin having received Avastireither the frontline or recurrent setting
with subsequent progression will receive rindopegipius Avastin in a single treatment arm. Studgpaints include 6 month progression free
survival rate, objective response rate, or ORRrall/survival and safety and tolerability.

In November 2013, we reported interim dedan our ongoing Phase 2 ReACT study. Rindopepiphug Avastin was very well tolerated
(dosing up to 13+ months) and the results demaestiaromising signs of clinical activity in advadageatient populations, including evidence
of anti-tumor activity (tumor shrinkage, objectirgsponse and stable disease). Strong immune respornelated with improved outcome. In
Avastin-naive patients treated with both rindopegiend Avastin, a strong survival trend has alsnlseen to date versus the control group
(see chart below).
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Interim ReACT Overall Survival and Progression-free Survival in Avastin-Naive Recurrent GBM

Rindopepimut & Control & Avastin

Avastin (n=20) (n=20)
Overall survival 12.0 months 7.9 months Hazard ratio = .43
(0.13, 1.44); p=0.1
Progression-free survival 3.7 months 2.0 months Hazard ratio = .74

(0.34, 1.61); p=0.4

In Avastin-refractory patients treated wiibith rindopepimut and Avastin, a median progresfiee survival, or PFS, of 1.9 months anc
overall survival, or OS, of 5.6 months was observddd® median overall survival of 5.6 months is matethy in these heavily pre-treated,
refractory EGFRUVIII-positive patients. A review thie literature assessing survival in recurrentgpasi who are Avastin-experienced across
eight independent studies suggests a weighted-gearavival of 3.6 months (range of 2.6 to 5.8 rhehin all-comers. It is important to note
that these eight studies do not necessarily meetttict definition of refractory applied in the R€T study and that these studies included
EGFRuvllI-negative patients who tend to perform éetProgression-free survival results in this retfsey population may be more consistent
with the profile of an immunotherapy candidate vehgrogression-free survival does not always caealaectly with an overall survival
benefit.

Enrollment in ReACT is expected to be casgd in late 2014 with data anticipated by year-20it#.
Glembatumumab Vedotin

Glembatumumab vedotin is an antibody-drogjugate, or ADC, that consists of a fully-humannodonal antibody, CR011, linked to a
potent cell-killing drug, monomethyl-auristatin &, MMAE. The CR011 antibody specifically targetgapprotein NMB, referred to as
gpNMB, that is over-expressed in a variety of cas@ecluding breast cancer and melanoma. The ARBn@ogy, comprised of MMAE and a
stable linker system for attaching it to CRO11, ieensed from Seattle Genetics, Inc. and is tineesas that used in the marketed product
Adcetris®. The ADC is designed to be stable indlomdstream. Following intravenous administratiglembatumumab vedotin targets and
binds to gpNMB and upon internalization into thegtgted cell, glembatumumab vedotin is designeeélEase MMAE from CRO11 to produce
a cell-killing effect. The FDA has granted Fastckaesignation to glembatumumab vedotin for thattrent of advanced, refractory/resistant
gpNMB-expressing breast cancer.

Treatment of Breast Cancer: The Phase 1/2 study of glembatumumab vedotimirdgtered intravenously once every three weeks
evaluated patients with locally advanced or metzstaeast cancer who had received prior therapsd{em of seven prior regimens). The study
began with a bridging phase to confirm the maxintalarated dose, or MTD, and then expanded intoas®R open-label, multi-center study.
The study confirmed the safety of glembatumumalotiadit the pre-defined maximum dose level (1.88kapgin 6 patients. An additional 28
patients were enrolled in an expanded Phase 2 ttfibor total of 34 treated patients at 1.88 mgtkg Phase 2 dose) to evaluate the PFS rat
at 12 weeks. The 1.88 mg/kg dose was well toleramtdlais patient population with the most commonrexde events of rash, alopecia, and
fatigue. The primary activity endpoint, which callfor at least 5 of 25 (20%) patients in the PHastidy portion to be progression-free at
12 weeks, was met as 9 of 26 (35%) evaluable gatieere progression-free at 12 weeks.

For all patients treated at the maximumedesel, tumor shrinkage was seen in 62% (16/2@8)mmedian PFS was 9.1 weeks. A subset of
10 patients had "triple negative disease," a mggeessive breast cancer subtype that carries arisiglf relapse and reduced survival as well
as limited
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therapeutic options due to lack of over-expressioHER2/neu, estrogen and progesterone receptotsese patients, 78% (7/9) had some
tumor shrinkage, 12-week PFS rate was 70% (7/h@) naedian PFS was 17.9 weeks. Tumor samples frambset of patients across all dose
groups were analyzed for gpNMB expression. The tusamples from most patients showed evidence ofrstk and/or tumor cell expression
of gpNMB.

In December 2012, we announced final reduiim the EMERGE study, a randomized, multi-ceRfeaise 2b study of glembatumumab
vedotin in 122 patients with heavily pre-treatedyanced, gpNMB positive breast cancer. Patiente wardomized (2:1) to receive either
glembatumumab vedotin or single-agent Investigatohoice, or IC, chemotherapy. Patients randontizedceive IC were allowed to cross
over to receive glembatumumab vedotin followingedise progression. Activity endpoints included respaate, PFS and OS. The final res
as shown below, suggested that glembatumumab weiddtiices significant response rates comparedrtermtly available therapies in patient
subsets with advanced, refractory breast cancehsggNMB over-expression (expression in greaten 2826 of tumor cells) and in patients
with triple negative breast cancer. The OS and éfR&tients treated with glembatumumab vedotin alas observed to be greatest in patients
with triple negative breast cancer who also ovgrress gpNMB and all patients with gpNMB over-expies.

EMERGE: Overall Response Rate and Disease Controldba

Triple Negative and

gpNMB Over-Expression gpNMB Over-Expression
glembatumumab glembatumumab
vedotin IC vedotin IC
(n=25) (n=8) (n=12) (n=4)
Responsi 32% 13% 33% 0%
Disease Control Ra 64% 38% 75% 25%

Responses per RECIST 1.1; IC = Investigator's Ghaitembatumumab vedotin arm includes 15 patiehts evossed over to
receive glembatumumab vedotin treatment after sgjpn on IC. Analysis of best response excludiésnpgawho discontinued
from study without evaluable p-baseline radiographic imaging (n=15 for glembatunalmvedotin arm; n=5 for IC arm

EMERGE: Progression Free Survival (PFS) and OveralSurvival (OS) Data

Triple Negative

gpNMB and gpNMB
Over-Expression Over-Expression
glembatumumab glembatumumab
vedotin IC vedotin IC
Median PFS (month: 2.7 i1E 3.C 175
p=0.14 p=0.008
Median OS (months 10.C 5.7 10.C 5.5
p=0.18 p=0.003

When cross over patients are removed, median @3tients with gpNMB over-expression is 10.0 mofdhglembatumumab
vedotin vs 5.2 months for IC (p=0.05) and medianii®i@iple negative patients with gpNMB over-exiesa is 10.0 months for
glembatumumab vedotin vs 5.2 months for IC (p=0.(
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In December 2013, we initiated METRIC, ademized, controlled study of glembatumumab vedotipatients with triple negative breast
cancer that over-express gpNMB designed to obtairlarated approval. METRIC will be conducted ipraximately 100 sites, primarily
across the United States with additional sitesandgla and Australia and will enroll approximated@ datients.

Treatment of Metastatic Melanoma: The Phase 1/2 open-label, makinter, dose escalation study evaluated the saddtyability anc
pharmacokinetics of glembatumumab vedotin in 11iepes with un-resectable Stage IIl or Stage IVanelma who had failed no more than
one prior line of cytotoxic therapy. The MTD wagdeatenined to be 1.88 mg/kg administered intravenoaste every three weeks. The study
achieved its primary activity objective with an ORRhe Phase 2 cohort of 15% (5/34). Median PFS 3v@ months. Glembatumumab ved:
was generally well tolerated, with the most frequesatment-related adverse events being rashuathair loss, pruritus, diarrhea and
neuropathy. In the subset of patients with tumopsies, high levels of tumor expression of gpNMPBegred to correlate with favorable
outcome. In the seven patients whose tumors weredfto express high amounts of gpNMB, and who wrerged at the maximum tolerated
doses across all dosing schedules, median PFS.@asofths. The development of rash, which may bedated with the presence of gpNI
in the skin also seemed to correlate with greaftes.P

The Company is currently exploring condugtadditional clinical studies in indications knotenexpress gpNMB. Phase 2 studies in
melanoma and squamous cell lung cancer are expchediate in the second half of 2014.

Varlilumab

Varlilumab is a human monoclonal antibolgtttargets CD27, a potentially important targetifienunotherapy of various cancers. We
have entered into license agreements with the Wsityeof Southampton, UK for intellectual propersgtated to uses of anti-CD27 antibodies
and with Medarex (now a subsidiary of the Bristojévls Squibb Company) for access to the UltiMabrietdgy to develop and commercialize
human antibodies to CD27. In July 2013, the UnB&ates Patent and Trademark Office issued a patéiné¢ University of Southampton, that
we have exclusive license to under our licenseeageat, which broadly supports varlilumab. The paiteciudes 18 claims covering various
methods of treating cancer using agonistic anti4nu@D27 antibodies and relates, among other thaigectly to our CD27 antibody program
and therapeutic uses of varlilumab.

CD27 acts downstream from CD40 and mayidesa novel way to regulate the immune responsB27Gs a co-stimulatory molecule on
T cells and is over-expressed in certain lymphoamasleukemias. Varlilumab is an agonist antibodsigieed to have two potential therapeutic
mechanisms. Varlilumab has been shown to activameune cells that can target and eliminate cancerellsin tumor-bearing mice and to
directly kill or inhibit the growth of CD27 exprdag lymphomas and leukemiasvitro andin vivo. Both mechanisms have been seen even &
low doses in appropriate preclinical models.

In November 2013, we announced data fronpagoing open label, dose-escalating Phase 1 stindgrlilumab in patients with selected
malignant solid tumors or hematologic cancers dtipte clinical sites in the United States. The §#4 study is designed to test five escalatin
doses of varlilumab to determine a Phase 2 dosiiffitrer development based on safety, tolerabifibtential activity and immunogenicity. T
results suggest a favorable safety profile witteminlence of immune related toxicities. Clear biadaggtivity and promising signs of clinical
activity were demonstrated in an advanced, refraqiatient population including a complete respdngdodgkin disease, two additional
patients with significant tumor shrinkage and eightients with stable disease or better (PFS rah8ed to 14+ months). No maximum
tolerated dose was reached to date and immune oniogitdata in patients confirmed varlilumab's metsm of action. Expansion cohorts hi
been enrolling in metastatic melanoma and renhteetinoma and are planned in hematologic indbcesti
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with initial data anticipated in mid-2014. We inteto initiate new studies of varlilumab in combioatwith various agents in 2014.
CDX-301

CDX-301 is a FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3aligl, or FIt3L, stem cell mobilizer and dendritidl ggowth factor. We licensed CDX0O1 from
Amgen Inc. in March 2009. CDX-301 is a potent hespatetic cytokine that stimulates the expansion d@iffdrentiation of hematopoietic
progenitor and stem cells. CDX-301 has demonstrat@tique capacity to increase the number of @tind dendritic cells in both laboratory
and clinical studies. In addition, CDX-301 has shampressive results in models of cancer, infectidiseases and inflammatory/autoimmune
diseases. We believe CDX-301 may hold significamtastunity for synergistic development in combipativith other proprietary molecules in
our portfolio.

In February 2013, we announced final resiuim our dose-escalating Phase 1 study of CDX#3@D healthy subjects in collaboration
with Rockefeller University. The Phase 1 study ea&dd seven different dosing regimens of CDX-30determine the appropriate dose for
further development based on safety, tolerabidityd biological activity. The data from the studyr@veonsistent with previous clinical
experience and demonstrated that CDX-301 was wigiated and can effectively mobilize hematopoistém cell populations in healthy
volunteers. In December 2013, we announced data drpreclinical combination study of CDX-301and Mbi#® (Plerixafor injection,
formerly AMD3100) demonstrating that the combinataf these agents significantly increases hemagtipatem cell mobilization in mice.
The data demonstrate a novel potent cell mobibrategimen combining CDX-301 and Mozobil®hich may have significant potential for |
in autologous and allogeneic hematopoietic stettregisplantation. Based on the safety profile tredclinical and preclinical data to date, we
plan to initiate a pilot clinical study of CDX-3@s a single-agent and in combination with Mozabthie transplant setting in the first half of
2014.

CDX-1401

CDX-1401, developed from our APC Targefireghnology, is a fusion protein consisting of dyflluman monoclonal antibody with
specificity for the dendritic cell receptor, DEC80inked to the NY-ESO-1 tumor antigen. In humad¥;ESO-1 has been detected in 20 -
30% of all melanoma, lung, esophageal, liver, gastrostate, ovarian and bladder cancers, thugsepting a broad opportunity. This proc
is intended to selectively deliver the NY-ESGntigen to dendritic cells for generating rokimgnune responses against cancer cells expre
NY-ESO-1. We are developing CDX-1401 for the treatneémalignant melanoma and a variety of solid tusn@hich express the proprietary
cancer antigen NY-ESO-1, which we licensed fromlLthdwig Institute for Cancer Research in 2006. Bn@al studies have shown that CDX-
1401 is effective for activation of human T celbpenses against NY-ESO-1.

The Phase 1 study evaluated three diffatesés of CDX-1401 in combination with toll-likeceptor agonists poly-ICLC or Hiltonol™
and/or R848 or resiquimod. In total, the study #edo45 patients with advanced malignancies thdtgragressed after any available curative
and/or salvage therapies. 60% of patients hadwoefl NY-ESO expression in archived tumor samplétddn patients maintained stable
disease for up to 13.4 months with a median oforths. Treatment was well-tolerated and there werdose limiting toxicities. Humoral
responses were elicited in both NY-ESO-1 positive aegative patients. NY-ESO-1-specific T cell mses were absent or low at baseline,
but increased post-vaccination in 53% of evalughl&ents, including both CD4 and/or CD8 T cell @sges. Robust immune responses were
observed with CDX-1401 with resiquimod and Poly {Calone and in combination. The study has ideuwtifi@vell-tolerated and immunogenic
regimen to take forward into the future studies. &k planning a collaborative Phase 2 study of CI281 in combination with CDX-301 in
malignant melanoma. This study will be conductedhey
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Cancer Immunotherapy Trials Network under a codperaesearch and development agreement, or CRAWA,the Cancer Therapy
Evaluation Program of the National Cancer Institute

CDX-1135

CDX-1135 is a molecule that inhibits a pErthe human immune system called the complemestés. The complement system is a
series of proteins that are important initiatorshaf body's acute inflammatory response againetdes infection and injury. Excessive
complement activation also plays a role in somsiptmt inflammatory conditions. CDX-1135 is a $déuform of naturally occurring
Complement Receptor 1 that has been shown to trthibiactivation of the complement cascade in ahmwalels and in human clinical trials.

Dense Deposit Disease, or DDD, is a ratedmvastating disease that is caused by uncordradigvation of the alternative pathway of
complement and leads to progressive kidney dammagkildren. There is currently no treatment forigras with DDD and about half progress
to end-stage renal disease within ten years. Bedal® recurs in virtually all patients who recev&idney transplant, transplantation is often
not a viable option for these patients.

In July 2013, we initiated a pilot study@DbX-1135 in patients with DDD. Enrollment in the pikitidy has been extremely difficult dut
the overall rareness of patients with DDD (3B in the U.S.) further compounded by the neezhtoll patients at a very specific point in tt
disease course. The study sought to enroll patipatsicularly children, with enough kidney detestion to be able to demonstrate clinical
benefit/improvement but not so much disease butigigtthe kidneys were beyond salvaging. While weehzeen tracking a number of patients
for potential enrollment, some patients progreseedjuickly and others never progressed at allddte, only one patient has been enrolled.
While this patient demonstrated initial evidencelafical improvement, the effect was not sustaingtk results from this one patient
combined with our experience using this agent é(ndbmpassionate use setting have not providedotheusive results necessary for a feasible
approval path in this disease. Due to these ctgagnwve have decided to close the study in DDDfatas resources on our growing immuno-
oncology pipeline at this time.

Preclinical Programs
CDX-014

CDX-014 is a fully-human monoclonal ADC tltargets TIM-1, a molecule that is highly expresea renal and ovarian cancers with
minimal expression in normal tissues. The antibisdinked to MMAE using Seattle Genetics' propnigteechnology. The ADC is designed to
be stable in the bloodstream, but to release MMpA&nLinternalization into TIM-1-expressing tumorlsgetesulting in a targeted cell-killing
effect. CDX-014 has shown potent activity in preidal models of ovarian and renal cancer. We havglacted preclinical proof-of-concept
studies to optimize the drug candidate and planaaufacture CDX-014 at our Fall River facility i024 prior to initiating IND-enabling
toxicology studies.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our significant accounting policies areatésed in Note 2 to the consolidated financialesta¢nts included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
We believe our most critical accounting policieslimle accounting for business combinations, reveacegnition, impairment of long-lived
assets, research and development expenses anebairrk compensation expense.

The methods, estimates and judgments wéegaplying our most critical accounting policiegve a significant impact on the results we
report in our consolidated financial statements.a¥a&uate our estimates and judgments on an orgduaais. We base our estimates on
historical experience and
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on assumptions that we believe to be reasonableruhd circumstances. Our experience and assumsgtom the basis for our judgments
about the carrying value of assets and liabilitieg are not readily apparent from other sourcesu® results may vary from what we
anticipate and different assumptions or estimabesiethe future could materially change our regbresults. We believe the following
accounting policies are the most critical to uthiatt they are important to the portrayal of ouafinial statements and they require our most
difficult, subjective or complex judgments in theeparation of our consolidated financial statements

Business Combinatior

We account for business combinations uttfteacquisition method of accounting. We recordfétirevalue of the consideration transfer
to acquire a business to the tangible assets amtifidble intangible assets acquired and liakeditassumed on the basis of their fair values at
the date of acquisition. We assess the fair valaesssets, including intangible assets such as IPR&lihg a variety of methods including
present-value models. Each asset is measured atfae from the perspective of a market participdihe method used to estimate the fair
values of IPR&D assets incorporates significantiaggions regarding the estimates a market partitipauld make in order to evaluate an
asset, including a market participant's assumptiegarding the probability of completing IPR&D peofs, which would require obtaining
regulatory approval for marketing of the associatedy candidate; a market participant's estimatganding the timing of and the expected
costs to complete IPR&D projects; a market parsinifs estimates of future cash flows from potemtiatiuct sales; and the appropriate
discount rates for a market participant. Transactiosts and restructuring costs associated witkrémsaction are expensed as incurred.

IPR&D assets acquired in a business comibiménitially are recorded at fair value and acetad for as indefinite-lived intangible assets.
These assets are maintained on our consolidataddsatheets until either the project underlyingntiecompleted or the assets become
impaired. If a project is completed, the carryiredue of the related intangible asset is amortiaezt the remaining estimated life of the asset
beginning in the period in which the project is gdeted. If a project becomes impaired or is abardpthe carrying value of the related
intangible asset is written down to its fair valrel an impairment charge is taken in the perioshith the impairment occurs. IPR&D assets
are tested for impairment on an annual basis duhieghird quarter, or earlier if impairment indiggs are present. We performed an annual
impairment test of the IPR&D assets as of July(l,®and concluded that the IPR&D assets were nodiirad.

Intangible assets acquired in a businessatation with a finite life are recorded at faalwe and amortized over the greater of economi
consumption or on a straight-line basis over thstimated useful life.

The difference between the purchase pricktlae fair value of assets acquired and liabdiiesumed in a business combination is rec
to goodwill. Goodwill is evaluated for impairment an annual basis during the third quarter, oliezaflimpairment indicators are present. We
performed an annual impairment test of the goodxgiflet as of July 1, 2013 and concluded that thdwgitl asset was not impaired.

Revenue Recognitic

We recognize revenue when all of the foltaywriteria are met: persuasive evidence of aargement exists; delivery has occurred or
services have been rendered; the seller's pritteetbuyer is fixed or determinable; and collecipbis reasonably assured.

We have entered into and in the future evagr into biopharmaceutical product developmergements with collaborative partners for
the research and development of therapeutic dragugts. The terms of the agreements may includesfiamdable signing and licensing fees,
funding for
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research, development and manufacturing, milegpagenents and royalties on any product sales defire@d collaborations. These multiple
element arrangements are analyzed to determinéheuhitte deliverables can be separated or whethgmttust be accounted for as a single

of accounting. In accounting for these transactioresallocate revenue to the various elements basé¢leir relative fair value. The fair value
of a revenue generating element can be based centselling prices offered by us or another p&tycurrent products or our best estimate of
a selling price for future products. Revenue alteddo an individual element is recognized whertier revenue recognition criteria are met
for that element.

These collaborative and other agreementsamatain milestone payments. Revenues from mihestoif they are considered substantive,
are recognized upon successful accomplishmenteafiitestones. Determining whether a milestone lissuntive involves judgment, including
an assessment of our involvement in achieving tiestones and whether the amount of the paymesdrismensurate to our performance. If
not considered substantive, milestones are injtidferred and recognized over the remaining perdoice obligation.

Payments received to fund certain reseactiiities are recognized as revenue in the peniadhich the research activities are performed
Revenue from contracts and grants is recognizéldeaservices are performed and recorded as effestpended on the contracted work and
billed to the government or our contractual partRayments received in advance that are relatbduce performance are deferred and
recognized as revenue when the research projecisesdiormed.

Product royalty revenue consists of paymeateived from licensees for a portion of sales@eds from products that utilize our licensec
technologies and are recognized when the amouwaridbasis for such royalty payments are reporter io accurate and appropriate form an
in accordance with the related license agreement.

Impairment of Lon-Lived Assets

We evaluate the recoverability of our Idivgd assets, including property and equipment,iatahgible assets when circumstances
indicate that an event of impairment may have aecurDetermination of recoverability is based oreatimate of undiscounted future cash
flows resulting from the use of the asset andvienéual disposition. In the event that such casWdlare not expected to be sufficient to rec
the carrying amount of the assets, the assetsriterwdown to their estimated fair values.

Research and Development Exper

Research and development costs, includitegnal and contract research costs, are expessedwared. Research and development
expenses consist mainly of clinical trial costspofacturing of clinical material, toxicology andhet studies, personnel costs, depreciation,
license fees and funding of outside research.

Clinical trial expenses include expensa®eaisted with clinical research organizations (CRIe invoicing from CROs for services
rendered can lag several months. We accrue thetestvices rendered in connection with CRO ati¢igibased on our estimate of site
management, monitoring costs, and project managetosts. We maintain regular communication with GROs to gauge the reasonablenes
of our estimates. Differences between actual dirical expenses and estimated clinical trial exges recorded have not been material and at
adjusted for in the period in which they becomewmno
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense

We record stock-based compensation exgdensdl stock-based awards made to employees ardtdis based on the estimated fair
values of the stock-based awards expected to vést grant date and is adjusted, if necessamgflect actual forfeitures. Compensation
expense for all stock-based awards to employeesliagctors is recognized using the straight-lingtrod over the term of vesting or
performance.

We record stock-based compensation exgenstock options granted to n@mployees based on the fair value of the stocloogtivhict
is re-measured over the vesting term resultingeioplic adjustments to stock-based compensatioarese

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31, 2013 compared with Year Ended December 31, 2012

vear Ended Increase/ Increase/
December 31 (Decrease) (Decrease)
2013 2012 $ %
(In thousands)

Revenue

Product Development and

Licensing Agreement $ 16C $ 14€ $ 14 10%

Contracts and Gran 1,617 281 1,33¢ 47%

Product Royaltie 2,33¢ 10,77t (8,447 (78)%
Total Revenut $ 4,111 $ 11,20: $ (7,09)) (63)%
Operating Expens:t

Research and Developme 67,40: 47,39¢ 20,00s 42%

Royalty 2,33¢ 10,77t (8,44 (78)%

General and Administrativ 14,80¢ 10,01¢ 4,78¢ 48%

Amortization of Acquired

Intangible Asset 1,01 1,09( (77) (7%

Total Operating Expens 85,551 69,27¢ 16,27 23%
Operating Los: (81,447 (58,077 23,36¢ 40%
Investment and Other Incom

Net 81¢ 53C 28¢ 55%
Interest Expens (927) (1,576 (64€) (41)%
Net Loss $ (81,55() $ (59,127 § 22,42 38%

Net Loss

The $22.4 million increase in net losstfee year ended December 31, 2013 compared to dreepeled December 31, 2012 was primarily
the result of an increase in research and developamsl general and administrative expenses.

Revenu

The $1.3 million increase in contracts grahts revenue for the year ended December 31, @hpared to the year ended December 31
2012 was primarily related to our Rockefeller Umsity agreement pursuant to which we perform reseand development services for
Rockefeller. The agreement includes an approveggrplan for the development services of $4.8iamlland a term of three years. The
$8.4 million decrease in product royalty revenuetfie year ended December 31,
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2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2832elated to our retained interests in Rotarix®rogalties which were not sold to Paul
Royalty Fund IlI, L.P., or PRF, and which is equatite amount payable to Cincinnati Children's Hadpiledical Center, or CCH, and
recognized in royalty expense by us. Our agreeméhtGlaxoSmithKline plc, or Glaxo, terminated antatically upon the expiration of the
last relevant patent right covered by the Glax@agrent. We do not expect any more Rotarix royaignue.

Research and Development Expe

Research and development expenses conisigtrly of (i) personnel expenses, (ii) laboratspply expenses relating to the developr
of our technology, (iii) facility expenses, and)(product development expenses associated withrogr candidates as follows:

Year Ended December 31 Increase/ Increase/
(Decrease) (Decrease)
2013 2012 $ %
(In thousands)

Personne $ 17,04C $ 1346 $§ 3,57 27%
Laboratory Supplie 3,241 2,06z 1,18t 57%
Facility 4,52¢ 4,457 6¢S 2%
Product Developmer 39,34: 24,42¢ 14,917 61%

Personnel expenses primarily include salaepefits, stock-based compensation and paypsaktarhe $3.6 million increase in personnel
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2013 cechfmathe year ended December 31, 2012 was phntare to higher stock-based
compensation of $1.2 million and increased headcaMe expect personnel expenses to increase oweretkt twelve months as we plan to
continue to increase our headcount, primarily fopsut our rindopepimut and glembatumumab vedotigrams.

Laboratory supply expenses include laboyataterials and supplies, services, and otheta@lexpenses incurred in the development of
our technology. The $1.2 million increase in lalona supply expenses for the year ended Decemhe2@®B compared to the year ended
December 31, 2012 was primarily due to higher mactufing supply purchases. We expect supply exgensemain relatively consistent
over the next twelve months, although there maffumtuations on a quarterly basis.

Facility expenses include depreciation, dination, utilities, rent, maintenance, and otredated expenses incurred at our facilities. The
$0.1 million increase in facility expenses for frear ended December 31, 2013 compared to the pdadedecember 31, 2012 was primarily
due to higher utility and maintenance expenseseMpect facility expenses to increase over the tveadtve months primarily related to the
amortization of leasehold improvements made ateadquarters facility in Hampton, New Jersey.

Product development expenses include dlinivestigator site fees, external trial monitgrizosts, data accumulation costs, contracted
research and outside clinical drug product manufagy. The $14.9 million increase in product depehent expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended Dere3thh2012 was primarily the result of an increéasdinical trial costs and contract
manufacturing of $9.0 million and $5.6 million, pestively, primarily related to our rindopepimutdegiembatumumab vedotin programs. We
expect product development expenses to increasetwaext twelve months primarily due to the imse in clinical trial and contract

manufacturing expenses related to our rindopepandtglembatumumab vedotin programs, although timarebe fluctuations on a quarterly
basis.
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Royalty Expens

Royalty expenses include product royaltgt anblicense royalty fees on our out-licensed o The $8.4 million decrease in royalty
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2013 cecthfmathe year ended December 31, 2012 was daielégrease in Rotarix related royalty
fees. Our retained interests in Rotarix net rogaltvhich were not sold to PRF are recorded as ptodyalty revenue and a corresponding
amount that is payable to CCH is recorded as rpyadpense. The Glaxo agreement terminated autoafigtiqppon the expiration of the last
relevant patent right covered by the Glaxo agreem¥e do not expect any more Rotarix royalty expens

General and Administrative Expense

The $4.8 million increase in general anchimistrative expenses for the year ended Decenthe2®L3 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2012 was primarily due to higher stoméed compensation of $1.0 million, increased t@awt and rindopepimut-related
commercialization planning costs. We expect gerardladministrative expense to increase over tketwelve months primarily due to
increased commercial planning efforts for rindopsytiand glembatumumab vedotin, although there neafjuictuations on a quarterly basis.

Amortization Expens

The $0.1 million decrease in amortizatigpenses for the year ended December 31, 2013 ceapathe year ended December 31, 2012
was due to certain intangible assets becoming amtprtized during 2012. We expect amortization espeof acquired intangible assets to
remain relatively consistent over the next twelhanths.

Investment and Other Income,

The $0.3 million increase in investment attter income, net for the year ended Decembe2@13 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2012 was primarily due to higher kweélcash and investment balances compared toyw@rand us recognizing $0.2 million
and $0.1 million in other income related to ouesafl New Jersey tax benefits during the years emseegmber 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. We anticipate investment income twease over the next twelve months due to highsr aad investment balances resulting
from our underwritten public offering in Decembé13.

Interest Expens

The $0.6 million decrease in interest execior the year ended December 31, 2013 compaithe tgear ended December 31, 2012 was
primarily due to our election in May 2013 to preghg Term Loan in full, pursuant to the terms of lman agreement.
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Year Ended December 31, 2012 compared with Year Ended December 31, 2011

Year Ended December 31 Increase/ Increase/

(Decrease) (Decrease)
2012 2011 $ %
(In thousands)

Revenue

Product Development and

Licensing Agreement $ 14€ $ 11C $ 3€ 33%

Contracts and Gran 281 36 24t 681%

Product Royaltie 10,77¢ 9,11¢ 1,65¢ 18%
Total Revenut $ 11,20 $ 9,268 § 1,93] 21%
Operating Expens:t

Research and Developme 47,39¢ 32,43¢ 14,95¢ 46%

Royalty 10,77¢ 9,11¢ 1,65¢€ 18%

General and Administrativ 10,01¢ 9,19: 823 9%

Amortization of Acquired

Intangible Asset 1,09( 1,91: (823) (43)%

Total Operating Expens 69,27¢ 52,66 16,61¢ 32%
Operating Los: (58,077 (43,399 14,67¢ 34%
Investment and Other Incom

Net 53C 39¢ 134 34%
Interest Expens (1,576 (1,796 (220) (12)%
Net Loss $ (59,127 $ (44,799 $ 14,32 32%

Net Loss

The $14.3 million increase in net losstfug year ended December 31, 2012 compared to Hreepeled December 31, 2011 was primarily
the result of an increase in research and developamel general and administrative expenses, dartiiset by a decrease in amortization
expense on acquired intangible assets.

Revenu

The $0.2 million increase in contracts grahts revenue for the year ended December 31, @hpared to the year ended December 31
2011 was due to an APC Targeting Technology-bad¥dveiccine being funded through a Small Busines®imation Research, or SBIR, grant
in collaboration with Rockefeller University. Th&.$ million increase in product royalty revenue ttoe year ended December 31, 2012
compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 \ededeo our retained interests in Rotarix net ligswhich were not sold to PRF and
which is equal to the amount payable to CCH andgerized in royalty expense by us.
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Research and Development Expe

Year Ended

December 31 Increase/ Increase/
- (Decrease) (Decrease)
2012 2011 $ %
(In thousands)

Personne $ 13,46F $ 12,71t $ 75C 6%
Laboratory Supplie 2,06z 1,92( 14z 7%
Facility 4,457 4,67 (217) (5)%
Product Developmer 24,42¢ 10,04« 14,38: 14%%

The $0.8 million increase in personnel ewgas for the year ended December 31, 2012 compatkd year ended December 31, 2011
primarily due to higher headcount.

The $0.1 million increase in laboratory glypexpenses for the year ended December 31, 20hpared to the year ended December 31,
2011 was primarily due to higher manufacturing dyjpoirchases.

The $0.2 million decrease in facility expes for the year ended December 31, 2012 compated tyear ended December 31, 2011 was
primarily due to lower depreciation and amortizatexpenses.

The $14.4 million increase in product depehent expenses for the year ended December 32,&@bipared to the year ended
December 31, 2011 was primarily the result of amease in clinical trial costs of $14.3 millionmarily due to our rindopepimut program.

Royalty Expens

The $1.7 million increase in royalty expesnfor the year ended December 31, 2012 comparbeé tgear ended December 31, 2011 was
primarily due to an increase in Rotarix relatedaloyfees. Our retained interests in Rotarix ngaftes which were not sold to PRF are
recorded as product royalty revenue and a correpgramount that is payable to CCH is recordedwgalty expense.

General and Administrative Expense

The $0.8 million increase in general anchimiktrative expenses for the year ended Decenthe2®L2 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2011 was primarily due to higher headicand rindopepimut-related commercializationenges.

Amortization Expens

The $0.8 million decrease in amortizatigpenses for the year ended December 31, 2012 ceapathe year ended December 31, 2011
was due to certain intangible assets becoming antprtized during 2011.

Investment and Other Income, |

The $0.1 million increase in investment attter income, net for the year ended Decembe2@12 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2011 was primarily due to us recoggi$0.1 million in other income related to our salldlew Jersey tax benefits.

Interest Expens

The $0.2 million decrease in interest exgecfior the year ended December 31, 2012 compartbe tgear ended December 31, 2011 was
due to a decrease in our Term Loan balance.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our cash equivalents are highly liquid istweents with a maturity of three months or leshatdate of purchase and consist primarily of
investments in money market mutual funds with commmaébanks and financial institutions. We mainte@sh balances with financial
institutions in excess of insured limits. We do anticipate any losses with respect to such calsinbas. We invest our excess cash balances
marketable securities including municipal bond sigieis, U.S. government agency securities, and-gigitle corporate bonds that meet high
credit quality standards, as specified in our itwest policy. Our investment policy seeks to manhgse assets to achieve our goals of
preserving principal and maintaining adequate tdyi

The use of our cash flows for operatiors fr@marily consisted of salaries and wages foresuployees, facility and facility-related costs
for our offices, laboratories and manufacturinglfigg fees paid in connection with preclinical dias, clinical studies, contract manufacturing,
laboratory supplies and services, consulting, legal other professional fees. To date, the prireatyces of cash flows from operations have
been payments received from our collaborative pastand from government entities. The timing of aaw collaboration agreements,
government contracts or grants and any paymentsrihdse agreements, contracts or grants canreatdily predicted and may vary
significantly from quarter to quarter.

At December 31, 2013, our principal sourailgquidity consisted of cash, cash equivalemtd marketable securities of $303.0 million.
We incurred a loss of $81.6 million for the yeaded December 31, 2013. Net cash used in operdtotise year ended December 31, 2013
was $67.7 million. We believe that the cash, caghwalents and marketable securities at Decembe2(®3 are sufficient to meet estimated
working capital requirements and fund planned apera for more than the next two years.

During the next twelve months, we may thkéher steps to raise additional capital to fund long-term liquidity needs. Our capital
raising activities may include, but may not be tidito, one or more of the following: the licensofgechnology programs with existing or
new collaborative partners, possible business coatioins, issuance of debt, or the issuance of camstaxk or other securities via private
placements or public offerings. While we may comdirio seek capital through a number of means, tteerde no assurance that additional
financing will be available on acceptable termstiall, and our negotiating position in capitakiiag efforts may worsen as existing resources
are used. There is also no assurance that we avilbke to enter into further collaborative relasioips. Additional equity financing may be
dilutive to our stockholders; debt financing, ifadlable, may involve significant cash payment adiigns and covenants that restrict our ability
to operate as a business; and licensing or stcategjaborations may result in royalties or othernts which reduce our economic potential f
products under development.

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities wéa. % million for the year ended December 31, 20dr8mared to $49.8 million for the year endec
December 31, 2012. The increase in net cash usggkirmting activities was primarily due to an irage in net loss of $22.4 million. We exp
that cash used in operating activities will inceeaser the next twelve months primarily relateddsts incurred on our rindopepimut and
glembatumumab vedotin programs.

We have incurred and will continue to insignificant costs in the area of research andldpweent, including preclinical and clinical
trials, as our drug candidates are developed. \&te ol spend significant amounts to progress ouentidrug candidates through the clinical
trial and commercialization processes as well atet@®lop additional drug candidates. As our drugdidates progress through the clinical trial
process, we may be obligated to make significatéstone payments.
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Investing Activitie:

Net cash used in investing activities w&s.8 million for the year ended December 31, 20di@ared to $17.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012. The increase in net cash udadasting activities was primarily due to net phases of marketable securities for the yea
ended December 31, 2013 of $73.2 million as compar&16.9 million for the year ended December2R1L,2. We expect that cash used in
investing activities will increase over the nexetwe months as we purchase more marketable sesuwitth the funds raised in December
2013.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activitieas/$289.6 million for the year ended December 813Zompared to $79.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012. Net proceeds from stegkiges, including stock issued pursuant to emplbgeefit plans, were $301.1 million
during the year ended December 31, 2013 comparg83@ million for the year ended December 31, 20%& paid $11.0 million and
$4.0 million in principal payments on our Term Laduring the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2842¢ectively.

In May 2013, pursuant to the terms of oaah Agreement, we elected to prepay our Term Lodnlli and paid $8.8 million in principal
and $0.7 million in interest, prepayment and fipayment fees. The Term Loan would have otherwiseimed in December 2014. By
prepaying the term loan in May 2013, we saved apprately $0.5 million in interest costs (net of pagment fees) which would have been
payable over the remaining term of the loan. Odigakions under the Loan Agreement had been sedwedfirst priority security interest in
substantially all of its assets, other than itsllattual property. In connection with the repayin&ithe Term Loan and the termination of the
Loan Agreement, those security interests were setka

Equity Offerings

In April 2010, we filed a shelf registratigtatement with the Securities and Exchange Cosiomigo register for sale any combination of
the types of securities described in the shelfstegfion statement up to a dollar amount of $150ani The shelf registration went effective on
April 22, 2010. In December 2012, we filed a newlEhegistration statement with the Securities Brdhange Commission to register for sale
any combination of the types of securities describehe new shelf registration statement up tolladamount of $200 million. The new shelf
registration went effective on January 16, 201Déeember 2013, we filed a new automatic shelfstegfion statement.

During the years ended December 31, 20082 2and 2011, we issued 21,613,483, 12,075,000 &5®0,000 shares of our common st
in underwritten public offerings resulting in nebpeeds to us of $278.6 million, $43.5 million &8B.7 million, after deducting underwriting
fees and offering expenses, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 20082 2and 2011, we issued 2,433,608, 8,003,290 ab@BJ shares of our common stock
under our controlled equity offering sales agreeméth Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., as amended, resglih net proceeds to us of $17.1 million,
$40.1 million and $2.2 million, after deducting caission and offering expenses, respectively.

AGGREGATE CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

We have entered into license agreementsaliljave have received licenses or options to liegeshnology, specified patents and/or
patent applications. These license and collabaratgreements generally provide for royalty paymentgl to specified percentages of proc
sales, annual license maintenance fees, continatent prosecution costs and potential future maifespayments to third parties upon the
achievement of certain development, regulatory@etdmmercial milestones.
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Because the achievement of these milestones hastootred as of December 31, 2013, such contingeftzve not been recorded in our
financial statements. We expect to incur approxatyz$3.8 million of license and milestone paymeant014.

The following table summarizes our contnatbbligations (not including contingent royaltydamilestone payments as described above
at December 31, 2013 and the effect such obligato commercial commitments are expected to haweioliquidity and cash flow in futu
years. These obligations, commitments and supgpatirangements represent expected payments basedrent operating forecasts, whi
are subject to change:

Total 2014 2015- 2016 2017- 2018 Thereafter
(In thousands)

Contractual obligation:
Operating lease obligations( $ 10,87¢ $ 2,66¢€ $ 5771 $ 2,26¢ $ 167
Other contractual obligations( 10,55( 10,55( — — —
Total contractual obligatior $ 21,42¢ $ 1321¢ $§ 5777 $ 2,266 $ 167

(1)  Such amounts primarily consist of payments forfaaility leases and do not assume the exerciserwal terms or
early termination provisions.

(2) We enter into agreements in the normal coaf$risiness with contract research organizationslioical trials, contract
manufacturing organizations, vendors for preclihieaearch studies and other services and proftuctperating
purposes. We have included obligations in the tabteve if the contracts are not cancelable at iamy by us, generally
upon 30 days prior written notice to the venc

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Refer to Note 2, "Summary of Significantc@anting Policies," in the accompanying notes #odbnsolidated financial statements for a
discussion of recent accounting pronouncements.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
None.
Iltem 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE S ABOUT MARKET RISK

We own financial instruments that are siresto market risk as part of our investment pmitf Our investment portfolio is used to
preserve our capital until it is used to fund ofierss, including our research and development aiets None of these market-risk sensitive
instruments are held for trading purposes. We ineescash primarily in money market mutual funtisese investments are evaluated
quarterly to determine the fair value of the pditfoFrom time to time, we invest our excess caslatices in marketable securities including
municipal bond securities, U.S. government ageecyties, and high-grade corporate bonds that imgatcredit quality standards, as
specified in our investment policy. Our investmpalicy seeks to manage these assets to achie\goals of preserving principal and
maintaining adequate liquidity. Because of the stemm nature of these investments, we do not belee have material exposure due to
market risk. The impact to our financial positiardaesults of operations from likely changes iriast rates is not material.

We do not utilize derivative financial ingnents. The carrying amounts reflected in the clideted balance sheet of cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivables and accountdfEgpproximates fair value at December 31, 20¥3tduhe short-term maturities of these
instruments.
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Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY D ATA
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Gatl@herapeutics, Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying consobdabalance sheets and the related consolidatexingtats of operations and comprehensive
loss, of stockholders' equity, and of cash flowsspnt fairly, in all material respects, the finahposition of Celldex Therapeutics, Inc. and its
subsidiaries at December 31, 2013 and Decemb&(032, and the results of their operations and ttash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2013 in conformiti @tcounting principles generally accepted inhéed States of America. Also in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all materialjects, effective internal control over financiegporting as of December 31, 2013, based or
criteria established imternal Control—Integrated Framework (1998sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriike Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company's management ismegge for these financial statements, for maiitej effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of fifiecéveness of internal control over financial ogjing, included in Management's Annual
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reportapgearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility i€xpress opinions on these financial
statements and on the Company's internal conteal fiwancial reporting based on our integrated sudlVe conducted our audits in accordanc
with the standards of the Public Company Accoun@ngrsight Board (United States). Those standaqire that we plan and perform the
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whitthénancial statements are free of material tatemnent and whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintainedglhmaterial respects. Our audits of the finanstatements included examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and diselesn the financial statements, assessing theuatiog principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating #ralbfinancial statement presentation. Our auflibt@rnal control over financial reportil
included obtaining an understanding of internaltcmrover financial reporting, assessing the rtsktta material weakness exists, and testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectis®é internal control based on the assessedQiskaudits also included performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary airthuenstances. We believe that our audits provideaaonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over finanaigborting is a process designed to provide redderassurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegeinerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repagtincludes those policies and procedures thakefitain to the maintenance of records ths
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readwaassurance regarding prevention or timely detectf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could hawaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intdroontrol over financial reporting may not preventetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 3, 2014
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CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31, 201 December 31, 201,

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalel $ 169,40: $ 24,891
Marketable Securitie 133,58: 59,06
Accounts and Other Receivab 48¢ 44
Prepaid and Other Current Ass 1,715 1,10¢
Total Current Asset 305,18¢ 85,11«
Property and Equipment, N 9,97: 7,20¢
Intangible Assets, N¢ 22,82( 23,83:
Other Asset: 14¢& 424
Goodwill 8,96¢ 8,96¢
Total Assets $ 347,09' $ 125,54

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payabl $ 2,24 $ 74E
Accrued Expense 17,17¢ 10,96(
Current Portion of Lor-Term Liabilities 92¢€ 38¢€
Current Portion of Term Loa — 5,597
Total Current Liabilities 20,35( 17,68¢
Term Loan, less Current Porti —_ 5,74¢
Other Lon¢Term Liabilities 6,95( 6,33¢
Total Liabilities 27,30( 29,767

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (Notes 14 46)
Stockholders' Equity
Convertible Preferred Stock, $.01 Par Value; 3,000,
Shares Authorized; No Shares Issued and Outstaadl
December 31, 2013 and 20 — —
Common Stock, $.001 Par Value; 297,000,000 Shares
Authorized; 89,246,832 and 64,359,513 Shares IssL
and Outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012,

respectively 89 64
Additional Paic«In Capital 662,71 357,09
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Inca 2,66¢ 2,74¢
Accumulated Defici (345,679 (264,129

Total Stockholders' Equit 319,79! 95,77+

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equ $ 347,09 $ 125,54:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftimsolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHEN SIVE LOSS

CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
REVENUE:
Product Development and Licensing
Agreements $ 16C $ 14€ $ 11C
Contracts and Gran 1,617 281 36
Product Royaltie 2,33¢ 10,77¢ 9,11¢
Total Revenur 4,111 11,20: 9,26¢
OPERATING EXPENSE:
Research and Developme 67,40: 47,39¢ 32,43¢
Royalty 2,33¢ 10,77 9,11¢
General and Administrativ 14,80: 10,01¢ 9,19:
Amortization of Acquired Intangible
Assets 1,01: 1,09( 1,91:
Total Operating Expens 85,55: 69,27¢ 52,66¢
Operating Los: (81,449 (58,077 (43,399
Investment and Other Income, M 81¢ 53C 39€
Interest Expens (927) (1,576 (1,796
Net Loss $ (81,550 $ (59,129 $ (44,799
Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per Comm
Share (See Note $ (1.02) $ (1.02) $ (1.19)
Shares Used in Calculating Basic and
Diluted Net Loss per Share (See
Note 2) 79,77 57,71 39,50:!
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS:
Net Loss $ (81,55() $ (59,129 $ (44,799
Other Comprehensive Income (Los
Foreign Currency Translation
Adjustments (©)] 2 (9
Unrealized (Loss) Gain on Marketak
Securities (74) 91 (90)
Comprehensive Los $ (81,627) $ (59,030 $ (44,899

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftimsolidated financial statements.
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Balance at
December 3
2010

Shares Issued
under Stock
Option and
Employee
Stock
Purchase
Plans

Shares Issued
in
Connection
with Cantor
Agreemen

Shares Issued
in
Underwritter
Offering

Share-Based
Compensati

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustments

Unrealized
Losses on
Marketable
Securities

Net Loss

Balance at
December 3
2011

Shares Issued
under Stock
Option and
Employee
Stock
Purchase
Plans

Shares Issued
in
Connection
with Cantor
Agreemen

Shares Issued
in
Underwritter
Offering

Share-Based
Compensati

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustments

Unrealized
Gains on
Marketable
Securities

Net Loss

Balance at

CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In thousands, except share amounts)

Accumulated

Common Common Additional Other Total
Stock Stock Par Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders'
Shares Value Capital Income Deficit Equity
32,055,38 $ 32 $ 232,67¢ $ 2,751 $ (160,20) $ 75,25t
80,25 — 17:¢ — — 17z
575,00( 1 2,15¢ — — 2,15¢
11,500,00 11 33,68¢ — — 33,69t
— — 2,34; — — 2,34;
_ _ — (9) — 9
— — — (90) — (90

— — — — (44,799 (44,799

44,210,63 44 271,03 2,65: (205,001 68,72:
70,58 — 16% — — 162
8,003,291 8 40,13 — — 40,13¢
12,075,00 12 4347 — — 43,48:
— _ 2,29¢ — — 2,29¢

— — — 2 — 2

— _ — 91 91

_ _ _ — (59,129 (59,129




December 31
2012
Shares Issued
under Stock
Option and
Employee
Stock
Purchase
Plans
Shares Issued
in
Connection
with Cantor
Agreemen
Shares Issued
in
Underwritter
Offering
Share-Based
Compensati
Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustments
Unrealized
Losses on
Marketable
Securities
Net Loss
Balance at
December 3
2013

64,359,51 64 357,09 2,745 (264,12 95,77+
840,22 1 5,40z — — 5,40%
2,433,60: 2 1713 — — 17,13¢
21,613,48 22 27854 — — 278,56
— — 4,54¢ — — 4,54¢

— — — ©) — ©)

— — — (74) — (74)

— — — — (81,55() (81,55()
89,246,83 89 $ 662,71 $ 2,666 $ (345679 $ 319,79

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net Loss
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Loss t
Cash Used in Operating
Activities:
Depreciation and Amortizatic
Amortization of Intangible Asse’
Amortization and Premium of
Marketable Securitie
Realized (Gain) Loss on Sales ant
Maturities of Marketable Securiti
Gain on Sale or Disposal of Ass
Stock-Based Compensation
Expense
Non-Cash Interest Expen:
Changes in Operating Assets and
Liabilities:
Accounts and Other Receivab
Prepaid and Other Current Ass
Other Asset:
Accounts Payable and Accrued
Expense!
Other Liabilities
Net Cash Used in Operating Activiti
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Sales and Maturities of Marketable
Securities
Purchases of Marketable Securi
Acquisition of Property and
Equipment
Proceeds from Sale or Disposal of
Assets
Net Cash Used in Investing Activiti
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Net Proceeds from Stock Issuan
Proceeds from Issuance of Stock fro
Employee Benefit Plar
(Payments) Issuance of Term Lc
Payment of Convertible Subordinate
Debt
Payment of Other Liabilitie
Net Cash Provided by Financil
Activities
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on
Cash and Cash Equivalel
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and (
Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginni
of Period
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of
Period

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow
Information
Cash Paid for Intere

(In thousands)

Year Ended
December 31, 2013

Year Ended
December 31, 2012

Year Ended
December 31, 2011

$ (81,550 $ (59,129 $ (44,799
1,93: 2,047 2,24¢
1,01¢ 1,09( 1,91¢
(1,366) (660) 17

— (6) 5
(21) (79) (58
4,54¢ 2,29¢ 2,34z
97 22€ 307
(44E) 12€ 154
(70€) 33 241
27¢€ (95) 34
7,23¢ 3,76: 2,07¢
1,317 594 (139)
(67,66 (49,787 (35,65%)
38,89« 52,36( 51,00
(112,119 (69,25 (52,717
(4,219 (309) (509)
21 21¢ 68
(77,42:) (16,980) (2,155
295,69 83,78« 36,02:
5,40% — —
(11,029 (3,97)) 5,00(
— — (12,509
(472) (55) (86)
289,59 79,75¢ 28,43
(€) 2 ©
144,50! 12,99¢ (9,385
24,89 11,89¢ 21,28;
$ 169,40. $ 24,897 $ 11,89¢

$ 1,20¢ $ 1,38 $ 1,56(

The accompanying notes are an integral part otimsolidated financial statemer



62




CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(1) NATURE OF BUSINESS AND OVERVIEW

Celldex Therapeutics, Inc. (the "Company"@elldex") is a biopharmaceutical company focusedhe development and
commercialization of several immunotherapy techgiae for the treatment of cancer and other diffitodtreat diseases. The Company's lead
drug candidates include rindopepimut (also refetoegls CDX-110) and glembatumumab vedotin (alserrefl to as CDX-011). Rindopepimut
is a targeted immunotherapeutic in a pivotal Pl3asidy for the treatment of front-line glioblastieind a Phase 2 study for the treatment of
recurrent glioblastoma. Glembatumumab vedotin iargibody-drug conjugate in a randomized studyaitigmts with triple negative breast
cancer that over-express gpNMB designed to obtairlarated approval. The Company has a numberidrestage candidates in clinical
development, including varlilumab (also referrec$oCDX4127), a fully human therapeutic monoclonal antipbwda Phase 1 study for can
indications, CDX-301, an immune cell mobilizing agand dendritic cell growth factor and CDX-1401asgeted immunotherapeutic aimed af
antigen presenting cells for cancer indications.

At December 31, 2013, the Company had azgh equivalents and marketable securities of $3@8lion. The Company incurred a loss
of $81.6 million for the year ended December 31,2MNet cash used in operations for the year eBagmgmber 31, 2013 was $67.7 million.
The Company believes that the cash, cash equigaent marketable securities at December 31, 200 Bevsufficient to meet estimated
working capital requirements and fund planned ajmra for at least the next twelve months.

During the next twelve months, the Comparay take further steps to raise additional capitaheet its long-term liquidity needs. These
capital raising activities may include, but may hetlimited to, one or more of the following: theeinsing of technology programs with exist
or new collaborative partners, possible businesshimations, issuance of debt, or the issuance mihton stock or other securities via private
placements or public offerings. While the Compaagtmues to seek capital through a number of mehage can be no assurance that
additional financing will be available on acceptatdrms, if at all, and the Company's negotiatiogitfpn in capital-raising efforts may worsen
as existing resources are used. There is alsosuvaagce that the Company will be able to enterfuntther collaborative relationships.
Additional equity financings may be dilutive to tBempany's stockholders; debt financing, if avaédamay involve significant cash payment
obligations and covenants that restrict the Comisaatyility to operate as a business; and licensirgrategic collaborations may result in
royalties or other terms which reduce the Compaggtsmomic potential from products under development

(2) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentatio

The accompanying consolidated financigkestents reflect the operations of the Company &ndholly-owned subsidiary. All
intercompany balances and transactions have beeimaled in consolidation. The Company operatezi@ segment, which is the business of
development, manufacturing and commercializationayel therapeutics for human health care.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated finahsiatements in conformity with accounting prinegpgenerally accepted in the United States
America (U.S. GAAP) requires management to make
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CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(2) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Con tinued)

estimates and use assumptions that affect thetezpamounts of assets and liabilities and the alisck of contingent assets and liabilities at
the dates of the consolidated financial statemamdsthe reported amounts of revenues and expensag the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquidéstments purchased with a maturity date of 90 dajess at the date of purchase to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents consist principdiijmoney market funds and debt securities.

Marketable Securitie

The Company invests its excess cash badanaearketable securities including municipal beedurities, U.S. government agency
securities, and high-grade corporate bonds. Thepaagnclassifies all of its marketable securities@sent assets on the consolidated balance
sheets because they are available-for-sale anthbleaio fund current operations. Marketable s¢i@sriare stated at fair value with their
unrealized gains and losses included as a compohastumulated other comprehensive income (logsich is a separate component of
stockholders' equity, until such gains and lossesealized. If a decline in the fair value is ddesed other-than-temporary, based on availabl
evidence, the unrealized loss is transferred fridmrocomprehensive income (loss) to the consolitlstgtements of operations. Realized gain:s
and losses are determined on the specific ideatifin method and are included in investment andraticome, net.

Concentration of Credit Risk and of Significant @nsers and Suppliers

Financial instruments that potentially ®dbjthe Company to concentrations of credit riskprily consist of cash, cash equivalents,
marketable securities and accounts receivable Cimepany invests its cash, cash equivalents andeatadole securities in debt instruments anc
interest bearing accounts at major financial instns in excess of insured limits. The Companygates credit risk by limiting the investment
type and maturity to securities that preserve agpiaintain liquidity and have a high credit gtialiTfhe Company has not historically
experienced credit losses from its accounts rebésvand therefore has not established an allowtomagoubtful accounts.

Revenue from Glaxo represented 57%, 9690804 for the years ended December 31, 2013, 20d2@1h1 and of total Company
revenue, respectively.

The Company relies on contract manufactuoirganizations (CMO) to manufacture drug substameckdrug product for its late-stage
clinical studies of rindopepimut and glembatumunabotin as well as for future commercial suppliese Company also relies on CMOs for
supply of raw materials as well as filling, packagistorage and shipping of drug product. Thesgceli studies would be adversely affectec
a significant interruption in the supply of rindgi®ut and glembatumumab vedotin.

Fair Value Measuremen

The Company has certain assets and liglsilihat are measured at fair value in the findstéements. The Company seeks to maximize
the use of observable inputs (market data obtédioed

64




CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(2) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Con tinued)

sources independent from the Company) and to miainfie use of unobservable inputs (the Compangtstgstions about how market
participants would price assets and liabilitiesewimeasuring the fair value of its assets andlilig@isi These assets and liabilities are classifie
into one of three levels of the following fair valhierarchy as defined by U.S. GAAP:

Level 1: Observable inputs such as quotaetg in active markets for identical assets dilites. An active market for an asset or
liability is a market in which transactions for thsset or liability occur with sufficient frequenagd volume to provide pricing
information on an ongoing basis.

Level 2: Observable inputs other than Ldvptices, such as quoted prices in active mafketsimilar assets or liabilities and
guoted prices for identical assets or liabilitiegriarkets that are not active.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs based on the@any's assessment of the assumptions that npaketipants would use in pricing
the asset or liability.

Property and Equipmel

Property and equipment is stated at cadt@preciated over the estimated useful lives ®f¢tated assets using the straight-line method
Laboratory equipment and office furniture and equépt are depreciated over five years and compqtépment is depreciated over three
years. Manufacturing equipment is amortized oveesdo ten years. Leasehold improvements are axedrtver the shorter of the estima
useful life or the non-cancelable term of the edldease, including any renewals that are reaspresisured of occurring. Property and
equipment under construction is classified as ecoogbn in progress and is depreciated or amortizdy after the asset is placed in service.
Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are clamexpense whereas the costs of significant ingments which extend the life of the
underlying asset are capitalized. Upon retiremesate, the cost of assets disposed of and theededeecumulated depreciation are eliminated
and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in@oenpany's consolidated statements of operations@mgrehensive loss.

The treatment of costs to construct prgpand equipment depends on the nature of the aastshe stage of construction. Costs incurrec
in the project planning, design, construction arstdllation phases are capitalized as part of diseaf the asset. The Company stops
capitalizing these costs when the asset is suliigrdomplete and ready for its intended use. fanufacturing property and equipment, the
Company also capitalizes the cost of validatingéh&ssets for the underlying manufacturing proddss Company completes the capitaliza
of validation costs when the asset is substant@plete and ready for its intended use. Cost#gatied include incremental labor and fringe
benefits, and direct consultancy services.

Business Combinatior

The Company records the fair value of tiesideration transferred to acquire a businedsetdangible assets and identifiable intangible
assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the basheir fair values at the date of acquisitibhe Company assesses the fair value of assets
including intangible assets such as in-procesarebeand development (IPR&D), using a variety ofhods including present value models.
Each asset is measured at fair value from the petisp of a market
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CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(2) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Con tinued)

participant. The method used to estimate the fanes of IPR&D assets incorporates significant aggions regarding the estimates a market
participant would make in order to evaluate antagseluding a market participant's assumptionsarding the probability of completing

IPR&D projects, which would require obtaining regary approval for marketing of the associated draigdidate; a market participant's
estimates regarding the timing of and the expectsts to complete IPR&D projects; a market paréioifs estimates of future cash flows from
potential product sales; and the appropriate distates for a market participant. Transaction<asid restructuring costs associated with the
transaction are expensed as incurred.

In connection with the acquisition of Cue@Corporation ("CuraGen") in October 2009, the @any assumed CuraGen's $12.5 million
in 4% convertible subordinated debt due Februan20%1 (the "Convertible Subordinated Debt"). Itfeary 2011, the Company paid
$12.8 million and satisfied all the outstandingipipal and accrued interest related to the CorhlerBubordinated Debt.

Intangible Asset

IPR&D assets acquired in a business cortibiménitially are recorded at fair value and acetad for as indefinite-lived intangible assets.
These assets are maintained on the Company's watedl balance sheets until either the project tiyidg them is completed or the assets
become impaired. If a project is completed, theyag value of the related intangible asset is dimed over the remaining estimated life of
asset beginning in the period in which the proigcompleted. If a project becomes impaired obsnaoned, the carrying value of the related
intangible asset is written down to its fair valre an impairment charge is taken in the perioshith the impairment occurs.

In January 2013, the Company adopted alh&vGAAP accounting standard which amended guelapplicable to annual impairment
tests of indefinite-lived intangible assets. Theeaded guidance added an optional qualitative asssgdor determining whether an indefinite-
lived intangible asset is impaired. Prior to thisdgance, companies were required to perform ananmpairment test that included a
calculation of the fair value of the asset andmpgarison of that fair value with its carrying valliethe carrying value exceeded the fair value,
an impairment was recorded. The amended guidatmessh company the option to perform a qualitaigsessment, considering both neg:
and positive evidence, regarding the potential impent of the indefinite-lived intangible assef.bfised on the qualitative analysis, the
company determines that it is more likely thanthat the fair value of such an asset exceedsiitgiog value, the company would be
permitted to conclude that the indefinite-livedaimgible asset was not impaired without a quantgatalculation of the fair value of the asset.
Otherwise, the company would perform the quantitatialculation of the fair value and the comparigdth the carrying value. The Compan
adoption of this new standard did not have a malteffect on its operating results or financialifos.

IPR&D assets are tested for impairmentmamnual basis during the third quarter, or eafiEnpairment indicators are present. As part
of the annual impairment test of the IPR&D assstefaluly 1, 2013, the Company bypassed the optmralitative assessment and performed
a calculation of the fair value of the asset. TloenPany concluded that the IPR&D assets were nodirag.
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Intangible assets acquired in a businesthotation with a finite life are recorded at faalve and amortized over the greater of economi
consumption or on a straight-line basis over thstimated useful life.

Goodwill

The difference between the purchase prcktiae fair value of assets acquired and liabdiiesumed in a business combination is
allocated to goodwill. Goodwill is evaluated forpairment on an annual basis during the third quasteearlier if impairment indicators are
present. The Company has the option to assessajivaifactors to determine if it is more likelyatihnot that goodwill might be impaired and
whether it is necessary to perform the two-stepdgaibimpairment test required under U.S. GAAP. pegt of its annual impairment test of the
goodwill asset as of July 1, 2013, the Company bypd the optional qualitative assessment and pezfbthe two-step impairment test. The
Company concluded that the goodwill asset wasmptired.

Impairment of Lon-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverabiliiysabng-lived assets, including property and pquént, and intangible assets when
circumstances indicate that an event of impairmey have occurred. Determination of recoverabititBased on an estimate of undiscountec
future cash flows resulting from the use of theetiasd its eventual disposition. In the event shueh cash flows are not expected to be
sufficient to recover the carrying amount of theeds, the assets are written-down to their esturfaie values.

Revenue Recognitic

The Company recognizes revenue when alefollowing criteria are met: persuasive evideatan arrangement exists; delivery has
occurred or services have been rendered; the'sgiléce to the buyer is fixed or determinable; aallectability is reasonably assured.

The Company has entered into and in thedéumnay enter into biopharmaceutical product deprakent agreements with collaborative
partners for the research and development of tketapdrug products. The terms of the agreementsintdude nonrefundable signing and
licensing fees, funding for research, developmedtrmanufacturing, milestone payments and royattieany product sales derived from
collaborations. These multiple element arrangemam@nalyzed to determine whether the deliveraldashe separated or whether they must
be accounted for as a single unit of accountingctounting for these transactions, the Compamwgatés revenue to the various elements
based on their relative fair value. The fair vaddi@ revenue generating element can be based centselling prices offered by the Company
or another party for current products or the Comyfsabest estimate of a selling price for futureduets. Revenue allocated to an individual
element is recognized when all other revenue rdtiogrcriteria are met for that element.

These collaborative and other agreementsamatain milestone payments. Revenues from mihestoif they are considered substantive,
are recognized upon successful accomplishmenteafiitestones. Determining whether a milestone lissuntive involves judgment, including
an assessment of the Company's involvement in\d@olgi¢he milestones and whether the amount of gyenent is
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commensurate to the Company's performance. Iforgidered substantive, milestones are initiallyeded and recognized over the remaining
performance obligation.

Payments received to fund certain reseactiiities are recognized as revenue in the péniadhich the research activities are performed
Revenue from contracts and grants is recognizéleaservices are performed and recorded as effestpended on the contracted work and
billed to the government or the Company's contqtartner. Payments received in advance thatetaited to future performance are deferred
and recognized as revenue when the research mrajecperformed.

Product royalty revenue consists of paymeateived from licensees for a portion of salee@eds from products that utilize the
Company's licensed technologies and are recogmibed the amount of and basis for such royalty pagsere reported to the Company in
accurate and appropriate form and in accordandetivi related license agreement.

Research and Development Exper

Research and development costs, includitegnal and contract research costs, are expessedwared. Research and development
expenses consist mainly of clinical trial costsnofacturing of clinical material, toxicology anchet studies, personnel costs, depreciation,
license fees and funding of outside research.

Clinical trial expenses include expensa®eaigted with clinical research organizations (CRIe invoicing from CROs for services
rendered can lag several months. We accrue thetestvices rendered in connection with CRO ati¢igibased on our estimate of site
management, monitoring costs, and project managetosts. We maintain regular communication with GROs to gauge the reasonablenes
of our estimates. Differences between actual dinigal expenses and estimated clinical trial exges recorded have not been material and at
adjusted for in the period in which they becomewmno

Patent Cost:

Patent costs are expensed as incurrechi@@atent costs are reimbursed by the Companytiupt development and licensing partners.
Any reimbursed patent costs are recorded as prathwetiopment and licensing agreement revenueitimpany's financial statements.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company records stock-based compemsatipense for all stock-based awards made to empsognd directors based on the
estimated fair values of the stock-based awardea@g( to vest at the grant date and is adjustegciéssary, to reflect actual forfeitures.
Compensation expense for all stock-based awarespdoyees and directors is recognized using tlaggsit-line method over the term of
vesting or performance.
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The Company records stock-based compemnsexijpense for stock options granted to non-empkopased on the fair value of the stock
options which is re-measured over the vesting t@sulting in periodic adjustments to stock-basadmensation expense.

Foreign Currency Translatio

Net unrealized gains and losses resultiogn fforeign currency translation are included inestcomprehensive income (loss). At
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, accurdwéier comprehensive income includes a net uzezhtjain related to foreign currer
translation of $2.6 million. In 2011, the Comparfgeeign subsidiary voluntarily liquidated in orderconsolidate the Company's foreign
operations into Celldex Therapeutics, Inc.

Income Taxe

The Company uses the asset and liabilitshatkto account for income taxes, including theogeition of deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities for the anticipated future tax ceasiences attributable to differences between fiahstatement amounts and their respective ta
basis. Quarterly, the Company reviews its defetagdhssets for recovery. A valuation allowancestalglished when the Company believes
it is more likely than not that its deferred tasets will not be realized. Changes in valuatioovedinces from period to period are included in
the Company's tax provision in the period of change

The Company records uncertain tax positinrie financial statements only if it is moredii than not that the uncertain tax position will
be sustained upon examination by the taxing autesriThe Company records interest and penaltlagerkto uncertain tax positions in income
tax expense.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is comprised of netéoekcertain changes in stockholders' equity tteaeacluded from net loss. The Company
includes foreign currency translation adjustments$ anrealized gains and losses on marketable sesuri other comprehensive loss. The
consolidated statements of operations and compsaleeloss reflect total comprehensive loss foryhars ended December 31, 2013, 2012
2011.

In January 2013, the Company adopted auh&vGAAP accounting standard which requires thenfany to separately disclose, on a
prospective basis, the change in each componeathef comprehensive income (loss) relating to ssilwation adjustments and current pe
other comprehensive income (loss). As the new guiglaelates to presentation only, the adoptiomdichave a material impact on the
Company's results of operations or financial positi

Net Loss Per Shai

Basic net loss per common share is based tife weighted-average number of common sharesamaling during the period, excluding
restricted stock that has been issued but is rtotested. Diluted net loss per common share isdbapen the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding during the period pld&iadal weighted-average potentially dilutive commshares outstanding during the
period when the effect is dilutive. The potentialijutive common shares that
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have not been included in the net loss per comrharescalculations because the effect would have heg-dilutive are as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Stock options 5,770,54. 5,349,811 4,459,03.
Restricted stoc 6,00( 6,00( 6,00(

5,776,54. 5,355,811 4,465,03.

Recent Accounting Pronounceme

From time to time, new accounting pronoumests are issued by the Financial Accounting Staisd&oard (FASB) or other standard
setting bodies that are adopted by the Company the gpecified effective date. Unless otherwisedssed, the Company believes that the
impact of recently issued standards that are rnio¢fyective will not have a material impact on thempany's financial position or results of
operations upon adoption.

(3) COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The changes in accumulated other compréreimcome (loss) by component for the year endeddinber 31, 2013 are summarized
below. No amounts were reclassified out of accutedlather comprehensive income during the yearsdebecember 31, 2013, 2012 and
2011.

Unrealized Gain

(Loss) on
Marketable Foreign
Securities, net of tax Currency ltems Total
(In thousands)
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 15€¢ $ 2,58¢ $ 2,74t
Other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassification: (74) ©)] (77
Amounts reclassified from other comprehensive
income — — —
Net curren-period other comprehensive incol (74) (3) (77)
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 82 $ 2,58t $ 2,66¢

(4) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following tables set forth the Comparfifiancial assets subject to fair value measuré&nen

As of
December 31, 2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(In thousands)
Money market funds and cash equivale $ 148,54¢ — $ 148,54¢ —
Marketable securitie $ 133,58: — $ 133,58: —
$ 282,13( — $ 282,13( —
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(4) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

As of
December 31, 201, Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(In thousands)
Money market funds and cash equivale $ 18,68¢ $ 18,68t¢ — —
Marketable securitie $ 59,06¢ — $ 59,06: —
$ 77,75: $ 18,68¢ $ 59,06¢ —

There have been no transfers of assetahilities between the fair value measurement diaaions. The Company's financial
instruments consist mainly of cash and cash eqeivsl marketable securities, short-term accountsvable and accounts payable. The
Company values its marketable securities utilizimbependent pricing services which normally degeeurity prices from recently reported
trades for identical or similar securities, makadjustments based on significant observable tréinsac At each balance sheet date, obsen
market inputs may include trade information, brokedealer quotes, bids, offers or a combinatiothe$e data sources. Short-term accounts
receivable and accounts payable are reflecteceimticompanying consolidated financial statementestt which approximates fair value due
to the short-term nature of these instruments.

(5) MARKETABLE SECURITIES

A summary of marketable securities is shbetow:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

(In thousands)
December 31, 201
Marketable securitie
U.S. government and municipal obligatic

Maturing in one year or let $ 5553. $ 27 % (4) $ 55,55«
Maturing after one year through three
years 18,23 56 (4) 18,28¢
Total U.S. government and municipal
obligations $ 73,76¢ $ 83 $ (8) $ 73,84(
Corporate debt securitit
Maturing in one year or let $ 38,97¢ $ 9 % (9) $ 38,97¢
Maturing after one year through three
years 20,76 12 (5) 20,76¢
Total corporate debt securiti $ 59,73 $ 21 $ (14) $ 59,74:
Total marketable securiti $ 133,49¢ $ 104 $ (22) $ 133,58:
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(5) MARKETABLE SECURITIES (Continued)

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

(In thousands)
December 31, 201,
Marketable securitie
U.S. government and municipal obligatic

Maturing in one year or let $ 1556¢ $ 28 % — $ 15,59

Maturing after one year through three ye 19,79° 9¢ (1) 19,89t
Total U.S. government and municipal

obligations $ 35,36! 127 (1) $ 35,48¢
Corporate debt securitit

Maturing in one year or let $ 4 $ 17,37

$

17,35! $ 23
$
$

AR B |H

Maturing after one year through three ye 6,19: 14 (3 6,20
Total corporate debt securiti $ 23,54t 37 (7) $ 23,57¢
Total marketable securitie $ 58,90¢ 164 (8) $ 59,06

The marketable securities held by the Campeere high investment grade and there were n&etetnle securities that the Company
considered to be other-than-temporarily impairedfd3ecember 31, 2013.

(6) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Property and equipment include the follogvin

December 31, 201 December 31, 201,
(In thousands)

Laboratory Equipmer $ 3,69¢ $ 3,16¢
Manufacturing Equipmer 2,13( 2,05¢
Office Furniture and Equipme 1,38¢ 1,26¢
Leasehold Improvemen 14,49: 12,93:
Construction in Progre: 257 11E
Total Property and Equipme 21,96t 19,53(
Less Accumulated Depreciation and
Amortization (11,997 (12,32%)
$ 9,97 $ 7,20k

Depreciation and amortization expense edléd property and equipment was $1.9 million, $8ilion and $2.2 million for the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respeactivel
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Intangible assets, net of accumulated amativn, and goodwill are as follows:

December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Estimated Accumulated Accumulated
Life Cost Amortization Net Cost Amortization Net
(In thousands)
Intangible
Assets:
IPR&D Indefinite $ 11,80( $ — $ 11,80 $ 11,80C % — $ 11,80(
Amgen
Amendm  16year  14,50( (3,817 10,68t  14,50( (2,91F 11,58t
Core
Technolc 11 year 1,29¢ (964) 332 1,29¢ (84¢) 44¢
Total
Intangible
Assets $ 2759 $ (4,776 $ 22,82( $ 27,59¢ $ (3,769 $ 23,83
Goodwill Indefinite $ 8,96 $ — $ 896 $ 8,96f § — $ 8,96f

The IPR&D intangible asset was recordecdannection with the acquisition of CuraGen andtesldo the development of glembatumui
vedotin. At the date of acquisition and at Decen8igr2013, glembatumumab vedotin had not yet rehtdwhnological feasibility nor did it
have any alternative future use. Glembatumumabtiredoin a randomized, accelerated approval stogatients with triple negative breast
cancer that over-express gpNMB.

Amortization expense for intangible asseds $1.0 million, $1.1 million and $1.9 million ftre years ended December 31, 2013, 2012
and 2011, respectively. The estimated future amatitin expense of intangible assets for the yaate@dDecember 31, 2014, 2015, 2016, Z
and 2018 is $1.0 million, $1.0 million, $1.0 milip$0.9 million and $0.9 million, respectively.

(8) ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses include the following:

December 31 December 31
2013 2012
(In thousands)
Accrued Royalty and License Fe $ 25C $ 1,77¢
Accrued Payroll and Employee Bene 3,51¢ 92t
Accrued Research and Development Contract ( 11,84( 7,56¢
Accrued Professional Fe 55€ 317
Other Accrued Expens: 1,01¢ 373

$ 17,17¢ $ 10,96(
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Other long-term liabilities include the lfhing:

December 31, 201 December 31, 201,
(In thousands)

Deferred Ren $ 41¢ $ 434
Net Deferred Tax Liability related

IPR&D 4,661 4,661
Deferred Income from Sale of Tax Bene 1,63( 1,11¢
Deferred Revenu 1,16¢ —
Loan Payable — 47z
Other — 39

Total 7,87¢ 6,72¢
Less Current Portio (92¢) (38¢)
Long-Term Portior $ 6,95( $ 6,33¢

In January 2013, 2012 and 2011, the Compaesived approval from the New Jersey Economicelpment Authority and agreed to ¢
New Jersey tax benefits worth $0.8 million, $0.8iom and $0.6 million to an independent third aidr $0.8 million, $0.7 million an
$0.5 million, respectively. Under the agreemerg, Gompany must maintain a base of operations in lereey for five years or the tax bene
must be paid back on a pro-rata basis based amuthber of years completed. During the years endazkDber 31, 2013 and 2012, the
Company recorded $0.2 million and $0.1 million they income related to the sale of these tax benedspectively.

In September 2013, the Company enteredaintagreement with Rockefeller University pursuanthich the Company will perform
research and development services for Rockefdller.agreement includes an approved project plathéodevelopment services of
$4.8 million and a term of three years. The agregnmeluded an upfront payment of $1.3 million whis being recognized as revenue over
the term of the agreement. The Company will bilckefeller quarterly for actual time and direct sosicurred and record those amounts to
revenue in the quarter the services are perforifieel Company recorded $1.4 million in revenue relatethe Rockefeller agreement during
the year ended December 31, 2013.

(10) TERM LOAN

In December 2010, the Company entereddritan and security agreement with MidCap FinantiaC pursuant to which the Company
borrowed $10.0 million under a term loan from MigCn March 2011, the Company amended the loareaggat and borrowed an additional
$5.0 million from General Electric Capital Corpadaoait to increase the amount owed under the termto&15.0 million. In March 2012, the
Company amended the loan agreement to extend theitnalate from December 2013 to December 201May 2013, the Company elected
to prepay the outstanding principal under the tieran in full, pursuant to the terms of its loanegment, as amended, and paid $8.8 million ir
principal and $0.7 million in interest, prepaymant final payment fees. The Company's obligatiordeuthe loan agreement had been
collateralized by a first priority security intetés substantially all of its assets, other thaniritellectual property. In connection with the
repayment of the term loan and the terminatiorheflban agreement, those security interests
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were released. Interest expense on the term loar$@& million, $1.5 million and $1.6 million foné years ended December 31, 2013, 2012
and 2011, respectively.

(11) STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common Stock

In April 2010, the Company filed a shelfjistration statement with the Securities and Exgea@ommission to register for sale any
combination of the types of securities describethashelf registration statement up to a dollaoam of $150 million. The shelf registration
went effective on April 22, 2010. In December 20tt& Company filed a new shelf registration statemeath the Securities and Exchange
Commission to register for sale any combinatiotheftypes of securities described in the new glkeegitration statement up to a dollar amoun
of $200 million. The new shelf registration wenfieetive on January 16, 2013. In December 2013Cmpany filed a new automatic shelf
registration statement.

During the years ended December 31, 20082 2and 2011, Company issued 21,613,483, 12,07%000.1,500,000 shares of its comr
stock in underwritten public offerings resultingriet proceeds to the Company of $278.6 million,.$48illion and $33.7 million, after
deducting underwriting fees and offering expensespectively.

During the years ended December 31, 20082 2and 2011, Company issued 2,433,608, 8,003,296 25,000 shares of its common st
under our controlled equity offering sales agreeméth Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., as amended, resglth net proceeds to the Company of
$17.1 million, $40.1 million and $2.2 million, aftdeducting commission and offering expenses, isdy.

Convertible Preferred Stock

At December 31, 2013, the Company had aiztha 3,000,000 shares of preferred stock all ativhave been designated Class C
Preferred Stock including 350,000 shares which lieeen designated Series C-1 Junior Participatimgulative Preferred Stock (the "Series C
1 Preferred Stock™).

Shareholder Rights Plan

The Company's Board has adopted a ShamhRidhts Plan, as set forth in the ShareholdehtRiggreement, as amended, between the
Company and Computershare Trust Company, N.A.igil#fRAgent (the "Rights Agreement”). Pursuantie terms of the Rights Agreement,
the Board declared a dividend distribution of onef@red Stock Purchase Right (a "Right") for eaatstanding share of the Company's
common stock. Each Right, which expires in Noven#i¥r4, entitles their holder to purchase from tieen@any one ten-thousandth of a share
(a "Unit") of Series C-1 Preferred Stock at a casércise price of $35.00 per Unit, subject to adpent. The Rights will trade separately from
the common stock and will become exercisable orflgma person or group has acquired 15% or moteeadutstanding common stock or
upon the commencement by a person or group ofdetesffer that would result in such person or graoguiring 15% or more of the
outstanding common stock other than as a resuéimirchases of stock by the Company or certainvierdeint actions by a shareholder. In the
event a person or group acquires 15% or more obdbetanding common stock each holder of a Rigtagpt for any such person or group)
would be
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entitled to receive upon exercise sufficient UnitSeries C-1 Preferred Stock to equal a valuavoftimes the exercise price of the Right. In
the event the Company is acquired in a mergertm@rdiusiness combination transaction or if 50% orexf the Company's assets or earning
power is sold, each holder of a Right (except for such person or group described above) wouldveesmon exercise common stock of the
acquiring company with a value equal to two tintesexercise price of the Right.

(12) STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has the following stock-basmdmensation plans: the 2004 Employee Stock PurdPlase(the "2004 ESPP Plan"), the
2008 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the "200$1B|aCelldex Research's 2005 Equity Incentive Rtha "Celldex Research 2005 Plan”)
CuraGen 2007 Stock Plan (the "CuraGen 2007 Plah§re are no shares available for future grant uthdeCelldex Research 2005 Plan and
CuraGen 2007 Plan.

Employee Stock Purchase PI

At December 31, 2013, a total of 200,008rel of common stock are reserved for issuancer tinel@004 ESPP Plan. Under the 2004
ESPP Plan, each participating employee may purcteses of common stock through payroll deductairespurchase price equal to 85% of
the lower of the fair market value of the commaocktat either the beginning of the offering peravdhe applicable exercise date. During the
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Congrugd 11,823 and 5,935 shares under the 2004 EBRPrespectively. £
December 31, 2013, 164,124 shares were availablesiaance under the 2004 ESPP Plan.

Employee Stock Option and Incentive F

The 2008 Plan permits the granting of itisenstock options (intended to qualify as sucharrfslection 422A of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended), non-qualified stocloaptistock appreciation rights, performance shaits,uestricted stock and other awards of
restricted stock in lieu of cash bonuses to emmsyeonsultants and non-employee directors.

At December 31, 2013, the 2008 Plan allofeeé maximum of 7,400,000 shares of common stodde issued for grants of Stock
Options and other Awards made prior to March 7,82@id grants of Incentive Stock Options made gaddctober 20, 2017. The Company's
board of directors determines the term of eachoaptiption price, and number of shares for whiatheaption is granted and the rate at which
each option vests. Options generally vest overimg@ot to exceed four years. The term of eacfooptannot exceed ten years (five years for
options granted to holders of more than 10% of/iitng stock of the Company) and the exercise prfcetock options cannot be less than the
fair market value of the common stock at the déigrant (110% of fair market value for incentivedit options granted to holders of more t
10% of the voting stock of the Company). Vestinglbemployee and non-employee director stock opgivards is accelerated upon a change
in control as defined in the 2008 Plan.
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A summary of stock option activity for tiiear ended December 31, 2013 is as follows:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Exercise Remaining
Price Contractual
Shares Per Share Term (In Years)
Options Outstanding at December 31, 2 5,349,811 $§ 5.9¢ 7.C
Grantec 1,252,000 $ 16.4¢
Exercisec (816,40) $  6.5¢
Cancelec (14,86) $ 6.97
Options Outstanding at December 31, 2 5,770,54. $ 8.17 7.C
Options Vested and Expected to Vest at December 3
2013 571259 $ 8.12 7.C
Options Exercisable at December 31, 2 3,297,190 $ 6.3C 5.€
Shares Available for Grant under the 2008 | 2,102,94;

The total intrinsic value of stock optiogeercised during the years ended December 31, 2012, and 2011 was $10.0 million,
$0.2 million and $0.03 million, respectively. Theighted average grant-date fair value of stockoogtgranted during the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $10.51, $86%1.83, respectively. The total fair value otktoptions vested during the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $2idrm#$2.1 million and $2.6 million, respectively.

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock ami outstanding at December 31, 2013 was $92.&milThe aggregate intrinsic value of stock
options vested and expected to vest at Decemb&03B was $91.9 million. As of December 31, 20b&ltcompensation cost related to non-
vested employee and non-employee director stodhrgphot yet recognized was approximately $14.4ionil net of estimated forfeitures,
which is expected to be recognized as expenseaoweighted average period of 2.8 years.

Restricted Stoc

A summary of restricted stock activity unttee 2008 Plan for the year ended December 313 204s follows:

Weighted

Average

Grant Date

Fair Value

Shares (per share)
Outstanding and unvested at December 31, ! 6,000 $ 4.5(C
Granted 12,000 $  15.2(
Vested (12,000 $ 9.8t
Cancelec — —
Outstanding and unvested at December 31, ! 6,00 $ 15.2(
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Valuation and Expenses Information

Stock-based compensation expense for thesyeded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 waslescas follows:

2013 2012 2011
(In thousands)
Research and developme $ 2,640 $ 1,41 $ 1,41:
General and administratiy 1,90¢ 883 93C
Total stocl-based compensation expel $ 4548 $ 2,29¢ $ 2,347

The fair values of employee stock optioren¢ed during the years ended December 31, 2012, 20d 2011 were valued using the Black:
Scholes option-pricing model with the following aswptions:

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
Expected stock price volatilit 71-72% 70- 72% 68- 70%
Expected option terr 6.0 Years 6.0 Years 6.0 Years
Risk-free interest rat 1.2-2.1% 0.9-1.4% 1.4-2.9%
Expected dividend yiel None None None

The Company estimates expected term bas&distorical exercise patterns. The Company usdsstorical stock price volatility
consistent with the expected term of grant as #séslfor its expected volatility assumption. Trek+iree interest rate is based upon the yield ¢
U.S. Treasury securities consistent with the exggktgrm of the option. The dividend yield assumptbased on the Company's history of
zero dividend payouts and expectation that no divit$ will be paid in the foreseeable future.

(13) REVENUE

In 1997, the Company licensed its oralvibtes strain to GlaxoSmithKline plc (Glaxo) and &eassumed responsibility for all subseqt
clinical trials and all other development activitifhe Company's licensed-in the rotavirus stz vas used to develop Glaxo's Rotarix
rotavirus vaccine in 1995 and owed a license fe20é6 to Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical GantCCH) on net royalties received from
Glaxo. In May 2005, the Company entered into aeagent whereby an affiliate of Paul Royalty Fund.IP. (PRF) purchased a 70% interest
in the net royalties the Company received on woiddvsales of Rotarix. In December 2012, the Glayr@@ment expired automatically upon
the expiration of the last relevant patent rightered by the Glaxo agreement. The Company's retanterests in Rotarix net royalties which
were not sold to PRF are recorded as product royedenue and a corresponding amount that is payalCCH is recorded as royalty expel
Product royalty revenue and royalty expense relat¢de Company's retained interest in Rotarix $&8 million, $10.8 million and
$9.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2@032 and 2011, respectively.
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The Company has entered into license aggatsmwhereby the Company has received licensegtians to license technology, specified
patents or patent applications. The Company'sdiognand development collaboration agreements géyp@rovide for royalty payments eqt
to specified percentages of product sales, aniagaide maintenance fees, continuing patent prasectbsts and potential future milestone
payments to third parties upon the achievemenedéin developmental, regulatory and/or commeruiddstones. Nonrefundable license fee
expense was $0.7 million, $0.7 million and $1.4liol for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2082841, respectively.

Medarex, Inc., a subsidiary of Bris-Myers Squibb (Medarex)

The Company and Medarex have entered mesaignment and license agreement, as amendegrakales for the assignment of cert
patent and other intellectual property rights afidense to certain Medarex technology relatedéo@ompany's APC Targeting Technology™
and an anti-mannose receptor product. Under tiestef the agreement, the Company may be requirpdytagoyalties in the low-single digits
on any net product sale of a Licensed Royalty-BegAroduct or Anti-Mannose Product to Medarex uhgl later of (i) the expiration of the
last to expire applicable patent and (ii) the teathiversary of the first commercial sale of suicarised product.

The Company and Medarex have also entetediiresearch and commercialization agreemeninasded, that provides the Company
with certain rights to obtain exclusive commerdtiednses to proprietary monoclonal antibodies megainst certain antigens utilizing the
Medarex UltiMAb technology platform for generatiagtibodies until December 2015. Under the termti@fagreement, the Company may be
required to pay milestones of up to $7.0 milliomnmbtaining first approval for commercial saleifirst indication of a product containing a
licensed antibody and royalty payments in the lowntd single digits on any net product sales to ded with respect to the development of
any products containing such licensed antibodidi tine later of (i) the expiration of the lastéapire applicable patent and (ii) the tenth
anniversary of the first commercial sale of suckrised product. In September 2010, the Compangisgdran option under the agreement,
whereby it licensed from Medarex access to theMalli technology to develop and commercialize hunmdibadies to CD27, including
varlilumab.

Rockefeller University (Rockefelle

In November 2005, the Company and Rockafelhtered into a license agreement for the exausbridwide rights to human DEC-205
receptor, with the right to sublicense the techgpld he license grant is exclusive except that Réeller may use and permit other nonprofit
organizations to use the human DEC-205 receptenpaights for educational and research purpodes.Company may be required to pay
milestones of up to $3.9 million upon obtainingfiapproval for commercial sale in a first indioatof a product targeting the licensed rece
and royalty payments in the low-to-mid single digih any net product sales to Rockefeller witheespp development and commercialization
of the human DEC-205 receptor.

Duke University Brain Tumor Cancer Center (Du

In September 2006, the Company and Dulkeredtinto a license agreement that gave the Comgeagss and reference to the clinical
data generated by Duke and its collaborators ierdiat the Company to generate its own filing wifie FDA relating to rindopepimut. The
Company may be
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required to pay milestone of up to $0.7 million onpxbtaining first approval for commercial sale ifirat indication and royalty payments in
low-single digits on any net product sales to Dulkif respect to development and commercializatiorinaopepimut.

Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research (Ludw

In October 2006, the Company and Ludwigesd into an agreement for the nonexclusive right®rtain cancer tumor targets for use in
combination with the Company's APC Targeting Tedbgy. The Company may be required to pay milestariep to $1.0 million upon
obtaining first approval for commercial sale inratfindication and royalty payments in the lemrgle digits on any net product sales to Lud
with respect to development and commercializatithe technology licensed from Ludwig.

Alteris Therapeutics, Inc. (Alteri:

In October 2005, the Company completecadwiisition of the assets of Alteris, including B@FRvIII molecule. The Company may be
required to pay Alteris up to $5.0 million upon alping the first approval for commercial sale gfraduct containing EGFRVIII, including
rindopepimut.

University of Southampton, UK (Southampton)

In November 2008, the Company enteredanioense agreement with Southampton to developahuantibodies towards CD27, a
potentially important target for immunotherapy afious cancers. The Company may be required torpi@gtones of up to approximately
$1.4 million upon obtaining first approval for corarnial sale in a first indication and royalty payrteein the low-single digits on any net
product sales to Southampton with respect to deweémt and commercialization of varlilumab.

Amgen Inc. (Amget

In March 2009, the Company entered inticenkse agreement with Amgen to acquire the exausghts to CDX-301 and CD40 ligand
(CD40L). CDX-301 and CD40L are immune modulatinglecales that increase the numbers and activitynofiiine cells that control immune
responses. The Company may be required to paytomles of up to $1.0 million upon obtaining firsipapval for commercial sale in a first
indication and royalty payments in the low-singigits on any net product sales to Amgen with respedevelopment and commercialization
of the technology licensed from Amgen, including>XGB01.

Seattle Genetics, Inc. (Seattle Genetics)

In connection with the CuraGen acquisitithie, Company assumed the license agreement betwgaben and Seattle Genetics whereby
CuraGen acquired the rights to proprietary antibddyg conjugate (ADC) technology for use with ther@any's proprietary antibodies for 1
potential treatment of cancer. In February 201d,Gbompany paid $2.5 million in milestones to Sed®&éenetics as a result of the METRIC
initiation. The Company may be required to pay stdees of up to $5.0 million upon obtaining firspeoval for commercial sale in a first
indication and royalty payments
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in the mid-single digits on any net product sateSe¢attle Genetics with respect to developmentcantmercialization of the ADC technology,
including glembatumumab vedotin and CDX-014.

(15) INCOME TAXES
The components of income tax expense atalide to continuing operations consist of thediwihg:

Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011
(In thousands)

Income tax benefit (provision

Federa $ 30,96: $ 19,39 $ 16,20«
State 4,92( 4,23 3,131
Foreign — — 84
Expiration of Net Operating Losses and Research &
Development Tax Credi (12€) (1,42¢) (4117)
35,75¢ 22,20t 19,00¢
Deferred tax valuation allowan: (35,756  (22,20%) (19,009
$ — $ — $ —

A reconciliation between the amount of mpd income tax and the amount computed using tBe Statutory rate of 34% follows:

2013 2012 2011
(In thousands)

Pre-tax loss $ (81,55() $ (59,129 $ (44,799
Loss at Statutory Ratt (27,727 (20,107 (15,219
Research and Development Crel (3,26)) — (2,736
State Taxe (4,920 (4,237) (3,13)
Other 26 70¢ 661
Expiration of Net Operating Losses and Research &

Development Tax Credi 12¢€ 1,42¢ 411
Change in Valuation Allowanc 35,75¢ 22,20: 19,00¢
Income tax (benefit) provisia $ — 9 — $ —

Deferred tax assets and liabilities ar@geized based on temporary differences betweefirthecial reporting and tax basis of assets an
liabilities using future expected enacted rategaluation allowance is recorded against deferredssets if it is more likely than not that some
or all of the deferred tax assets will not be =i
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The principal components of the deferredassets and liabilities at December 31, 2013 @@ 2respectively, are as follows:

December 31 December 31
2013 2012
(In thousands)

Gross Deferred Tax Asse

Net Operating Loss Carryforwar $ 79,55¢ $ 67,72¢
Tax Credit Carryforward 25,58: 20,69:
Deferred Expense 61,37( 43,22¢
Stocl-based Compensatic 3,92¢ 3,26¢
Fixed Asset: 1,63¢ 2,15¢
Accrued Expenses and Ott 623 241
172,69' 137,30°

Gross Deferred Tax Liabilitie
Other Acquired Intangible (4,115 (4,487)
IPR&D Intangibles (4,667 (4,667)
(8,776 (9,147
Total Deferred Tax Assets and Liabiliti 163,92: 128,16!
Deferred Tax Assets Valuation Allowan (168,58 (132,820
Net Deferred Tax Asset (Liability $ (4,660 $ (4,66])

The net deferred tax liability of $4.7 ruh at December 31, 2013 and 2012 relates to thpdeary differences associated with the
IPR&D intangible assets acquired in the CuraGemu&éipn, which are not deductible for tax purposes

As of December 31, 2013, the Company heddhowing federal net operating loss ("NOL") odorwards:

. Prior to the merger of the Company and AVANT, $33ilion was generated by the Company which exptrearious dates
starting in 2023 and going through 2028;

. Prior to the merger of the Company and AVANT, $20tillion, net of expirations and utilization, wgsnerated by AVANT
which expire at various dates starting in 2018 gwidg through 2028. During the years ended, Dece®be?013 and 2012,
NOLs of $0 and $16.4 million expired, respectively;

. Following the merger of the Company and AVANT, $I3illion was generated by the combined companighvixpire at
various dates starting in 2028 and going throug#82@nd

. Prior to its acquisition by the Company, $518.3lioml was generated by CuraGen.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company haadalitional $6.0 million of federal and state npérating losses not reflected above, that ar
attributable to stock option exercises which wédlfecorded as an increase in additional paid iftalagn the consolidated balance sheet once
they are "realized" in accordance with ASC 718.
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In general, an ownership change, as defiyeBlection 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, te$um transactions increasing the
ownership of certain shareholders or public granghke stock of a corporation by more than 50 patiage points over a three-year period.
Such ownership changes can significantly limitahgunt of NOLs that may be utilized in future pdeoThe Company currently expects that
it is remote that the CuraGen NOLs may be utiliaad, as such, no related asset has been recomdgatfolosses. The Company has not
completed an analysis of losses generated by AVANWever, the Company believes it is remote that&énillion of the AVANT NOLs ma
be utilized in future periods and there may be wniml limitations on the Company's ability to uke remaining NOLs of $40.4 million.
Following the merger of the Company and AVANT, tbempany experienced changes in ownership as defipn&kction 382 in June 2009
and December 2009. Further, prior to the AVANT negrghe Company as a stand alone company expedencleange in ownership in
October 2007. As a result of the ownership chandg@dtober 2007, utilization of the Company's NOLisipto October 2007 is subject to an
annual limitation of $4.5 million on $28.3 milliaxf NOLs generated before that date. As a resuhe@bwnership changes in June 2009 and
December 2009, there is an annual limitation amo@i86.0 million on $67.7 million NOLs. Any unusednual limitation may be carried over
to later years, and the amount of the limitatiorymander certain circumstances, be subject to adprst if the fair value of the Company's net
assets are determined to be below or in exce$sedak basis of such assets at the time of the mhipechange, and such unrealized loss or
gain is recognized during the five-year periodratte ownership change.

Similar to the AVANT and CuraGen NOL cawogiards above, the Company believes that it ismmte likely than not that federal and
state research and development ("R&D") credits28f.& million and $14.4 million, respectively, wilk utilized in the future periods. Further,
the Company's ability to use the state NOLs of appnately $108.3 million and the remaining fedexatl state R&D credit carryforwards of
approximately $19.4 million and $9.3 million, respieely, may be substantially limited. These std@Ls and federal and state credits expi
various dates starting in 2016 going through 203#& Company has not yet completed a study of tbesilits to substantiate the amounts.
Until a study is completed, no amounts are beigggmted as an uncertain tax position.

Subsequent ownership changes, as definBddtion 382, could further limit the amount of operating loss carryforwards and research
and development credits that can be utilized amytmbffset future taxable income.

The Company applies the authoritative gadgaon account for and disclosure of uncertainipégome tax positions which requires the
Company to determine whether an income tax posiéfdche Company is more likely than not to be sast@é upon examination, including
resolution of any related appeals or litigationgasses, based on the technical merits of the poskor income tax positions meeting the more
likely than not threshold, the tax amount recogairethe financial statements is reduced to thgelsirbenefit that has a greater than fifty
perfect likelihood of being realized upon the ubim settlement with the relevant taxing autho#tyDecember 31, 2013 and 2012, we had no
unrecognized tax benefits. A full valuation allowarhas been provided against our deferred taxsaasdtliabilities and, if an adjustment is
required, this adjustment would be offset by amusitijient to the valuation allowance. Thus, therelsvba no impact to the consolidated
balance sheet or statement of operations if arsadgnt were required.
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Massachusetts, New Jersey and Connectiedha three states in which the Company primaxilgrates or has operated and has income
tax nexus. The Company is not currently under eration by any other jurisdictions for any tax year.

The Company has evaluated the positivenagative evidence bearing upon the realizabilititohet deferred tax assets, which are
comprised principally of net operating loss carryfards, capitalized R&D expenditures and R&D taeditr carryforwards. The Company has
determined that it is more likely than not thawill not recognize the benefits of federal andes@ferred tax assets and, as a result, a full
valuation allowance was maintained at DecembeR@13 against the Company's net deferred tax assets.

The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012svemacted on January 2, 2013 under which the fiedsmarch and development credit was
retroactively extended for amounts paid or incuaétdr December 31, 2011 through December 31, 28 effects of the change in the tax
law were recognized in the first quarter of 2018jak is the quarter in which the law was enacted.

(16) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company has facility and equipmentdsdbat expire at various dates through 2019. Deofehese facility leases contain renewal
options, early termination provisions, and provisigchat escalate the base rent payments and relei@ompany to pay common area
maintenance costs ("CAM") during the lease terne fidilowing obligations for base rent and CAM castsler facility and other non-
cancelable operating leases as of December 31,&Dh8t include the exercise of renewal terms dyearmination provisions (in thousands):

2014 $ 2,66¢
2015 2,86:
2016 2,91/
2017 1,76t
2018 501
Thereafte 167
Total minimum lease paymer $ 10,87¢

The Company's total rent and CAM expensalidacility leases was $2.7 million, $2.5 miltiand $2.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

(17) RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN

The Company maintains a 401(k) Plan whichvailable to substantially all employees. Unterterms of the 401(k) Plan, participants
may elect to contribute up to 15% of their compénsaor the statutory prescribed limits. The Companay make 50% matching
contributions on up to 4% of a participant's anraadéry. Benefit expense for the 401(k) Plan wa8 $dllion, $0.2 million and $0.2 million fi
the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2&ddeatively.
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(18) SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (Unaudited)

2013 Q12013 Q2 2013 Q32013 Q4 2013
(In thousands, except per share amount:
Total revenue $ 2414 % 97 $ 98C $ 62(
Net loss (17,339 (19,016 (23,140 (22,067)
Basic and diluted net loss per
common shar (0.29) (0.29) (0.29 (0.27)
2012 Q12012 Q2 2012 Q32012 Q4 2012
(In thousands, except per share amount:
Total revenue $ 243t $ 2,00¢ $ 3,11: $ 3,640
Net loss (13,51¢ (13,779 (15,027 (16,807
Basic and diluted net loss per
common shar (0.27) (0.23) (0.25) (0.279)
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ltem 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUN TANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

[tem 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedu

As of December 31, 2013, we evaluated, Whighparticipation of our Chief Executive OfficerdaChief Financial Officer, the effectiven:
of our disclosure controls and procedures (as ddfin Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the BiesuExchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the "Exchange Act")). Based on that evaluatiom,@nief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officconcluded that our disclosure controls
and procedures were effective at the reasonableaas= level as of December 31, 2013. Our disobosantrols and procedures are designe
provide reasonable assurance that information requo be disclosed in the reports that we filsusmit under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within timegdsrspecified by the SEC's rules and forms, artdstheh information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chiefcutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, &gpropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Ovigiancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for estahlishnd maintaining adequate internal control axerfinancial reporting. Internal control o\
financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15§idal5d-15(f) under the Exchange Act as the prodesgned by, or under the supervision of,
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial io#fr, and effected by our board of directors, managnt and other personnel, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityuofiaancial reporting and the preparation of dnahcial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfes; and includes those policies and procedinats t

. pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaasle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thengactions and dispositions of
assets;
. provide reasonable assurance that transactiengeorded as necessary to permit preparatioinarfdial statements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes; and that receipts and expenditures are baade only in accordance
with the authorizations of management and directod

. provide reasonable assurance regarding the prewentitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitinge or disposition of assi
that could have a material effect on our finanstatements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intdroontrol over financial reporting may not preventletect misstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdauces may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the parttign of our management, including our Chief Exaeu©Officer and Chief Financial Officer, v
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness ofirernal control over financial reporting basedtloa framework provided imternal
Control—Integrated Framework (199®sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission. Based on this
evaluation, our management concluded that ourriaterontrol over financial reporting was effecta® of December 31, 2013.
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The effectiveness of our internal contre¢iofinancial reporting as of December 31, 2013been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent regismiblic accounting firm, as stated in their répohich is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogtin

There were no changes in our internal obver financial reporting during the three monéimsled December 31, 2013 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely tatenally affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART IlI
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item 10IWwe included in the definitive Proxy Statement éar 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
or the 2014 Proxy Statement, under "Informationd&éding the Current Directors and Executive Officgfr€elldex Therapeutic, Inc.,"
"Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Coanpte,” "Code of Business Conduct and Ethics" arte"Board of Directors and Its
Committees" and is incorporated herein by referetiche 2014 Proxy Statement is not filed with ®EC within 120 days after the end of our
most recent fiscal year, we will provide such imfiation by means of an amendment to this Annual RepoForm 10-K.

ltem 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11wk included in the 2014 Proxy Statement undeetfitive Compensation,” and
"Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insideri€ipgtion," and is incorporated herein by referentthe 2014 Proxy Statement is not fi
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of owstrecent fiscal year, we will provide such infation by means of an amendment to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIA L OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12wk included in the 2014 Proxy Statement undectBity Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management" and "Equity Compensation IRfarmation” and is incorporated herein by refee If the 2014 Proxy Statement is
not filed with the SEC within 120 days after thel&f our most recent fiscal year, we will providels information by means of an amendmen
to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANS ACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13wk included in the 2014 Proxy Statement undée¢ton of Directors" and "Approval of
Related Person Transactions and Transactions weidtétl Persons" and is incorporated herein byeeéer. If the 2014 Proxy Statement is not
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the endbaf most recent fiscal year, we will provide surdiormation by means of an amendment to
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14wk included in the 2014 Proxy Statement undedépendent Registered Public Accounting
Firm" and is incorporated herein by referencehd&f 2014 Proxy Statement is not filed with the SEiw 120 days after the end of our most
recent fiscal year, we will provide such informatisy means of an amendment to this Annual RepoRarm 10-K.
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PART IV

Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(A)

The following documents are filed as part of thisrR 10-K:

(1) Financial Statements:

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

The Financial Statements and Supplememats are included in Part Il Item 8 of this report.

Schedules are omitted since the requiririmation is not applicable or is not present inoamts sufficient to require submission of the

schedule, or because the information requireddlsiited in the Consolidated Financial Statementdaies thereto.

3) Exhibits:
Incorporated by Reference tc
Form and Exhibit SEC
No. Description SEC File No. No. Filing Date
Plan of Acquisition, Reorganization, Arrangemenguidation or Successic
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of 8-K 2.1 10/22/07
October 19, 2007, by and among AVANT, Celldex (000-15006)
Merger Corporation, and Celldex Therapeutics,
2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 28, 8-K 2.1 5/29/09
2009, by and among Celldex Therapeutics, Inc., (000-15006)
CuraGen Corporation and Cottrell Merger Sub,
Articles of Incorporation and E-Laws
3.1 Third Restated Certificate of Incorporation S-4 3.1 7/16/98
(333-59215)
3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Third Restated S-4 3.1 7/16/98
Certificate of Incorporatio (333-59215)
3.2 Second Certificate of Amendment of Third Restated S-4 3.2 7/16/98
Certificate of Incorporatio (333-59215)
3.4 Third Certificate of Amendment of Third Restated 10-Q 3.1 5/10/02
Certificate of Incorporatio (00C-15006)
3.E Fourth Certificate of Amendment of Third Restated 8-K 3.1 3/11/08
Certificate of Incorporatio (00C-15006)
3.€ Fifth Certificate of Amendment of Third Restated 8-K 3.2 3/11/08
Certificate of Incorporatio (00C-15006)
3.7 Sixth Certificate of Amendment of Third Restated 10-Q 3.7 11/10/08
Certificate of Incorporatio (00C-15006)
3.8 Amended and Restated By-Laws as of March 14, 10-K 3.5 3/18/08
2007 (00C-15006)
Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holc
4.1 Specimen of Common Stock Certificate S-3 4.13  12/21/12
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Form and Exhibit SEC
No. Description SEC File No. No. Filing Date
4.2 Shareholder Rights Agreement dated November 5, 8-A 4.1 11/8/04
2004 (00C-15006)
4.2 Amendment No. 1 to Shareholder Rights Agreement  8-A/A 10.1  10/22/07
dated October 19, 20( (00C-15006)
4.4 Amendment No. 2 to Shareholder Rights Agreement  8-A/A 10.1 3/7/08
dated March 7, 200 (00C-15006)
4.5 Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Righ 8-A 3.1 11/8/04
a Series of Preferred Stock classifying and (000-15006)
designating the Series C-1 Junior Participating
Cumulative Preferred Sto«
Material Contract—Leases
10.1 Commercial Lease Agreement of May 1, 1996 10-Q/A 10.11  8/23/96
between the Company and Fourth Avenue Ventures (000-15006)
Limited Partnershi|
10.z Extension of Lease Agreement of May 1, 1997 10-K 10.9  3/27/02
between the Company and DIV Needham 53 LLC  (000-15006)
(successor in interest to Fourth Avenue Ventures
Limited Partnership) dated as of August 23, 2
10.2 First Amendment to Lease by and between the 10-K 10.40 3/16/06
Company and DIV Needham 53 LLC dated (000-15006)
November 29, 200
*10.4 Lease Agreement, by and between the Company and 10-Q 10.1  4/30/04
the Massachusetts Development Finance Agency, (000-15006)
dated as of December 22, 2C
10.E First Amendment to Lease between Massachusetts  10-K/A 10.6  12/23/10
Development Finance Agency and the Company (000-15006)
dated March 17, 20C
10.€ Second Amendment to Lease by and between the 10-K 10.41 3/16/06
Company and the Massachusetts Development (000-15006)
Finance Agency dated as of November 4, 2
10.7 Third Amendment to Lease between Massachusetts  10-K/A 10.7 12/23/10
Development Finance Agency and the Company (000-15006)
dated December 20, 20!
10.¢ Fifth Amendment to Lease between Massachusetts  10-K/A 10.8 12/23/10
Development Finance Agency and the Company (000-15006)
dated October 3, 20(
10.¢ Sixth Amendment to Lease between Massachusetts  10-K/A 10.9 12/23/10
Development Finance Agency and the Company (000-15006)
dated August 20, 20C
10.1C Seventh Amendment to Lease by and between the 10-Q 10.1 8/5/10
Company and the Massachusetts Development (000-15006)
Finance Agency dated as of June 22, 2
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No. Description SEC File No. No. Filing Date
10.11 Lease Agreement dated as of May 1, 2013 by and 10-Q 10.1 5/03/13



between Crown Perryville, LLC and the Compa (00C-15006)

Material Contract—License, Collaboration, Supply and Distribution Agment:

*10.12 License Agreement dated as of November 1, 2005 by S-4 10.2
and between The Rockefeller University and the (333-148291)
Company

*10.12 License Agreement dated September 1, 2006 by and  S-4 10.3
between Duke University and the Compi (333-148291)

10.1¢ Amendment to License Agreement between Duke 10-K/A 10.5
University and the Company dated April 2, 2( (00C-15006)
*10.15 License Agreement between Duke University, The 10-K/A 10.11

Johns Hopkins University and the Company dated (000-15006)
December 31, 20C

*10.1€ Amendment to License Agreement between Duke 10-K/A 10.13
University, The Johns Hopkins University and the  (000-15006)
Company dated April 2, 20(

*10.17 Assignment and License Agreement, as amended, S-4 104
dated April 6, 2004 by and among Medarex, Inc.,  (333-148291)
GenPharm International, Inc. and the Comp

*10.18 Research and Commercialization Agreement, as S-4 10.5
amended, dated as of April 6, 2004 by and among (333-148291)
Medarex, Inc., GenPharm International, Inc. and the

Company

*10.1¢ Supply Agreement dated August 18, 2006 by and S-4 10.9
between the Company and Bios (333-148291)

*10.2C Research Collaboration and Commercialization 10-K 10.45

Agreement effective October 20, 2006 between the (000-15006)
Company and the Ludwig Institute for Cancer
Researcl

*10.21 Exclusive Patent and Know-How License Agreement  10-K 10.47
dated as of November 5, 2008 between the Company000-15006)
and the University of Southampt

*10.22 License and Assignment Agreement, between 10-K/A 10.1
Amgen Inc. and the Company dated March 16, - (00C-15006)

*10.22 Collaboration Agreement dated June 18, 2004 10-K 10.27
between Seattle Genetics and Cura (00C-15006)

*10.24 Second Restated Collaboration Agreement dated 10-K 10.28

April 12, 2004 and amended October 19, 2004 (000-15006)
between Abgenix Inc. and CuraG

10.2¢ Amgen Letter Agreement, by and between CuraGen  10-K 10.29
and Amgen Fremont, Inc. dated May 2, 2! (00C-15006)
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*10.2€ Transfer and Termination Agreement, dated as of 10-K 10.30 3/12/10

April 21, 2008 by and between TopoTarget A/S and (000-15006)
CuraGer



*10.27 License Agreement between Medarex and Company 10-Q/A
dated September 17, 20 (00C-15006)

10.2¢ Master Services Agreement dated March 29, 2010 by 10-Q
and between the Company and Prologue Research (000-15006)
International, Inc. (Prologue

10.2¢ Amendment to Master Services Agreement dated 10-Q
July 6, 2011 by and between the Company and (000-15006)
Novella Clinical Inc. (formerly known as Prologt

10.3( Master Services Agreement dated May 6, 2013 by 10-Q
and between the Company and PPD (000-15006)
Development, LLC

Material Contract—Stock Purchase, Financing and Credit Agreem
10.31 Sales Agreement, dated January 6, 2011, between 8-K
Celldex Therapeutics, Inc. and Cantor (000-15006)
Fitzgerald & Co

10.32 Amendment No. 1 to Sales Agreement, dated 8-K
January 6, 2011, between Celldex Therapeutics, Inc.(000-15006)
and Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., dated September 20,
2012

Material Contract—Management Contracts and Compensatory P
1t10.3! 2008 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, as amended 8-K

and restate (00C-15006)
1t10.3¢ 2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amende 8-K

restatec (00C-15006)
110.3¢ Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, Z 8-K

by and between the Company and Anthony S. (000-15006)

Marucci
1t10.3¢ Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, Z 8-K

by and between the Company and Avery W. Ci (00C-15006)
1t10.37 Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, Z 8-K

by and between the Company and Thomas Davis  (00C-15006)
110.3¢ Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, Z 8-K

by and between the Company and Tibor Keler, P (00C-15006)
110.3¢ Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, Z 8-K

by and between the Company and Ronald A. Pepin, (000-15006)

Ph.D.
110.4C Form of Stock Option Agreement 8-K

(00C-15006)

110.4. CuraGen 2007 Stock Incentive Plan, amended and 10-K
restatec (00C-15006)

110.4: Form of Restricted Stock Award 10-K
(00C-15006)
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10.1  6/13/13

10.1  12/21/12
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10.3 12/21/12

10.4 12/21/12
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Form and Exhibit SEC

No. Description SEC File No. No. Filing Date
21.C List of Subsidiaries Filed
herewith
23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Filed
Independent Registered Public Accounting F herewith
31.1 Certification of President and Chief Executive ©dfi Filed
herewith
31.z Certification of Senior Vice President and Chief Filed
Financial Officer herewith
32 Section 1350 Certifications Furnished
herewith

+101 XBRL Instance Documer
+10z XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

+10% XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document

+104 XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document

+10t XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

+10€ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document

Confidential treatment has been requested foricgptavisions of this Exhibit pursuant to Rule 22lpromulgated under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Indicates a management contract or compenspléon contract or arrangement.
The XBRL information is being furnished and noedlifor purposes of Section 18 of the SecuritieshBrge Act of 193¢

as amended, and is not incorporated by referertoaity registration statement under the Secutetof 1933, as
amended
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, rbgistrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduty authorized.

CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.

By: /s/ ANTHONY S. MARUCCI

Date Anthony S. Marucc
March 3, 201+ President and Chief Executive Offic

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this report has beeresidny the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the datlisdted.

Signature Title Date

/sl ANTHONY S. MARUCCI

Anthony S. Marucc

/sl AVERY W. CATLIN

President, Chief Executive Officer, and
Director
(Principal Executive Officer

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial

March 3, 2014

Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer)

Avery W. Catlin March 3, 2014

/s/ LARRY ELLBERGER Director, Chairman of the Board of

March 3, 2014

Larry Ellberger Directors
/sl HERBERT J. CONRAD
Director March 3, 2014
Herbert J. Conra
/sl GEORGE O. ELSTON
Director March 3, 2014
George O. Elsto
/sl HARRY H. PENNER, JR.
Director March 3, 2014
Harry H. Penner, J
/s/ TIMOTHY M. SHANNON, M.D.
Director March 3, 2014
Timothy M. Shannon, M.C
/sl KAREN L. SHOOS
Director March 3, 2014

Karen L. Shoo:
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CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC. ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 1K YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013
TABLE OF CONTENTS
PART I
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Phase 2 Frontline Long-term Overall Survival Assessts
EMERGE: Overall Response Rate and Disease Contta D
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CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTOF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (In thousands,
except per share amounts)

CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTOF CASH FLOWS (In thousands)

CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED RANCIAL STATEMENTS

ltem 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTARNS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

PART IlI

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATGOVERNANCE

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIALMUINERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSAQONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

PART IV
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Exhibit 21.0
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Name State of Incorporation
Celldex Research Corporati Delaware
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporationdfgrence in the Registration Statements on Forn{l$s8. 333-182142, 333-189336, 333-
151728, 333-117602 and 333-162423) and on FornfN83333-192640) of Celldex Therapeutics, Inc. of geport dated March 3, 2014
relating to the financial statements and the effeoess of internal control over financial repogtimhich appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 3, 2014
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Anthony S. Marucci, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual reporfForm 10-K of Celldex Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.  Based on my knowledge, the finanstatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyin§iagr and | are responsible for establishing anéhtaming disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in the Exchange Act Rules 13:
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls@odedures, or caused such disclosure controlprrugdures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control ovealfficial reporting, or caused such internal cordxar financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thggsteant's disclosure controls and procedures aesepted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coueyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhie registrant's internal control over financggorting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regig's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the @gant's internal control over financial reportiagd

5. The registrant's other certifyin§iagr and | have disclosed, based on our most temaruation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and miad weaknesses in the design or operation of alezontrol over financial reporting whi
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg's ability to record, process, summarize apdrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not materiélat involves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registran
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 3, 2014 By: /s/ ANTHONY S. MARUCCI

Name: Anthony S. Marucc
Title:  President and Chief Executive Offic
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
[, Avery W. Catlin, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual reporfForm 10-K of Celldex Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finanstatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyin§iagr and | are responsible for establishing anéhtaming disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in the Exchange Act Rules 13:
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls@odedures, or caused such disclosure controlprrugdures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control ovealfficial reporting, or caused such internal cordxar financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thggsteant's disclosure controls and procedures aesepted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhie registrant's internal control over financggorting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regig's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the &gant's internal control over financial reportiagd

5. The registrant's other certifyin§iagr and | have disclosed, based on our most temauation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and miad weaknesses in the design or operation of alezontrol over financial reporting whi
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg's ability to record, process, summarize apdrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not materiélat involves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registran
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 3, 2014 By: /s/ AVERY W. CATLIN

Name: Avery W. Catlin
Title:  Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officel
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Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Each of the undersigned hereby certifiesspant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted aot$a Section 906 of the Sarbar@sley Aci
of 2002, in his capacity as an officer of CelldeéheTapeutics, Inc. (the "Company"), that, to hiswlealge, the Annual Report of the Company
on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 88" "Form 10-K"), fully complies with the requiments of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. §78m8u(d)) and that the information contained in stegort fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results @rapons of the Company. This written statemebeisg furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission as an exhibit to the Form 18-Kigned original of this statement has been pledito the Company and will be
retained by the Company and furnished to the Séesiand Exchange Commission or its staff uponesgu

Date: March 3, 2014 By: /s/ ANTHONY S. MARUCCI

Name: Anthony S. Marucc
Title:  President and Chief Executive Offic

Date: March 3, 2014 By: /s/ AVERY W. CATLIN

Name: Avery W. Catlin
Title:  Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officel

This certification shall be not be deemfé@d” for any purpose, nor shall it be deemedédrxrorporated by reference into any filing
under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Ac
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